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Strategic report
The Directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2021.

British Airways Ple (‘British Airways', 'BA’, ‘the airfine’ or ‘the Group’) is the UK's largest international scheduled ainfine and one of the world's
leading glebai aidines. The Group's principal place of business is London with significant presence at Heathrow, Gatwick and London City
airports. As part of 1AG, and together with joint business, codeshare and franchise partners, British Airways operates one of the most
extensive international scheduled airine networks. British Airways is a founding member of the oneworld alliance, whose member airlings
serve some 1,000 destinations in over 170 territories,

The strategic report is presented in the foliowing four sections:
*  Management review and cutlook;
+  Financial review; .
«  Principal risks and uncertainties; and
*  Direcrors’ Section 172 statement.

Management review and outlook

Overview

Total revenue: £3,693 million, down 7.7% (2020: £4,001 million)

Operating loss before exceptional items: £1,900 million {2020: £2,350 million loss)
Operating loss after exceptional items: £1,765 million {2020: £3,903 million loss}
Passangers: 10.3 million, down 16.0% (2020: 12.3 million}

Punctuality: 77% {2020: 85%)

On 27 January 2021, the UK government announced new rules for travel, where unless there was a legally permitted reasen to do so, travel
abroad for holidays and other leisure purposes was not allowed. On 7 May 2021, the Transport Secretary outlined the Government's plan
to allow internaticnal travel to re-start with a new Global Travel Taskforce traffic light system. While the ‘green’ list contained 12 countries,
Portugal was the only mainstream holiday destination to feature. Twao weeks later Portugai was then downgraded to “amber’, ’

Over the sumimer period the traffic light system was expanded to include categories such as ‘green watchlist’ and "amber pius', alongside
evolving restrictions worldwide, creating complexity and uncertainty for customers that resulted in a continued subdued demand over this
key period. .

Qur teams worked tirelessly, implermenting dynamic schedules and adapting to changing travel requirements, reacting quickly to adapt our
operation throughout the year. In August, when the Government announced it would shortly add Mexico 1o its ‘red’ list, we flew four
additional passenger flights to the country to repatriate our customers befcre the deadline. We also operated new services from London
City to Jersey and Gibraltar, and from Heathrow to Poland, Latvia and Romania. We increased LIK connectivity, adding more flights from
Belfast to Exerer, Glasgow, Leeds and Birmingham and new rautes to the Portuguese Azores. We also began to fly our A380 aircraft on
key US routes and Duba,

In June 2021, Sean Doyle joined the CEOs from all other transatiantic carriers to urge the US administration to reopen its borders to UK
citizens, however it was not until late September that the US finally announced the easing of restrictions, with reopening planned for
November. On 8 November 2021, the day restrictions on transatlantic travel were eased, we celebrated by renaring our first flight to
depart to the US the BA, with a synchronised dual runway take-off with Virgin Atlantic. It was a special moment to see our customers
reunite with laved ones when the aircraft landed at New York JFK seven hours later.

The dismantling of the traffic fight system in October, drastically reducing restrictions and the UK's red’ list, along with the reopening of
the US in November 2021 provided optimism heading into the festive season, However, later that month as 2 new variant of concern was
identified, later named Ormicron, restrictions for arrivals from six Southern African countries were announced. As Omicron spread across
the world in record numbers, BA's year ended in another challenging position.

Qur customers

BA's focus throughout 2021 has been to drive the safe easing of travel restrictions and testing policies to allow us to reunite loved cnes,
support our corporate custemers to do business once again and support our people through one of the worst crises in cur 102-year
histary. Despite the UK's world-leading vaccination programme, continued global travel restrictions and onerous testing requirements saw
our operation continue to be disrupted throughout 2021, with an average 72 per cent reduction in our schedule compared to 2019

To increase consumer confidence, we continued to offer our flexible ‘Book with Confidence’ policy, allowing a change of destination
and/or date of travel or allowing a voucher (valid until September 2023) to be requested, for customers who no langer wished to travel.
We created solutions to help our customers to travel with ease. To help with constantly changing travel and testing restrictions we
introduced a new interactive map on ba.com detailing the entry requirements of every destination we fly tc, and we became the first UK
aifine to intraduce the use a 3rd party app (VeriFLY) to check customers have the correct documentation they require to fly, granting
them access to onfine chack-in 2nd allowing them 1o avoid manual document checks at airports.



Strategic report continued

Management review and outlook continued

We're grateful to our customers for their loyalty and patience during an extraordinarily difficult period where we've had to react quickly
to adapt or change many of our processes in response to the pandemic. It's why we protected our Executive Club members’ tier status
and extended our 'Book with Confidence’ policy. We also doubled the number of reward seats on our fights. We've continued to invest
for our customers, maintaining pace on the rolf out of our new Club Suite across our long-haul fleet, partnering with Michelin-starred chef
Tom Kerridge on our Speedbird Café, and introduding an app that allows customers to order directly to their seat. After positive feedback
on the introduction of complimentary water and snacks for customers on our short-haui flights during the pandemic, we've now committed
to keep this service.

We've done averything we can to help our customers navigate travel during the crisis and worked with disinfectant brand Detto! on the
ground and in the air. Hygiene and trave} protacols were implemented acress BA to ensure the safety of our customers and address
regulatory requirements resulting from the pandemic. As testing requirements remained fluid, we offered customers the discounted
services of almost 2 dozen testing suppliers. When the Government announced the need for travellers to provide proof of 2 negative
COVID test to enter the UK, our teams moved quickly to offer access to 3 pravider offering a low-cost, rapid test that customers could
use from their hotel room.

Having ended our shart-haul operations at Gatwick in March 2020 and following discussions with trade unicns and other stakeholders, we
created a new, lower cost base subsidiary in December 2021 named BA EuroFiyer to aperate shart-haul British Airways flights at the
airport. This wili generate more than 500 new jobs and begins aperations from summer 2022,

Qur pecpfe

Qur people are our biggest assets and we're grateful for the resilience and fiexibility they showed during the pandemic. We're proud that
many of our colleagues continued to volunteer to support the NHS vaccination programme or charitable organisations while on furlough
from our business. In Qctober 2021, as we brought all of our colleagues back to work, we focused on ensuring everyone had access to the
training and tools they required to re-start their roles.

We know that as we rebuiid our business, we also need to rebuild trust with our people and we're determined to do this, by recognising
their contribution to the success of our business and creating a culture that makes them fee! valued and empowered to do the right thing
for our customers. Diversity and inclusion is one of our key pecple pricrities and forms part of our sustainability strategy, which focusses
on creating a better world by embedding sustainability across our culture, operations and ultimately customer experience.

Liguidity

Liquidity remained a key focus throughout 2021, and BA successfully raised new debt to support the operation and maintain a stiong
liquidity position, Further cpportunities to preserve the cash position were implemented, including the participation in the UK
Government's Job Retention Scheme and maintaining robust financial contrals to ensure only business critical spend was made.

In February 2021, British Airways entered into a five year term loan Export Development Guarantee Facility of £2.0 billian underwrittén
by a syndicate of banks, with 80 per cent of the principal guaranteed by UK Export Finance (UKEF). This was drawn down in 2021 in full.

In March 2021, BA signed a committed secured Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) with a syndicate of banks for $1,346 million, available for
three years, plus two consecutive one-year extension periads, at the discretion of the lenders, Any drawings under the facility would be
secured against eligible unencumbered aircraft assets and take-off and landing rights at both London Heathrow and London Gatwick
airports. The facility remains undrawn as at the date of this report.

in July 2021, BA entered into a sustainability-linked asset-financing structure, with a total of $785 million raisec to finance recent and future
aircraft deliveries.

in November 2021, BA entered into a further EL.O billion facility with UKEF and a syndicate of banks, further bolstaring liquidity. BA anly
intends to draw down on the facility if required, and as at the date of this report. the fzciiity remains undrawn.

Sustainability

In September we launched BA Better World, our new sustainability programme and gur most important journey yet We're focused on
reducing emissions and waste and positively contributing to the communities we serve, and, creating a great place for people o wark in
order to build a resilient, responsible business.

Later that month we demonstrated our decarbonisation plans by operating a carbon neutral demonstrator flight on gur BA Better World
specia liveried A320neo aircraft from Lordon Heathrow to Glasgow, which we entitfed ‘Our journey towards a Perfect Flight”. The 2071
demonstrator flight was 2 colizboration between British Airways, Airbus, NATS, bp, Glasgow Airport and Heathrow. The aircraft was 20
per cent more fuel-efficient than pravious models, powered by sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) and operated on the most optimum flight
routirg. This reduced CO2 emissions by 62 per cent compared to a simifar fl'ght more than 2 decade age.
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Management review and outlook continued

We announced a deal with bp to source sustainable aviation fuel equivalent to that needed to power all of our flights between London,
Glasgow and Edinburgh during COP26. We invested in Lanzajet to provide us with sustainable aviation fuel {SAF) from its US plant to
power our flights within the next year, and Phillips 66, based in the Nerth of England from March 2022 We also secured Government
funding for four projects we're working on to develop sustainable aviation fuel and invested in the development of hydrogen-powered
aircraft with ZeroAvia. As part of an 1AG commitment, BA will look to power 10 per cent of its fuel needs with SAF by 2030.

In 2021 we took delivery of four A320neo and two E190 aircraft. We now operate 27 A320/1neos, eight A350s and 32 B787 aircraft, all
quieter and more fuel-efficient than the aircraft they replace.

Despite the pandemic and downturn in flights, our customers and coileagues raised more than three quarters of a million pounds en our
flights through our flagship programme, Flying Start. As India battled Coronavirus, we flew two aircraft, packed full of critical care
equipment, PPE and oxygen concentratgrs to the country to provide much-needed support.

Further information on BA’s involvement in the |IAG-wide sustainatility programme is included in [AG's Annual Report and Accaunts for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Govemment Affairs

In January 2021, Sean Doyie was asked tg join the Government's Build Back Better Council in a partnership to aid the UK's economic
recovery. We have continued to engage with a number of Government departments throughout the last 12 months, providing data and
insight, which has, at times, led to positive policy change. In July, through collaboration with Heathrow and Virgin Atlantic, we provided
evidence that we could quickly and easily verify the vaccination status of travellers arriving from ‘amber’ list countries. This led to fully
vaccinated passengers entering the UK from these countries being exempted from quarantine, providing a much-needed boost to travel.

Our outliook

We are hopeful that as global vaccination numbers rise, and the effectiveness of boosters against riew variants rermains high, the onerous
testing requirements, which in the UK were largely removed from 11 February 2022, will be phased out. While we know we will face new
challenges in the coming months and years, we have made the necessary changes to our organisation to help us cope with these, and are
moving farward to rebuild our aidine, focusing on our environmentat impact, and repaying the debt that we have accumulated during the
crisis.

Non-financial informacion statement
Pursuant to the Companies Act 2006 5.414CA (7), British Airways is not required to include a non-financial information statement as a

consolidated manzgement report containing non-financial information has been included in IAG's Annual Report and Accounts for the
year ended 31 December 2021,

Financial review

The financial review provides 3 summary of the Group's financial results for the year ended 3t December 2021,

Summary financial performance

£ million 2021 2020' Better/(worse)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Total revenue 3,633 4,001 {7.7%)
Tozal expenditure on operations before exceptiona! items - (5,593) (635 11.9%
Operating foss before exceptional items . (1,300 (2,350} nm
Exceptional items 131 {1,553) nm
Operating ioss after exceptional items (1,768} (3.303) nm
Non-operating items (33%) (296} nm
Loss before tax {2,104) (4,199) : nm
Tax 456 659 nm
Loss after tax (1.648) (3,500) nm

IThe 2020 results have been restated for the weatment of administration costs 2ssoriated with the Group's defined benefit peasion schemes, Further
information is giver in note 2 : ‘
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Financial review continued

£ million ’ 2021 2020' Better/(worse}
CONTINLING OPERATIONS

Available sear kilometres {ASK) (m) 52,635 63,725 {17.4%)
Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK) (m} ’ 30,700 39,118 (21.5%)
Passenger load factor (%) 58.3 61.4 5.0%
Passenger revenue per ASK (p) 4.40 454 {3.1%)
Passenger revenue per RPK (p) 754 7.40 19%
Non-fuel costs per ASK at constant currency® (p) .05 815 (11.0%)

‘The 2020 results have been restated for the weatment of administration ¢osts associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further
information is given in note 2 ’
*Stated before exceptional items

nm = not meaningful; m = milliens; p = pence

Revenue

£ millian 2021 2020 Better/(worse)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Passenger revenue . 2,318 2894 (20.0%)
Cargo revenue 1,097 830 233%
Other revenue : 281 217 29.5%
Total revenue 3693 4,001 ({7.7%)

Overall capacity, measured by ASK, was down by 17.4 per cent for the year and the nrumber of passengers camed decreased by 16.0 per
cent to 10.3 million. Full year capacity was lawer than that of 2020 with extensive reductions across the network throughout the whole
year, while in 2020 the ¢apacity reductions rose sharply at the end of the first quarter. This translated to total revenue before excepticnal
items for the year of £3,693 million (2020: £4,001 millicn), Cargo carried, measured in cargo tonne kilometres, increased by 9.5 per cent.
In 2020 the Group adapted the Cargo businass to ensure that cargo only flights have a positive cash contribution, and as a result Cargo
revenue increased by 23.3 per cent to £1,097 million.

Operating costs before exceptional items

2021 2020'" Better/{worse)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Employee costs 1,482 w7 13.7%
Fuel, oil costs and emission charges 938 1160 19.1%
Handling, catering and other operating costs 824 857 39%
Landing fees and en route charges 373 450 18.9%
Engineering and cther aircraft costs 3n7 445 155%
Property, T and other costs 490 47 (4.0%)
Seliing cost N 138 126 (95%)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 984 1,076 8.6%
Currency differences - 7 (13} 33 nm
Total Group expenditure on operations before exceptional irems 5593 6,351 11.9%
Total Group expenditure excluding fuel before exceptional items 4655 5,191 10.3%

IThe 2020 results have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associatad with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes Further
information is given in note 2.

Employee costs before exceptional items decreased by £235 million, or 137 per cent, to £1,482 million compared o £1,717 miflion in the
prior year, largely because of the restructuring programme in 2020 which management undertock as 2 result of the impacts of COVID-19

on the industry. The reduction in employee costs included a credit of £190 million {2020: £258 million credit) relating to amounts received

from the UK Government under the COVID Job Retention Scheme which ended on 30 September 2021,

Fue!, il costs and emission charges, excluding the exceptional charge for overhedging decreased by £222 million, or 19,1 per cent, to £938
millicn compared to £1,160 miilion in the prior year, reflecting the reduced capacity. Average commodity fuel prices for the twelve months
were higher than in the same pericd last year, an average of 3376 per metric ton in 2020 compared to $587 par metrc ton in 2021
However, effective fusl pnces were lower thap in 2020, with the majority of the increased commaodity price being offset by the fuei
hedging programme. During the year the Group teok delivery of four Airbus A320neos ard two Embraer E190s, The A320n20s are nex:
generation aircraft which Benefit from improved fuel performance and reduced emissions
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Financial review continued

The favourable movement in the remaining operating cost base was largely a direct result of volume-based savings. Engineering and other
aircraft cost savings of £69 miltion, or 15.5 per cent, was driven by savings related to the retirement of B747s and fewer engine flying hours.
Landing fees and en route charges decreased in 2021 reflecting the reduced level of flying.

Exceptional items

Exceptiona! items have been recognised in respect of the impact of overhedging due to the COVID-19 related capacity reductions. This
included fuel and foreign currency overhedging included in Fue!, oil costs and emission charges of a credit of £107 million (2020: a Joss of
£837 million) and Passenger revenue of a credits of £6 million (2020: a loss of £53 million), At 31 December 2021, the Group incurred net
cash outflows of £129 million {2020: £630 million) to settle thase derivatives recognised as exceptional (refer to note 3 for more details),
Further credits in exceptionals were due to reversals of £7 million relating to impairment charges that were recognised in 2020, as a result
of deriving value through leasing a number of engines, and reversals of £11 million relating te restructuring reported in previous periods
within exceptional items.

During 2020, there was an exceptional impairment expense of £399 million related to fleet and cther assets, together with an associated
inventory impairment expense of £18 million, An exceptional expense of £226 million was also recorded in relation to the restructuring
programme. A further exceptional expense of £20 million was also recorded in respect of a fine issued on 16 QOctober 2020 in refation to
the theft of customer data at British Airways in 2018,

Nor-operating items

Non-operating items were a charge of £335 million, adverse £39 millioan from the prior year. The year on year movement included an
increase in finance costs of £160 million primarily due to higher levels of debt in 2021, and an adverse £33 millian on revaluation of finarcial
assets. The was offset by the movement in the share of post-tax profits of assaciates which for the 12 months ended 31 December 2021
was £43 millicn (2020: £144 million net loss),

Taxation

The tax credit on continuing operations for 2021 was £456 miltion (2020: £699 million), which included a tax charge of £25 million (2020:
£251 million credit] relating to exceptional items. The Group loss before tax was £2,104 million (2020 £4,155 million) including a £43
million post-tax share of associate’s net profits (2020: £144 million net fosses). After adjusting for exceptionai items and the post-tax
share of associate’s net profits, the Group's effective tax rate was 21.1 per cent (2020: 16.2 per cent), compared to the UK corporation tax
rate of 19.0 per cent (2020: 15.0 per ¢ent).

Az 31 December 2021, the Group recognised a deferred tax asset of E574 million (2G20: £401 million), driven primarily by tax losses carried
forward and the timing of tax deductions on fixed assets qualifying for capital altowances.

Capital expenditure

Tatal capital expenditure in the year amounted to £E406 million {202C: £950 millien). This included £313 million (2020: £868 million) of
fleet-related expenditure (aircraft, aircraft progress payments, spares, modifications and refurbishments). During the year the Group took
delivery of four Airbus A320neos. The two E190 Embraers delivered during the year were leased.

Liquidity

The Group's liquidity position at 31 December 2021 included £1.7 biflion of cash and cash equivalents (2020: £1.3 billion). At the end of the -
year, net debr was £8.1 billien (2020: £7.5 billion). Net debt is defined zs long-term borrowings (both current and non-current), less cash,.
cash equivalents and current interest-bearing deposits.

In February 2021, British Airways entered into a five-year term loan Export Cevelopment Guarantee Facility of £2.0 billion underwritten
by a syndicate of banks, with 80 per cent of the principal guaranteed by UK Export Finance ('UKEF'). The annual rate of interest associated
with the LIKEF loan is consistent with the prevailing market rate of interest at the time of executing the term loan. This facility was fully
drawn down in March 2021, and is due to be repaid in March 2026. In November 2021, British Airways agreed a further £1.0 billion UKEF

guaranteed five-year comsmitted credit facility. As at 31 December 2021, and as at the date of this report, BA had not drawn down on this

facility.

It March 2021, British Airways entered into a Revolving Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks. The total amount available under the
facility for British Airways is 31,346 million and will be available for a period of three years plus two one-year extension periods at the
discretion of the lenders. The facility is undrawn at the date of this report. In addition, at 31 December 2021 the Group had undrawn long-
term commtted aircraft financing facilives totalling £0.3 billion (2020: £0.5 billion).

In July 2021, 8A entered inta a sustainability linked asset-financing structure, raising a total of $785 million ta finance aircraft deliveries, As
at 31 December 202, the totai financing remaining to be drawn was $635 million.
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Financial review continued
Pensions

The Group operates two significant defined benefit pension schemes, the Airways Pension Scheme (APS') and the New Airways Pension
Scheme {'NAPS’), both of which are in the UK and are closed to new members. British Airways closed NAPS to future accrual from 31
March 2018. The main defined contribution scheme is the British Airways Pension Flan (BAPP'}, Triennial actuarial valuation discussions
are taking place for APS and NAPS, both with effective dates of 31 March 2021 and statutory dates to complete these valuations by 30
June 2022,

BA and the NAPS Trustee Board of Directors reached an equitable agreement to defer Deficit Recovery Contribution ('DRC) payments
that would have otherwise been due between October 2020 and September 2021, equating to a deferral of cash outfiows of £450 million
over thit period, BA and the NAPS Trustee ¢oncluded that the agreement is in both parties’ best interests, providing cash flow benefit to
BA in the short term while supporting the long term covenant strength that is required 1o protect NAPS' members.

As part of the agreement, signed on 19 February 2021, BA agreed to restrictions placed an dividend payments to IAG until the deferred
DRCs are repaid, which will be added to the end of the recovery plan agreed as part of the 2013.5cheme Funding Agreement. BA has also
agreed to provide a charge over its leasehoid property at its Heathrow maintenance base, ensuring that the funding status of NAPS is
protected in the event that BA is unable to repay the deferred DRCs. BA will continue to provide infermation on business and financiat
perfomance to the NAPS Trustee Directors to ensure the Trustees can continue to monitor 8A's covenant as part of their fiduciary duties
to NAPS members. .

The deferral period ended at the end of September 2021, with the terms of the 2019 Scheme Funding Agreement ('SFA") being followed
once again until @ new valuatian agreernent is signed. As a result, BA has made no further DRC payments since the end of the deferral
period under the overpayment protecticn mechanism of the SFA agreement.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The highly regulated and commercially competitive environment, together with the Dusinesses’ operational complexity, exposes BA to a
number of risks. The Group's exposure to certain risks outside of its direct contro! has continued in 2021 as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic’s unprecedented impact on the travel and aviation industry and government restrictions over travel,

BA management remains focused on mitigating its risks at all levels in the business and investing to increase resilience whilst recognising
that risk events may not be sa easily planned for and that some mitigations are more responsive in nature.

The BA Management Committee and the |IAG Head of Enterprise Risk Management review the risk heatmap twice yearly 1o ensure that
risks are appropriately evaluated, and any further actions identified. This is then reported to the BA Board to assist in the management of
risk. BA escalates risks that have an |AG group-wide impact or require IAG consideration in fine with the IAG Enterprise Risk Management
(ERM) framewaork.

The principal risks have been assessed as BA moves back into recovery of {ts operations and adapts its model accordingly. One new
principa risk on Transformation and Change has been identified as part of this exercise. It reflects the significance of the BA transformation
agenda and pace required.to deliver the plan.

Risks are grouped into four categories: strategic, business 2nd operational, financial including tax and treasury, compliance and regulatory
risks. Where there are particular circumstances that mean that the risk is more likely to materialise, those circumstances are described
below. Additionat key business respanses implemeanted by management are also set qut

The list is not intended to be exhaustive but does reflect those risks that the BA Board and BA Management Committee belisve to be the
mast hkely to have a patential material impact on the Group.

Strategic -
— —
Brand and customer trust- . :

Status BA's ability to attract and secure bookings, and generate revenue depends on customers’ perception and affinity with the BA brand
and its reputation for customer service and value. Where customers have been stranded as a result of governments' impesition of new
restrictions, BA has worked directly with its customers to ensure their safe return. BA remains focused on strengthening its customer-
centricity to ensure that BA continues ta adapt to meet changing customer expectations and needs. Customer sentiment to travel and their
expectations when they travel are intninsic to brand health. BA has implemerited alf required measures to ensure customear and employee
safety in line with governments' regulstions. The reslience and engagement of ocur people and leaders is critical to retaiming brand and
customer rust -
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategic continued

Brand and customer trust continued

Risk description

Mitigation

Erosion of the brand, through either a single event or a series
of events, may adversely impact BA's leadership position with
customers and ultimately affect future revenue and profitabiiity.

If BA is unable to meet the expectations of its customers and
does notengage effectively to maintain their emotional
attachment, then BA may face brand erosion and loss of
market share.

Failure to meet customer expectations an sustainability and BA's
impact on-stakeholders and saciety could impact the group and
its brands.

Brand initiatives have been identified with investment to enhance the
customer experience that supports the brand proposition, including
hard product investments such as the Club Suite rollout.

BA tracks and reports internally on its Net Promoter Score (NP3) to
measure customer satisfaction.

BA continued to offer the flexible ‘Book with Confidence’ policy,
allowing a change of destinaticn and/or date of travel or allowing a
voucher (valid until Septermber 2023) to be requested, for customers
who no longer wished to travel.

Hygiene and travel protocols have been implemnented across BA to
address regulatory requirements resulting from the pandemic.

Increased focus on end to end customer journey from flight search
through to arrival and baggage reclaim.

BA are investing in ba.com functionality and telephony solutions to
allow customers to contact us more effectively.

The IAG Group’s global loyalty strategy builds customer Ioyalty.

BA's Focus on sustainability and sustainable aviation including the 1AG
Climate Change strategy to meet the target of net zero carbon
emissions by 2050.

Competitive landscape

Status BA has strong global market pasitioring, leadership in strategic markets, alliances and a diverse customer base. The scale of various
gavernmentai support programmes and aviation-specific state aid measures have varied by market, thus creating differentiated outcomes
for our various competitors. The potential consequential impact to the competitive landscape is under continuous assessment.
Governmental restrictions continue to imgact access to markets, The dynamic nature of the restrictions has required significant agility
within BA’s networks to manage the impact on BA's customers and business.

BA and IAG Group continues to lobby over the negative impacts of government policies, such as increases in Air Passenger Duty (APD).

Risk description i

Mitigation

Competitor capacity growth in excess of demand growth could
materially impact rargins.

Any failure of a joint business or a joint business partner could
adversely impact BA's business operations and financial
performance.

Some of the markets in which BA operates remain regulated by
povernments, in some instances centrolling capacity and/or
restricting market entry. Changes in such restrictions may have
a negative impact on margins.

Governments’ support schemes for the aviation sector create
distortionary effects across the markets in which BA operates.

BA's Management Committee and BA Board have met regulary to
discuss strategic issues and plans throughout the year, with additional
meetings convened as required to address emerging issues.

BA's revenue management departments and systems optimise market
share and yield through pricing and inventory management activity,
Additicnal processes arid reviews have allowed daity and weekly route
analysis as required to respond to the rapidly changing environment
resulting from government actions.

BA rnaintains rigorous cost contro! and targeted investment to remain
competitive. IAG's procurement function has led an ongoing review of
all critical contracts. :

BA's Management Committee regularly reviewsthe commercial
performance of joint business agreements.

The |IAG Group's Government Affairs function, in conjunction with BA's
Corporate Affairs team, moniters government initiatives, represents
the Group's interest and farecasts likely changes to laws and
regulations. -
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategic continued

Critical third parties in the supply chain

Status The operations of BA's suppliers, including aircraft manufacturers, has increased the risk of significant business interruption, defays
or disruptions, including a lack of availability of labour to support supplier operations and/or probiems in maintaining supply. This has led to
increased costs to secure such services. Additiona!l focus has been placed on key suppliers following the removal of governments’ support
schemes ta ensure that the business and operzations are not impacted. Ongoing governments’ restrictions through 2021 have required BA
to flex operations and adjust Capacity.

BA relies on the provision of airport infrastructure and is dependent on the timely defivery of appropriate facilities.

The IAG Graup continues to challenge unreascnable levels of increases in airport charges, especially at London Heathrow.

Risk Description Mitigation

BA mitigates engine and fleet performance risks, includiny
g g T p cluding
engine  performance ofaircraft  toimprove  operational unacceptable levels of carbon emissions, to the extent possible by

efficiency and resilience and meet the commitments of the working. closely A\fvith the engine and fleet manufacturers, as wefl
Group's sustainability programme. as retaining Alexibility with existing aircraft return requirements.

BA is dependent on the timely entry of new aircraft and the

BA is particularly sensitive ta Heathrow and Gatwick ¢charges and how
infrastructure developments are prioritised at these airports. BA and’
IAG Group engages in regulatory reviews of supplier pricing such as
BA is dependent on resilience within the cperations of | the UK Civil Aviation Authority's periadic review of charges at Lendon
ATC services to ensure that its flight operations are delivered | Heathrow and London Gatwick airports.

as scheduled, ’

BA is dependent con the timely, on-budget delivery of
infrastructure changes, particularly at key airports.

The IAG Group is active at an EU policy level and in consuitations with
BA is dependent on the performance and costs of critical third- | 3irPOrts covered by the EU Airport Changes Directive,

party suppliers that provide services to our customers such 3s | BA pro-actively works with suppliers to ensure aperations are
airport operators, border control and caterers. Increases in costs | maintained and the impact to their businesses understood, with

ar whare suppiiers face ongoing financial stress | mitgations implemented where necessary.
or restructuring where they exit the market for supply of services

may impact the Group's cperations. The 1AG Group's procurement function has oversight of all cntical

contracts across the Group's businesses.
BA is dependent on the availability and producticn of alternative
fuels to meet its carbon commitments. This may require
investments in infrastructure in the markets in which BA operates.

Alternative suppliers are identified where feasible.

Economic, political and regulatory environment

Status The pandemic has resulted in governments’ measures, which led to an unprecedented impact on air travel and has also resulted in
economic Uncertainty and volatility across markets. These are being actively menitored and near-term capacity plans are refreshed
dynamically, according to the latest status as BA rebuilds its eperaticnal capabitities and schedules. There can also be no clear certainty as
to the level of demand for BA's services as restrictions are fifted. The stress of the pandemic could have further far-reaching impacts
including currency devaluations, inflation, new tax regimes on corporates and individuals as well as changes in control of governments and
naw government policies. BA has utilised the slot alleviation waivers granted by regulatory bodies in 2021,

Wider macroeconomic trends are being monitored such as tone of dialogue between the US, Russia, China and the UK which can influence
markets 2nd result in imposition of misaligned policies or tariffs. The trend of increzsed nationalism and the potential impact to BA is also
kept under review. Recent supply chain disruptions have occurred in many markets and the levef of disruption and potential impacts are
cansidered. .

Developments in relevant international relationships and air services agreements throughout the year, including the EU and the UK are
being monitored Any further macro-economic trends or potential requirements arising from Brexit are monitored by government affairs
specialists across the Group businesses.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategic continued

Economic, political and regulatory environment continued

Risk description Mitigation

The BA Board and BA's Management Committee review the financial
outlook and business performance through the monthly trading results,
financial planning process and the reforecasting process.

Economic deterioration in either a domestic market or the global
economy may have a material impact on BA's financial position,
while foreign exchange, fuel price and interest rate movements
create volatility. Reviews are used to drive BA’s financial performance through the
management of capacity, together with appropriate cost control
measures ncluding the balance between fixed and variable costs,
management of capital expenditure, and actions to improve liquidity.
Political decisions to respond to the pandemic impact economies | Eyrernal economic outicok, fuel prices and exchange rates are carefully
across all markets, causing longer-term economic stress. considered when developing strategy and plans.

IAG Government Affairs function, in cenjunction with BA's Corporate
Affairs team, monitors governments’ initiatives, represents BA'S interest
and gives BA early sight of likely changes to laws and regulations eg.
any review of slot alleviation pclicy in the UK. It also continues to
discuss with governments and industry bodies, approaches for the
implementation of consistent, customer-centric testing,

Uncertainty or failure to plan and respond to economic change
or downturn impacts the operations of BA.

Sustainable aviation

Risk Description | Mitigation

Status }AG was the first aidine group to commit to a target of net zero carbon emissions by 2050. In 202, BA committed to extend net
zero carbon emissions requirements to the Group's supply chain, with the Group Business Services (GBS) procurement functicn supporting
the Scope 3 commitment. IAG has alsc committed 1o 10% SAF usage on average across its fleet by 2030.

in July 2021, the EU announced its "Fit for 55" package of proposals. This requires an at least 55% emission reduction target set for 2030
and aims to bring the EU climate and energy legislation in ine with the 2030 goal. IAG and BA is currently modelling potentiat impacts and
costs based on the published propasals, which includes the removat of aviation jet fuel tax exemption from 2024. .

Overall aviation industry requirements will require infrastructure investments across markets (o supgort the productian of SAF to meet
demand expectations. Availability of SAF may be restricted at airports served by BA in the medium to longer term, where markets may not
have such strict eco targets or government set policy.

BA has completed the retirement of its aged fleet of Boeing 7475, the least fuel efficient aircraft in the long-hau! fleet.

1AG was an early adopter of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) guidelines for climate-related scenario analysis
and climate-specific risk assessments. |IAG continues with its assessment of climate-related risks, by testing and revising the assumptions
on updated forecasts for future business growth and the regulatory context and future carbon price. BA has also embedded forecasting of
“its climate impacts into its strategic, business and financial pfanning processes.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategic continued

Sustainable aviation continued

Risk description : Mitigation

IAG climate change strategy to meet target of net zero carbon

Increasing global concern about ¢limate change and the impact 25
emissions by 2050.

of carbon affects BA's performance as customers seek
alternative methads of transport or reduce their levels of travel. { BA {aunched the new BA Better World sustainability programme,

New taxes, the potential removal of aviation jet fuel tax providing customers the option to purchase SAF.

exemptions and increasing price of carbon offsets impact on | BA offsets 2l UK domestic fiight carbon emissions.
demand for air travel. Customers may choose to reduce the

BA signed a multi-year SAF supply agreement with Phillips 66 Limited.
amount they fly.

BA invested in SAF technology pravider and producer Lanzajet.
The aidine industry sector Js subject to increased regulatory )
requirements, driving costs and operational complexity.
Sustainable fuel mandates are implemented and demand exceeds | BA customers may choase to offset their flights for carbon ermssmns
supply or infrastructure and praduction is not available in the | or pay for sustainable fuel for their fiight or both,

markets BA sarvas.

BA/'s partnership with Velocys to praduce SAF.

The fleet replacement plan is intreducing aircraft into the fleet that are
more carbon efficient.

The appointment of EcoVadis to work with IAG GBS to better track
sustainability performance in the IAG supply chain and mitigate supply
chain-reiated sustainability risks.

Partnering with ZeroAvia to explore hydrogen-powered aircraft
technolcgy.

Participating in CORSIA, the ICAC global aviation carbon offsettmg
scheme and UK-ETS emission trading schemes.

Horizon scanning of potential partners and technology.

Business and operational

Cyber attack and data security

Status The risks from cyber threats continue as threat actors seek to exploit any weaknesses in defences particularly through social
engineering and hurnan behaviours. The regulatory regimes associated with data and infrastructure secunity are also becoming more
complex with different regulators applying different framework approaches and guidance for reporting. BA is subject to the requirements
of privacy legislation such as GDPR and the Nationa! Information Security Directive (NISD).

Investment in cyber security systerms and cantrols continue as planned, although addressing the risk is also dependent on business capacity
and the delivery of solutions to address technical obsclescence within IAG Tech. All planned investment is linked to an IAG Group-wide
matunity assessment based on a leading industry standard benchmark. Data centre migration activity to the Cloud across the IAG Group's
airlines will further help to improve the security controls environment As the JAG Group improves its security posture and maturity, it

better understands the rapid nature of potential attack vectors and how to detect thern.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

r_ T - .
Business and operational continued

| Cyber attack and data security continued

Risk description

Mitigation

BA could face financial loss, disruption or damage to brand
reputation arising from an attack on BA's systemns by ¢riminals,
foreign governments or hacktivists.

If BA does not adequately protect customer and employee data,
it could breach regulation and face penalties and loss of

The IAG Group has a Board approved cyber strategy that drives
investment and operational planning.

BA operates under the |AG cyber risk management framework.

BA's Cyber Governance Board assesses the portfolic of cyber projects
quarterly.

Customer trust The 1AG Chief Information Security Office provides assurance and

expertise arcund strategy, policy, training and security operations for
the |IAG Group.

Detection tools and monitoring are in place. The IAG security
operations centre proactively seeks to identify and respond to threats.

Changes in working practices and environments for BA's
employees and third-party suppliers could result in new
weaknassas in the cyber and data security control environment.

Threat Intelligence is used to analyse cyber risks to BA.

There is oversight of critical systems and suppliers to ensure that BA
understands the data it holds, that it is secure, and regulations are
adhered to.

BA has a Data Protection Officer in place and they coordinate activities
through the IAG Privacy Steering Group.

Warking practices are reviewed to ensure the integrity of cyber and
data security.

All third-party suppliers have confirmed their adherence to IAG
security requirements within any revised security protocols.

Security architecture team embedded into Datacentre migrations
prograrmmes.

Desktop exerdises to test business respense plans have been held.

Event causing significant network disruptian

Status The cutbreak of the pandemic in 2020 resulted in an unprecedented level of disruption to the aviation sector, as well as global
economic impacts and this remained the situation in 2021. Other potential high-impact, low-likelihood events have been considered that
could have the potential to disrupt BA and/or the aviation sector. Many of these events remain outside of the IAG Group's control such as
adverse weather, another pandemic, civil unrest or terrorist event seen in cities served by BA.

| Risk description Mitigation

Management has business continuity plans to mitigate this risk to the
extent feasible with focus on operational and financial resilience and
custemer and colleague safety and recovery.

An event causing significant network disruption or the inability to
promptly recover from short term disruptions may result in lost
revenue, customer disruption and additional costs to-the Group.
Resilience to minimise the impact of ATC airspace restrictions and

The COVID-19 pandemic is likely to continue to have an adverse ; . \ . .
strike action an the Group’s customers and operations are in place.

effect on BA where governments choose to reimpose
rastrictions to manage public health concerns, as would any
future pandemic outbreak or other material event impacting
Operations or customers’ ability to travel.

BA, aleng with other UK airlines, is engaging with the UK government
to develop a ‘variant playbcok’ that would aveid widespread travel
disruption in the event of a future COVID-19 outbreak.

| 1T systems and IT infrastructure

Status BA recognises the importance of technology and all of its digital and IT resources are managed together in 1AG Tech, reporting to
the IAG Chief Information Qfficer (CIG). BA has a Chief Digital and Information Officer (COIO) whe reprasents the business within 1AG
Tech. This has strengthened IAG Tech's focus on understanding business requirements, helping to transform BA's businesses and defiver a
digital customer experience. There is an increased focus on service delivery and services management as BA addresses its legacy
environment, Plans and investment 10 upgrade or transform away from absolete systems or architecture have been subject to ongomg
review and plans accelerated where required to meet new regulations around travel documentation.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Business and operational continued

IT systems and IT infrastructure continued

Risk descriptian Mitigation

1AG Tech works with BA to deliver digital and IT change initiatives to

The dependency on [T systems for key business and customer ’ *
enhance security and stability.

processes 15 increasing and the failure of a critical system may
cause significant disruption to the operation and |ost revenue. Robust portfolio process ta determine the right investments acress the

The level of transformational thange at pace required by BA may IAG Group.
result in disruption to operations as the legacy environment is | BA's [T Board reviews defivery timelines.

addressed. Reversion plans are developed for migrations on critical IT

Obsolescence within the IAG Tech estate could result in service | infrastructure,
outages and/or operational disruption or delays in | System controls, disaster recovery and business continuity

implementation of BA's transformation, particularly if the Group | arrangements exist to mitigate the risk of a critical system failure,

needs to defer investment to preserve cash. . i
F The 1AG Group continues to deveiop platforms such as the New

Technelogy disruptors may use tools to position themselves | Distribution Capability, changing distribution arrangements and moving
between our brands and our customers. from indirect to direct channels. ’

IAG Tech continues to create early engagement and leverages new
opportunities with start-ups and technoicgy disruptors.

Peaple, culture and employee relations

Status The resilience and engagement of our peopie and ieaders has been critical through the pandemic period to ensuring that BA is best
positicned to resume operations and adapt as needed to the uncertain external environment. As BA rapidly transforms all its cperations to
adjust for the new environment, the engagement and support of BA's employees is going to be a critical enabler. BA is focused on delivering
operational readiness and deploying resources to meet changing business demands.

B8A is focused on staff wellbeing and peaple morale and motivation, particularly as our people return to their offices and BA adapts and
implements hybrid warking. Welfare support schemes are in place te support BA's staff and initiatives to build trust and engagement
continue across BA. BA has identified the skills and capabilities that are required to manage its transformation, which include enhancing its
leadership capability and delivering on the IAG Group's diversity and inclusion plans. BA recognises the critical role that employees will piay
in its recovery and transformation, and is focusing on improving organisaticnal health and employee engagement.

Employee consultations to sUppoOrt restructuring proposals have been undertaken as required. Where possible, BA has utilised government
support schemas.

Risk description Mitigation

Ongoing information shanng, consultation and collective bargaining
with unions across BA takes place on a regular basis led by human
resgurces specialists, who have a strong skillset in industrial refations.

Any breakdowns in the bargaining process with the unienised
waorkforces may result in subsequent Strike action which may
disrupt operations and adversely affect business performance
and customer per¢eptions. Focus on recruiting and developing skills to run and transform our
business, including teadership development, talent strategy and on how
we can create a talent pipeline of future leaders and emarging talent,
particutarly with digital skillsets and attract more women and those
Our pecple are not engaged, ar they do not display the required | from more socially diverse backgrounds into fiying and engineering.

leadership behavicurs.

BA fails to attract, motivate, retain or develop our people to
deliver service, brand excellence.

. ! ) : Extensive wark has been done to deliver a broad divessity and inclusion
Critical sklll§ets are not in plac_e to execute on the reguired strategy. BA has signed the Time to Change Pledge and launched
transformation and crive the business forward. “Unmind” a2 mobile tool to provide personal support for those

if BA cannot recruit to respond to the demand envirgnment, expariencing mental health challenges.

given wider recruitment challenges across sectors of the | Engagement and crganisational health surveys have been conducted
econemy, manpower shortages may impact Opera[:onal with subsequent action plans developed.

capabilities. ; -
pabiiu IAG Code of Conduct is supported by an annual training requirement

for alt of our staff.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Business and operational continued

Safety or security incident

Group's brand, operations and financial performance.

Status The BA Safety Board continued to monitor the safety performance of BA. The safety and security of customers and employees are
fundamenta! values for BA. A failure to prevent or respond effectively to a major safety or security incident may adversely impact the

Risk description

Mitigation

A failure to prevent or respond effectively to a major safety or
security incident or intelligence may adversety impact BA's brand,
operations and financial perfermance.

BA's safety committee satisfies itself that BA has the appropriate
resources and pracedures which include compliance with Air Operator
Certificate requirements,

Incident centres respond in a structured way in the event of a safety or
security incident or intelligence.

Transformation and change

governance structure.

Status BA has established a Transformation Programme Management QOffice which has oversight of an agreed portfolio of initiatives. Many
of the programmes are multi year and all are subject 1o the ongoing review and investment approvals that include the BA Board as per the

Risk description

Mitigation

Fatlure to transform the business to effectively maintain or grow
share in the new competitive environment, fully implement ail
programmes across BA and realise the benefits of the change
initiatives to deliver BA's digital platferms and customer
praopositions,

The pace of change may expose BA to execution risk as muitiple
initiatives are delivered across processes and systems that serve
aur operations and customers.,

The impact on our pecpie of the wide-ranging change agenda if
poarly managed or uncoordinated could lead to logistical and
engagement challenges with the potential tc negatively impact
NPS, revenue and efficiency benefits.

Further standardisation, simplification and efficiencies of the JAG
Graup's platforms are not delivered.

Competitors, or new entrants, may invest to deploy digital
technologies, sustainability initiatives and/or platforms ahead of
BA.

BA’s focus an cash preservation, debt and debt repayment could
limit the investment available to deliver initiatives.

The Director of Transformation has clear aversight of ail programmaes
under the transformation agenda,

Consistent core metrics and dashboard reporting is used to assess
performance against plan.

The dashboard and progress against delivery is assessed reguiarly.
BA's transformation agenda is subject to Board approval.

BA communicates to employees on change initiatives and changes that
may affect them.

Consideration is given to the Group's sustainability commitments and
agenda for all programmes.

Any potential changes that could impact the brand are reviewed to
mitigate against brand damage.

Fimancial including Tax and Treasury _

Debt funding

Status Despite disruption in the financial markets since the spread of the pandemic, BA has proactively focused on protecting liquidity.
Adrcraft were successfully financed on long-term arrangements during the year, and additional funding arrangements were entered into in
the year, including a total of £3 biticn of credit facilities that were partially guaranteed by UKEF, of which £2 billion had been drawn as at
the date of this report. '

Risk Description Mitigations

The BA Board and BA Management Committee have reviewed BA's
financial position angd financing stratéegy on a very frequent basis
throughout the period of the pandemic.

Failure to finance ongoing operations, committed aircraft orders
and future fleet growth plans.

New financial arrangements, in addition to the repayment of
existing arrangements, and government support schemes {as
applicable) may impact plans to transform BA,

BA has maintained clear focus on protecting liquidity.

Financial and treasury-related risk

Status The financial markets were impacted by the uncertainty derived from the COWVID-1S pandemic. The approach to fuel risk

management, financial risk management, interest rate risk management, proporticns of fixed and floating debt management and financial

counterparty credit risk management and BA's exposure by geography have all been re-evaluated this year to ensure that BA responds @
the rapidly changing financial environment appropriately.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Financial including Tax and Treasury continued

Financial and treasury-related risk continued
Risk Description Mitigations

Fuel price risk is partially hedged through the purchase of oil derivatives

Failure to manage the volatility in the price of oil and petroleum | ' _ S "
in accordance with BA's risk appetite,

products.
All airlines hedge in line with the |IAG hedging policy under the IAG

Failure to manage currency risk on revenue, purchases, cash and .
g v P Treasury oversight.

borrowings in foreign currencies other than the aifine’s local
currency of stering. BA CFO, in conjunction with IAG Treasury, regularly reviews the

. ) . . . Group's fuel and currency positions.
Failure to manage the impact of interest rate changes on floating o o
finance debt and floating operating leases. Currency risk is hedged through matching inflows and outflows and

managing the surplus or shorifall through foreign exchange denvatives.
Failure to manage the financial counterparties credit exposure

arising from cash investments and derivatives trading. BA reviews routes to countries with exchange contrals to monitor

delays in the repatriation of cash and/or with the risk of material local
currency devaluation.

IAG Group has a financial counterparty credit limit allocation by airline
and by type of exposure and monitors the financial and counterparty
risk on an ongoing basis.

BA CFQ, in conjunction with IAG Treasury, regularly reviews the
financial risks and the hedged amounts.

Pensions

Status BA has twa significant employer funded defined benefit schemes, APS and NAPS. A triennial valuation of the NAPS pension scheme
is underway ang is expected to be concluded in 2022,

Risk Description Mitigatians
BA. is exposed to the risks of gperating underfunded defined | Management regularly reviews the funding status of the pension
benefit schemes, schemes and is in regular dialogue with the schemes' Trustees on

funding and investment decisians.
Adverse movements in government bond yields, long term
inflation and mortality assumptions, negative movements in
pension asset values and financial returns from these assets may
adversely affect the funding level of the scheme.

Compliance and regulatory

Non-compliance with key reguiation and laws

Status BA has maintained its focus on compliance with key regulations and mandatory training programmes have continued throughout the
ear,

Risk Description Mitigations

BA has clear frameworks in place including comprehensive policies

BA is exposed to the risk of individual employees’ or groups of ) >
designed to ensure compliance.

employees’ inappropriate and/or unethical behaviour resulting in
reputational damage, fines or losses to the Group. There are mandatory training programmes in place to educate
employees as required for their roles in these matters.

Compliance professionals specialising in competition law and anti-
bribery tegislation support and advise BA.

1AG Code of Conduct framewaork and mandatory training is in place for
all Group businesses.

A Data Protection Officer is in place.

Section 172 statement

During 2G21, the Board and designated subcommittees acted in a way, they consider, in good faith, would most likely promote the success
of British Airways for the benefit of its members as a whole, based on information available to them at the time. The following disclosure
describes how the Directors have had regard to the matters set cut in section 172(1) (3) to () and forms the Directors’ statement required
under section 4314CZA of the Companies Act 2006.

Stakeholders

The directors consider that the following groups are the Company's key stakeholders. The Board seeks to understand the interests of the
stakeholder groups so that they may be properly considered in the decision making process. This is dane through direct engagement,
receiving reports and updates from members of managemen: and inclusion of relevart stakerolder interests in noard presentations and
papers as appropnate.
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Section 172 statement continued

Directors engaged and
what was the impact of
the engagement?

Customers

Why it is important to | Customers are central to the success of BA and engagement enables the Company to understand and drive the

engage and what ; product and service initiatives that will deliver the greatest value to the customer.

matters to them?
If the airfine is unable to meet the expectations of customers and does not engage effectively 1o maintain their
ermotional attachment to the brand, then the brand will be eroded and market share lost.
Brizish Ainways provides a loyalty scheme to customers through the acquisition of Avios points from IAG Loyaity
which are then issued to Executive Club members as part of the ticket. Customers value the Tier benefits
associated with the loyalty scheme, for example access to lounges and the ease of redeeming the points.
Customaers continue to value safety, reliability, value for money and a seamless and unique customer experence
throughout their journay from booking to arrival at their destination. There is a growing trend in ethical and
sustainability concerns being a3 factor in consumer choices.

How management | The Board and Management Committee receive regular updates regarding customer relationships, development

and/or Directors | and engagement, including results of customer feedback surveys, net promoter scare [NPS) and complaints data.

engaged and what was

the impact of the | Customer feedback is analysed and used to drive product and service initiatives that deliver the greatest value

engagement? for the customer.
As a result of the COVID-1g pandemic, BA offered greater booking flexibility to customers. It also reviewed and
made changes to its customer experience in light of COVID-19 including its cleaning programme For aircraft, its
onboard catering propaosition and providing clear guidance en any new procedures. .
The strategic report on pages 2 1¢ 3 describes the investment in customer experience that the Group has
delivered during 2021

| Workforce _

Why it is impartant to | The Group's long-term succass is predicated on the commitment of the workfarce to the airline's purpase and

engage and  what | demonstrating British Airways' vaiues on a daily basis. To be able to compete in a challenging commercial aviation

matters to them? environment, the workforce needs to be adaptive and have a constantly evelving skill base.
Engagement with the workforce is essential to ensure the Group fosters an environment that the warkforce is
motivated to work in and that best supports their wellbeing.

How management | The section of the Directors' report on page 23 explain how the Company engages with the warkfarce.

and/or During the year, the Executive Directors visited areas across the business to meet with colleagues and gam

insight into the challenges faced by colleagues on a day to day basis.

Colleagues are provided infarmation that is of concern o them, including industry, business and financiai
performance updates on the Company intranet, the CEQ's viog and via email and are encouraged to share their

-views on all matters with senior management,

In November 2021 British Ajrways asked colleagues to take part in a confidential, independent survey;
RealityCheck, to understand what matters to the workferce. The insight will help build on the culture of British
Alrways and create a benchmark 1o build future activity upon.

Given the significant impact of COVID-19 on the Company, 8ntish Airways centinued to make use of the
Government furlough scheme in 2021, to avoid, reduce or mitigate redundancies that would otherwise hive been
required. Resources are available 1o colieagues to support mental health and positive weltbeing which has been
partic:u!arly important throughout the pandemic with colleagues on furlough and working from home.

Once the furlough scheme ended, British Airways welcomed back colleagues despite there being more
colleagues than were required to meet the operational requirement,
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Section 172 statement continued

Suppliers
Why it is important 1o | The Group's suppliers are fundamental to ensuring that the airfine meets the high standards of conduct that
engage  and what | customers and other key stakeholders expect. Suppliers are an extension of the airdine, sometimes representing
matters to them? the brand and enabling the Group ta run uninterrupted operations. Key suppliers incluge aircraft manufacturers,
fuel supgliers and worldwide airports,
Suppliers value operational stability ensuring predictable demand, transparency and integrity at all times in ail
business dealings and timely settlement avoiding liquidity challenges.
How management | There i3 active suppfier management inciuding contingency planming. IAG GBS provides a centralised
and/or Directors | procurement function for the IAG Group and manages supplier engagement. The IAG Group Supplier Code of
engaged and what was | Conduct sets out the standards to which suppliers engaging with BA must comply,
the impact of the
engagement? The Board receives updates regarding material developments in key supplier relationships, including updates
through internal audit and risk management
The impact of COVID-19 required capacity adjustments, including fleet adjustments and new operating
procedures to recommertce flying The Group has pro-actively worked with sugpliers ta ensure operations are
maintained and the impact to their business is understood, with mitigations implemented where necessary.
Investors
Why it is important to | Continued access ta capital is of vital importance to the long-term success of British Airways. The key investors
engage and  what | of British Airways are its parent company, IAG, and lenders that finance the acquisition of aircraft
matters to them?
Lenders value repayment commitments being met on time.
For 1AG, return on invested capital, operating margins and free cash generated are important as value is created
by generating strong and sustainable results that translate into dividends and share price appreciation. |n addition |
tc these financial measures, operating within the Graup's policies and maintaining and enhancing brand and
| reputation are also imporant
L
How management | The CEQ is a member of the |AG Management Committee and attends weekly meetings for regular engagement
and/or Directors | with |1AG management as well as the monthly 1AG Management Committee meetings where the Group's
engaged and what was | operational and financial performance, strategic plans, risks and apportunities are reviewed. Challenges are raised
the impact of the | and addressed by management ahead of approval.
engagement?

The British Airways Management Committes provides regular pperational and Financial performance
communications, such as quarterly trading results, to 1AG. :

The CFO attends manthiy IAG operating campany CFO meetings with the IAG Greup CFO and CFOs from the
other Operating companies within the IAG Group. The CFO attends meetings with credit ratings agencies.

In 2023, British Airways agreed certain restrictions on dividends with the UKEF as part of the £2 bilkon loan
described on page 2 2nd with NAPS on the deferral of contnbutions described on page 7. BA fiaised with IAG to
obtain its support in relation to these commitments.

Why it is important 10
engage and what
matters to them?

Communities and environment

The communities in which the airline operates requize British Airways to operate in a sociaily responsible manner
and protect the environment,

Sustainability is crucial, and communities expect the Group to provide means to minimise the effect of fying on
the envirgnment from reduced noise levels, waste management and reducing or offsetting carbon emissions.
Communities expect the airine ta mivimise the negative effects of globalisation, for example employing ethically
responsible supply chains and preventing illegal giobal trafficking. J
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Section 172 statement continued

Communities and environment continued

How management | The Group continues to support charitable giving, through Flying Start and working closely with non-profit
andfor Directors | erganisations delivering change. ’

engaged and what was

the impact of the | The Group's culture and commitment to corporate responsibility continues to grow. Tackling the effect of
engagement? aviation on the climate requires a multi-faceted response and British Airways is committed to this. Sustainability

is embedded into the Group's business plans that are reviewed and approved by the Board and IAG. The Board
Sustainability Commitiee sets and approves BA's corparate responsibifity strategy and monitors progress on key
initiatives.

British Airways is contributing to IAG's commitment to achieving net zero COz emissions by 2050.

In 2021 British Airways launched a new BA Better World sustainability programme and announced a new
collaboration with bp to source sustainable aviaticn fuel in respect of all its flights between Landon, Glasgow and
Edinburgh during the UK COP26 confarence, providing a lifecycle carbon reduction of up to 80% compared to
the traditional jet fuel it replaces.

The strategic report on page 3 provides more information on BA Better World,

Pension Trustees

Why it is important to

As described in note 27 of the annual report and accounts the Group has twa main funded pension schemes,

engage and  what | APS and NAPS which a significant number of current and former employees are members of. The Pension

matters to them? Trustees are concerned with the Group's covenant and the funding levels and deficit recovery plans of the
defined benefit schemes, 1o ensure the schemes are able to meet their obligations in the future and the financial
stability of the Group.

How management | Senior management form part of the Trustee board. Additional management representatives atiend Trustee

and/or Directors | investment strategy meetings. Senior rmanagement met with the Trustee board duning the year to discuss the

engaged and what was | Group's financial performance and updated forecasts.

the impact of the

engagement? The Beard considers the impact on the schemes when making business decisicns in accerdance with the Pension

Schemes Act 2021.

BA and the NAPS Pension Trustee Directors agreed to a deferral of the funding commitments, with further
details in the strategic report on page 7.

BA and the APS and NAPS Trustess have been liaising in relation to the 2021 triennial valuation,

Principal decisions

Principal decisions are those that are material to the Group and significant to any of the key stakehclder groups. In making the principal
decisions outlined in the saction 172 statement, the Board considered the outcome from its stakeholder engagement as well as the need
to maintain 2 reputation for high standards of business conduct and the need to act fairly between the members of the Company. The
principal decisions taken during the year were a result of the material impact that COVID-19 had on the Company. Principal decisicns
taken during the year include: :

NAPS funding commitments

BA reached an agreement with the NAPS Trustee Board of Directors to defer twelve months of Deficit Recovery Contribution payments,
equating to a deferral of cash outflows of £450 million cver that period.

UK Export Finance (UKEF) Facility
In December 2020 BA had received commitments for a S-year Export Development Guarantee term-loan of £2.0 billion underwritten by
2 syndicate of banks, partially guaranteed by UKEF. British Airways reached final agreement with UKEF and the lenders to drawdown the

facility before the end of February 2021, and the facility was drawn down in fuli on 1 March 2021,

In November 2021 British Airways agreed £1.0 billion UK Export Finance guarantzed S-year committed credit facility, British Airways
intends to draw down cnly if and when required, and as at the date of this report the facility remains undrawn.



Strategic report continued

Section 172 statement continued
Revolving Credit Facility (RCF)

tn March 2021 BA entared into a $1.3 billion multi-borrower secured 3-year Revolving Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks. The facility
is available to BA with a separate borrower limit within the overail facility.

Further detail on the zctions taken throughout the year to enhance the liquidity of the Group is provided in the strategic report In
approving these actichs, the Board had regard to the interests of stakeholders, including investors, pension trustees and the long-term
success of the Company,

Garwick

The Board approved the establishment of a new subsidiary airfine, BA EuroFlyer, to serve short-haul routes at Gatwick. In approving this

proposal, the Board had regard to stakeholders' interests, including the customer proposition, industrial refations, suppliers, carbon
emissions and the leng-term success of the Company. The subsidiary will be subject to the Greup's poiicies.

The strategic report is appm\}ed by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

AL

Sean Doyle Rebecca Napier
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer .
2 March 2022 2 March 2022




Directors’ report

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Business review
A review of the Group's business, future developments and principal risks is detailed further on pages 2 to 15 of the strategic report

The Group flies to a number of destinations around the world. In addition to the overseas branches established in many of these countries,
there are alse branches in countries to which BA does not fly. A full list of destinations can be found on the website www.ba.cam.

Results and dividends
The pre-exceptional operating loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to £1,900 million {2020: £2,350 million loss). The
operating loss for the year ended 3! December 2021 was £1,768 million {2020: £3,303 millian loss).

The Board has decided not to recommend the payment cf any dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Enil),

Going concern

Based on the extensive modelling the Group has undertaken in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, including considering plausible but severe
downside scenarios, the Directors have a regsonable expectation that the Group has sufficient liquidity for the going concern assessment
period to 30 June 2023 and accordingly the Directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

There are a numnber of significant factors related to the status and impact of COVID-13 worldwide that are outside of the control of the
Group, These include the emergence of new variants of the virus and potential resurgence of existing strains of the virus; the speed at
which vaccines are deployed worldwide; the efficacy of those vaccines; the availability of medicines tc combat the impact of the virus and
the restrictions imposed by national governments in respect of the freedom-of movement and travel, Due to the uncertainty that these
factors create, the Directors are not able to provide certainty that there could not be mere severe downside scenarios than those that
fiave been considered in the modefling, including the sensitivities the Group has considered in refation to factors such as the impact on
yield, capacity oparated, cost mitigations achieved and the availability of aircraft financing to offset capital expenditure. In the event that
such a scenario were to occur, the Group may need to secure sufficient additional funding over and above that which is contractuaily
committed as at 2 March 2022,

The Group has been successful in raising financing since the outbreak of COVID-19, having financed all aircraft deliveries in 2020 and 2021
and secured an additicnal £2.0 billion of nan-aircraft related debt. The Group has negotiated and executed £2.0 billion of general facilities
during 2021; these facilities were undrawn as at 2 March 2022 and would be available over the going concemn period. However, the Group
cannot provide certainty that it will be able to secure additional funding, if required, in the event that 2 more severe downside scenario
than thase it has considered were to occur and accordingly this represents a material uncertainty that could cast doubts upon the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Refer to note 2 of the consalidated finangial statements for further information,

Events after the balance sheet date
Mo significant events have taken place post the balance sheet date.

Directars
The Directors whao served during the year and since the year end are as follows:

- Alex Cruz (resigned 31 March 2021)
Sean Doyle
Alison Reed
Rebecca Napler
Gavin Patterson {resigned on 9@ March 2021)
Julia Simpson (resigned on 27 May 2021)
Lynne Embleton
Alison Brittain {appointed 1 September 2021)
Carolina Martinoli (appointed 27 May 2021)

Company Secretary
Andrew Fleming

Directors’ and Officers’ lability insurance and indamnities
IAG purchases insurance against Directors' and Officers’ liability covering the 1AG Group, as permitted by the Companies Act 2006, for
the benefit of the Directors and Officers.

The Company has granted rolling indemnnities to the Directers and the Secretary, uncapped in amount but subject to applicable law, in
relation to certain losses and #abilities which they may incur in the course of acting as Officers of companies within the Greup. These
indemnities also set out the terms on which the Company may, in its discretion, advance defence costs. The indemnities were in force
during the whole of the financial year or from the date of appeintment in respect of Officers who joined during 2020 and remain in force.

20



Directors’ report centinued

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance and indemnities continued

The Company has granted qualifying pension scheme indemnities in the form permitted by the Companies Act 2006 to the Directors of
four companies, British Airways Pension Trustees Limited, British Airways Pension Trustees {No 2) Limited, Airways Pension Scheme
Trustee Limited and New Airways Pension Scheme Trustee Limited, that act as trustees of the Company's UK pension schemes. These
indemnities were in force throughout the last financial year or from the date of appointment in respect of Officers who joined during 2021
and remain in force.

Corporate Governance

Effective corporate governance is a key requirement for the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2021, under The Companies
(Miscellanecus Reporting) Regulations 2018, British Airways has applied the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private
Companies (the "Wates Principles”) as its framework for disclosure regarding its corporate governance arrangements.

Principle | — Purpase and leadership
BA's purpose is to connect Britain with the world, and the world with Britain. This is supported by the Company's business plan, which is
refreshed and reviewed annually by the Board.

The IAG Group Code of Conduct outlines the key behaviours expected of all employees and provides guidance on how ta identify and
repart concerns. The Code outlines the IAG commitment to placing integrity at the core of all our business activities and applies to all
employees and Directors of BA and the other operating companies within IAG.

During the year, the Board and Management Committee have been focused on taking the necessary steps to get BA through the COVID-
15 crisis and ensuring the Company is in fit shape to compete in the long term. Further detail on the activity during the year is included in
the management review and outlook section on pages 2 to 5 of the strategic report.

Principle 2 - Board compasition

In 2021 the Board comprised of two Executive Directors {the CEO and the CFQ) and four Non-Executive Directors, Two of the Non-
Executive Directors have other executive roles within IAG and two are external to IAG. The roles of Chairman and CEQ were combined
and it is considered that the two appointed external Non-Executive Directors provide appropriate challenge and scrutiny to the Board's
decision making process. Significant financiaf decisicns must be approved by the IAG Management Committee and the IAG Board. In
accordance with the Articles of Asscciaticon, the CEQ is appointed by the shareholders. The Board comprises five female Directors and
one mate Director, and there is a diverse range of experience and skills to enable the Board to effectively fulfil its responsibilities. In
accordance with the obligations for appointments and succession set out in the Articles of Association, the majority of members of the
Board are United Kingdom nationals. The Directors have equal voting rights.

The Board is collectively respansible for the management and effective oversight of the Company's business. The Chairman leads the
Board and is responsible For ensuring the overall effectiveness of the Board and to ensure that Directors have access to information in
order to inform Board decision making. Some of the duties of the Board are executed partially through committees. There are three Board
Committees; the Board Safety Review Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Sustainability Committee, Membership of each
committee is drawn from both the Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors and includes non-Director attendees.

In order to inform the Board of the operations and performance of the business, the Board has access to members of senior management
who regularly attend Board meetings. All Directors have access to professional advice and services of the Company Secretary. Directors
update their skills, knowledge and familiarity of the business by meeting with employees and by attending appropriate external seminars
and training courses. There is an induction programme for all new Directors which provides access to all parts of the business.

Principle 3 - Director responsibilities .

Whilst the Board maintains effective oversight of the Company's business and has ultimate responsibility for major policy and financial
expenditure issues, some key decisions are made by members of the Board, committees and senior management with the appropriate -
knowledge and experience. Company policies on governance, decision making and delegation ensure that every decision is taken with the
right safeguards in place and is underpinned by appropriate considerations and processes. At the IAG level, further aversight and direction
is provided by the IAG Board, IAG Management Committee and the IAG Audit and Compliance Committee. IAG carries out detailed risk
management reviews under the IAG risk management framework,

The Beard delegates authority for day-to-day management of the Company to the Management Committee which meets weekly and is

chaired by the CEQ and whose membership incluces the CFO and leaders of each business area. The Management Committee is

responsible for consicering and recommending 1o the Board the BA Group's business plans, financial plans, strategic matters, major projects’
and programmes (including acquisitions, disposals, joint ventures), other capital investmant or divestment decisions and other significant

matters affecting the Company. The Board retains responsibility for reviewing the recommendaticns of the Management Committee and

exercises an ovarsight role, constructively challenging recommendations and the decisions. Where financial approval is also required, this

must also be obtained via the capital investment approval process.
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Corporate Governance continued
The Board aims to meet eight times ger year. During 2021, there were 10 meetings, which were well attended.

The Board receives regular and timely informaticn on alt key aspects of the business, including business risks and opportunities, the financial
performance of the business, strategy, operational matters, safety, market conditions and sustainability, supported by Key Performance
Indicators. Key financial information is collated from the Group's accounting systems and the finance function is appropriately qualified to
ensure the integnty of this information. Financial controls are reviewed by the IAG internal audit function.

The Board agrees on how conflicts of interest should be identified and managed by the Company Secretary, with the conflicts register
being reviewed regularly and interests authorised at each meeting of the Board.

Principle 4 — Opportunity and risk
Qpportunities

Long term strategic epportunities are identified through the business planning process which includes input fram all areas of the business.
The three-year financial plan is presented to the Board for approval each year. ' ’

Internal controf framework

IAG complies with the Spanish corporate governance requirement regarding reporting on internal controls. The Group has an internal .
control framewark to ensure it maintains a strong and effective internal control environment. This is independently assessed by the IAG
internal audit function cn an annuai basis with resulits reported to the BA Board and the IAG Audit and Compliance Committee, The Board
is responsible for ensuring findings are remediated and the effectiveness of the framework was regularly reviewed by the Management
Committee during the year.

Business controls are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the {AG internal audit function through a programme based on risk assessment.
Professionally qualified personnel manage the department with experience gained from both inside and cutside the industry. A risk-based
audit plan, which provides assurance aver key business processes and commercial and financial risks facing the Group, is approved by the
IAG Audit and Compliance Committee half-yearly.

The Board considers significant control matters raised by management and both the internal and external auditars. Where weaknesses are
identified, the BA Board ensures that management takes appropriate action.

Risk management

IAG has an Enterprise Risk Management policy which sets out a framewcrk for a comprehensive risk management process and
methodology, ensuring a robust assessment of the risks, including emerging risks. BA manages its risks within the IAG framework,
supported by risk management professionals in IAG. Risk owners are responsible for identifying risks in their area of respaonsibility. All risks
are assessed for likelihood and impact against the Group business plan and strategy and are plotted on arisk heatmap. Key controls and
mitigations are documented including appropriate response plans. Every risk has appropriate Management Committee oversight. Internal
control and risk management systems in relation to the Group's financial reporting process and the process for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements are in place. This year, in response to the pandemic crisis, the risk management framework has further
evolved to develop BA's assessment of the interdependencies of risks, built on scenario planning to quantify risk impact under different
assumptions and consider the risks within BA's risk map that have increased either as a result of the external environment or as a result
of decisions made by the business in response to the external environment The process adopted this year has helped the BA Board and
management to respand quickly to the new and rapidly changing risk landscape, enabling clear understanding andidentification of emerging
risks arising from the impact of the pandemic and how the pandemic has affected existing risks included within BA's risk rmap. Additional
controls that were identified as a result of changes to the contral environment such as staff on furlough or working from home, were
implemented. There were no changes in risk management and internal control systems over financial reporting that have occurred during
the year that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely 1o materiaily affect, the Group's financial reparting.

The risk heatmap is reviewed twice yearly by the BA Management Committee and the IAG Head of Enterprise Risk Management to ensure
that risks are appropriately evaluated and any further actions identified. This is then reported to the BA Board to assist in the management
of risk, This comprehensive risk management process and methodolegy has been in place throughout the reporting period to which these
statements apply and up 1o their date of approval. The principal risks and uncertainties that are reviewed by the Board are detailed further
on pages 7 to 15 of the strategic report

Principle 5 — Remuneration

- The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting remuneration for the Management Committee (excluding the CEO and CFO
which are set by IAG). Remuneration is aligned to individual performance znd behaviours, as well as achievement of BA's purposa, value
and strategies and is set at 3 market competitive level to ensure that BA can attract and retain quality senior management.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive Director and has clearly defined terms of reference. Further information
relating to remuneration is set out in the People section on page 23.



Directors’ report continued
Cerporate Governance continued

Principle 6 ~ Stakeholder relationships and engagement

Information relating to the Board's engagemeant with key stakeholders is set out in the Section 172 statement on pages 15 to 19 and in the
People section below. The Group has an independent whistlebiowing hotline through which stakeholders are encouraged to report any
concerns for investigation by senior management.

People

As we emerge out of the COVID-19 pandemic, British Airways focus is on creating a cofleague centric experience. One of our strategic
imperatives is colleague centricity. To achieve this British Ajrways is focussing on critical transformational people initiatives that we believe
are fundamental to creating a colleague centric experience.

Waorking collaboratively with our leaders we have created a leadership aspiration and behaviours that we believe when role modelled will
truly support British Airways in fostering a culture of trust, inclusivity and fairness. We recognise that behavioural and cuiture change
require investing in development and therefore we have partnered with a leading provider to offer our senior leaders a comprehensive
leadership development programme; focussing on their leadership strengths to truly role model the behaviours and bring our leadership
aspiration ta life. We will fully integrate these behaviours throughout the colleague lifecycle from onboarding to how we identify talent.

Diversity and inclusian is one of our key people priorities and forms part of our sustainability strategy BA Better World, which focusses on
creating a better world by embedding sustainability across our culture, operations and customer experience. Focussing mainly on gender
balance and ethnicity initially, our ambition is to improve gender and ethnic diversity in leadership roles. As part of this ambition, we have
set ambitious targets amongst our management and leadership roles which we hape to achieve by 2025 and 2030. Our initiatives to
achieve this focus on recruitment, data and learning interventions in the short term but wilt expand to focus on colleague support netwerks,
targeted development programmes and an attraction strategy for emerging tatent.

We recognise that our poficy offerings significantly influence the colleague experience we offer and therafore our facus moving forward
will be to ensure these are colleague centric, market competitive in the aviation industry and promote diversity and inclusion.

Another significant focus area for British Airways is talent attraction. We recognise that the candidate market at present is competitive
‘and therefore offering an attractive colleague experience to current and future colleagues is even more paramount.

British Airways is trialling hybrid working after launching an extensive research programme to understand how colleagues were adapting
to home working and what their preferences were for future ways of working. We will be looking to retain many of the practices we have
implemented, in order to improve the colleague proposition through offering flexibility. We are now undertaking our first company-wide
engagement survey since the end of 2019 and this insight will be critical to inform us of how we can improve our colleague experience in
2022 and beyond.

Energy and carbon
In accordance with the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting ('SECR') requirements, the Group disclosas the following energy and
carbon metrics for the year

BA Group Matric Measura 2021 2020
Annual GHG emissions in Scope 1 MT CO2e 5978784 7.250,236
tonnas aof CO2e Scope 2 location-based MT COZ2e 26857 - 33027
Scape 2 market-based MT CO2e 6,908 8,499
Scope 3 MT CO2e 1,674,405 2108930
Energy in kwh Efectricity kwh 113,509,593 129,407,816
Total energy MWwh 22947050 27,816,480
Intensity ratio Flight emissions intensity gCO2/pkm 106 110.4

Refer tc pages 3 to 4 of the strategic report for efficiency actions taken by the Group. The Group has followed the 2019 HM Government
Environmental Reporting Guidelines and has used the 2021 UK Government's Conversion Factors for Company Reporting,

Political donations
The Group does not make political dor.ations or incur political expenditure and has no intention of doing so.
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Auditors
In accordance with Section 48% of the Companies Act 20086, resolutions ¢oncerning the appointment of the auditor, KPMG LLP and
autherising the Directors to set their remuneration will be propesed at the next Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of informatian to the auditor
The Dire¢tors who are members of the Board at the time of approving the Directors’ report and business review are [isted above, Having
made enquiries of fellow Directors and of the Group's auditor, each of these Directars confirms that:

- To the best of each Director's knowledge and belief there is no information relevant to the preparation of the auditor's report of
which the Group's auditor is unaware; and

»  Each Director has taken all the steps a Director might reasonably be expected to have taken to make himseif or herself aware of
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418(2) of the Companies Act 2005,

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the strategic report, the Directors’ report and the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the Group and parent Company financial
staternents in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
they have elected to prepare both the Group and the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards and applicable law.

Under company law the directors must rot approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group's profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group
and parent Company financial statements, the directors are required to:
s select suitable acZounting policies and then apply them consistently;
«  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and refiable;
«  state whether they have been prepared in accardance with UK-adopted international accounting standards;
»  assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and
«  use the going concern basis of accounting uniess they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease
cperations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent Company and enable them 1o ensure .
that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
have general respansibility for taking such steps as are reascnably open ta them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial infermation included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legisiation in other
jurisdictions.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Andrew Fleming

Company Secretary

2 March 2022

Company registration number - 1777777
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Independent auditors report to the members of British Airways Pic

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of British Airways Plc ("the Company®) for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise
the Group consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, Group and Company balance sheets,

Group and Cempany cash flow statemenits, Group and Company statements of changes in equity and related notes, including the significant
accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion:
e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group and cf the parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December
2021 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;
. the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards;
. the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
= the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinicon

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“iSAs (UK)"} and applicable law. Our responsibilities
are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to other entities of public interest. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis far our gpinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the financis! statements which indicates that the Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the
Group and parent Company’s operations and should there be a mare severe downside scenario to that forecast by the directors the Graup
and parent Company may need ta secure sufficient additicnal funding which is outside the Group and parent Company's control. These
events and canditions, along with the other matters explained in note 2, constitute a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
on the Group and parent Cormpany's ability to cantinue as a going concern, .

Our gpinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Going concern basis of preparation

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concem basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Groug or the parent
Company, or to cease their operatians, and as they have concluded that the Greup and the parent Company's financial position means
that this is realistic for at least the period to 30 June 2023 {"the going concern period™). As stated above, they have also concluded that
there is a material uncertainty refated tc going concern.

We used our knowledge of the Group, its industry, and the general econamic environment to identify the infierent risks to its business-
model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and parent Company's financial resources or ability to continue operations
over the going concern peried. The risk associated with Covid-19 is considered the most likely to adversely affect the Group and parent
Company's available financial resources over this period,

Given the level of financial resources, and the asks inherent in the cash flows, our evaluation of the directors’ going concern assessment
was of particuiar significance in our audit

Wa considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the liquidity in the going concem period by assessing the directors' sensitivities -
over the level of available financial resgurces indicated by the Graup and parent Company's finandial forecasts taking account of severe,
but plausible adverse effects that could arise from these risks individuatly and collectively.

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group's business mode! and analysed how those
risks might affect the Group and parent Company's financial resources or ability ta continue operations over the going concern pericd.

We performed the foliowing procedures: .

s Critically assessed assumptions in the directors' forecast relevant to liquidity, by comparing to external farecasts for the aviation
industry’s recovery fram the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic and economic forecasts, overlaying our knowledge of the Group
and parent Caompany's plans based on approved budgets and our knowledge of the Group and the sector in which it operates.

- We specifically challenged the assumptions underpinning the 'downside lockdown case’ scenario prepared by the directors to
evaluate whether this represented a sufficiently severe but plausibie downside scenaric.

«  Weinspected loan facility agreements with lenders to confirm the level of facilities available.

* We cansidered whether the going concern disclasure in note 2 to the financial statements gives a full and accurate description
of the directors assessment of going concern, including the identified risks, dependencies, and related sensitivities.

Our conclusions based on this work!
. we ronsider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is

appropnate; and
«  we found the goirg concern disclasure in note 2 to be acgeptable.
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Independent auditors report to the members of British Airways Plc continued
Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying 2nd responding to risks of material misstatament due to fraud

Ta identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud ("fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or
pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud, Qur risk assessment procedures included:
«  Enquiring of directors, internal audit and inspection of policy documentatian as to the Group and parent Company's high-level
" policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the intemal audit function, and the Group and parent Company's
channel for "whistleblowing”, as weli as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.
- Reading Board meeting minutes.
+  Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management and directors including their short and
long-term incentive plans.
= Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control envirenment, we perform procedures to -
address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that management may be in a position to make inappropriate
accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting estimates and judgements. On this audit we da not believe there is a fraud risk related
Lo revenue recognition because the pature of services tendered are high volume and low value, which have limited complexity in relation
n refation to the recognition principles of IFRS 15, We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

we performed procadures including:

»  Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope components based on risk criteria and comparing the
identified entries to supporting documentation. These included those posted by seniar finance management, those posted and
approved by the same user and those posted to unusual accounts.

= Assessing whather the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of 3 potential bias.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations

Wwe identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonatly be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from
our general commercial and sector experience, through discussion with the directors and other management (as required by auditing
standards}, and from inspection of the Group and parent Company's regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the directors
and other management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with taws and regulations.

We ccmmunicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit,

The potential affect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group and parent Company is subject 10 laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial
reparting legislaticn (including related companies legisiation), distributable prefits legislation, UK civil aviation authority regulations and
association of British travel agents regulations, taxation legislation, and pensicn legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with
these laws and regufations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group and parent Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a materia} effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation.
We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect health and safety, data protection laws, anti-bribery,
employment law, regulatory capital and liquidity and certain aspects of company legislation recognising the nature of the Group and parent
Company's activities and its legal form, Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these [aws
and regulations to enguiry of the directors and cther management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any, Therefore,
if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit wili not detect that breach. -~

Context of the ability of the audit to derect fraud or breaches of faw or regulation -

Cwing to the inherent limitatians of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some matearial misstatements in
the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For
example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed 1o detect material misstatement
we are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with alf Jaws and
regulations.
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" Independent auditors report to the members of British Airways Plc continued
Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are rasponsible for the strategic report and the directors' report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not ¢over
those reports and we do not express an audit opinicn thereon.

QOur respensibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financiat statements or our audit knowledge.
Based solely on that work:

+  we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

. in our opinion the information given in those repons for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and

*  inourapinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Compantes Act 2006, we are required to repaort 1o you if, in our opinion:
»  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or retumns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
. the parent Company financiaf statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
+  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; ar
+  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audic

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 24, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements
and for being sarisfied that they give a true and fair view; such intemal controf as they detarmine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;, assessing the Group and parent Company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters refated to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting vnless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company of tc cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities

QOur otjectives are ta obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free fram material misstatement,
whether due te fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditar's report. Reascnable assurance is a high level of assurance but does
not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 15As (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasanably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of cur responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www .frc org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Fart 15 of the Companies Act 2006.

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’'s members those matters we are required to state to them ~

in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by (aw, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company's members, as a body, for our audit wark, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Mark Baillache {Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and an behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

2 March 2022
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Group consolidated income statement.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group!
£ millian Note 2021 2020
Passenger revenye 2,315 2894
Cargo revenue 1,097 &390
Crther revenue 281 217
Total revenue 3,693 4,001
Employee costs 6 1,482 - L7
Fuel, oil costs and emission charges 938 1760
Handling, catering and other operating costs 824 ‘857
Landing fees and en route charges 373 460
Engineering and other aireraft costs 377 446
Property, IT and other costs 490 471
Selling costs ) 138 126
Depreciation, amartisation and impairment 4 984 1076
Currency differences ‘ {13) 38
Total expenditure on operaticns before exceptional items 5,593 - 6351
Operating loss before exceptional items 4 (1,900) (2.350)
Exceptianal items 3 13t (1553)
Operating loss after exceptional items {(1,769) 73903
Finance casts 7 (429) (269)
Finance income 7 3 - 15
Share of post-tax profits/{losses) in investments accounted for using the equity method 14 43 (144)
Net financing {charge)/credit relating to pensions 27 @ o
Net currency retranslation credits 23 ‘55
Other non-operating credits 7 7 3
Total net non-operating costs (335) (256}
Loss before tax (2,104) (4199
Tax 8 456 699
Loss after tax (1,648) 3.500)

"The 2020 results have bean restated for the treatment of administration costs assaciated with the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes. Further information s given

in note 2.
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Group!
E million Note 2021 2020
Loss after tax for the year (1,648) (3500}

Other comprehensive income:

items that may be reclassified to net loss
Cash flow hedges:
Fair value movements in equity 26 430 {1170
Reclassified and reported in net loss 26 (32) 1035
Fair value movements on cost of hedging 26 n - {1g)
Cost of hedging reclassified and repcried in net loss 26 ian (i)
Currency translation differences 26 {9} 5
Other movements in comprehensive income of assaciates 14 1 {12)
388 (154}
Items that will not be reclassified to net loss

Fair value movements on other equity investments: 26 - (47}
Fair value movements on cash flow hedges 5 18 {3)
Fair value movements on cost of hedging 26 1 22
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations 27 1,197 ) (522}
1,216 (550)
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 1,604 (704}
Total comprehensive loss for the year (net of tax) {44) (4.204)

The 2020 results have been restatad for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes.

innete 2.
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Balance sheets

Company registration number 1777777

As 3t 31 December 2021

Group Company

£ million Neote 2021 20201 201381 201 2020 20151
Non-current assets "
Property, plant and equipment 10 9,861 10,381 10,488 9,696 10162 10231
Intangible assets 13 1,032 1062 1094 982 1010 1041
Investments in sybsidiaries 14 - - - 842 847 1278
Investments accounted for using the equity method 14 1,737 1688 1838 1,570 1563 1563
Other equity investments 15 2 2 49 2 2 40
Employee benefit assets 7 1,508 303 450 1,508 303 450
Derivative financial instruments 23 3s 20 59 35 22 60
Deferred tax assets a8 574 401 - 671 478 -
Other non-current assets 16 168 174 151 170 i70 190

14,917 14,031 14,169 15,476 14,557 14,853
Current assets
Inventories 74 73 156 72 70 152
Trade receivables 16 454 356 1202 441 342 1186
QOther current assets 16 414 351 683 417 383 716
Derivative financial instruments 23 218 52 L n0° 54 56
Other current interest-bearing deposits 17 - - 1.330 - - 1330
Cash and cash equivalents 17 1,687 1261 1258 1,630 1195 1158

2,847 2093 4720 2,780 2044 4,638
Total assets 17,764 16124 18859 18,256 16607 19 497
Shareholders’ equity
Issued share capital 24 290 290 290 290 290 290
Share premium 24 1.512 1512 1512 1,512 15712 1512
Other reserves? 26 (10) 32 4251 172 237 4662
Tatal shareholders’ equity 1,792 1834 6053 1,974 2039 6,464
Total equity 1,792 1834 £053 1,974 2038 " 5,464
Non-current liabilities . y
Borrowings 20 8,518 7477 5378 8,898 7444 - 5360
Employee benefit ohligations 27 241 431 276 218 4071 248
Deferred tax liabilities 8 - - 84 - - 105
Provisions 21 354 344 423 328 316 415
Derivative financial instruments 23 26 168 156 26 168 157
Qther non-current liabilities 19 N 69 29 89 &7 R

9,630 8,489 5,446 9,559 8396 6303
Current liabilities .
Borrowings . 20 832 1310 832 819 1254 .. 918
Trade and other payables 18 1,665 1243 2104 2,092 1616 2445
Deferred revenue on ticket sales 18 3,512 2429 2934 3,490 2438 2959
Dervative financial instruments 23 69 552 105 70 553 107
Current tax payable 8 5 37 142 9 40 745
Provisions 21 259 230 173 ‘243 225 139

. 6,342 5801 6,390 6,723 &,166 5,724

Total liabilities 15,972 14290 12836 16,282 14562 13027
Total equity and liabilities 17,764 16,124 18,889 18,256 16,601 18451

'"The 2020 and 2019 results have been restated for the treatment of administretion costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes, Further information

is given in note 2.

The loss for the year for the Company was £1,675 million {(2020. £3,717 miliion}.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

e

Sean Doyle

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

2 March 2022

Rebecca Napier
Chief Financial Officer

2

March 2022




Cash flow statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Group Company
£ million Note 2021 20202 2021 202042
Cash flow from operating activities
Ceperating loss from continuing operations after exceptional items {(1.76%) {33803) (1.708) (3.815)
Exceptional items (131) 1553 {131) 1545
Operating loss from continuing operations before exceptional iterns (1,900} {2350) (1,839} (2271)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 984 1076 946 L1005
Movement in working capital ) 1,417 48 1,422 23
(Increasel/decrease i trade receivables, inventories and other current assets (327) 1288 ' (139) 1285
58 ) 1
;g;;egzz/g:;;:z rfz nr; Z?g;t?:;f other payables, deferred revenue on ticket 1544 (1.240) | 1,561 (1.252)
Payments refated to restructuring A (18) 234} (18) 227
S:rsilri:?r;fizr;tzgz:i:ns to defined benefit pension schemes net of serwcje and 27 a4 (262) 12) (257)
Provisions and other non-cash movements 160 98 : 158 4
Realised loss on de-designated fuel and foreign exchange hedges (129) (630) (129) (630}
Interest paid (342) {226) (340y - (226}
Interest received 1 18 1 : 18
Tax paid {28) {51 {28) 51
Net cash flows generated from/(used in} operating activities 131 (2513 161 {2, 492)
Cash flow from investing activities )
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangibfe assets {406) (950) (386) (945)
Sale of praperty, plant and equipment and intangible assets 72 254 19 254
Dividends received 14 1 7 T - - 7
Loan repaid by parent company 9 g 9 g
Other investing movements ™ 2 )] i 2
Decrease in other current interest-bearing deposits - 1330 - 1330
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities (331) 646 (364) 657
Cash flow from financing activities .
Proceeds fram borrowings 2,107 3541 2,107 . 3541
Repayments of borrowings ) (459) (898; {459) (898)
Repayment of lease liabilities (738) {807) (724) {794)
Settlement of derivative financial instruments {230 LYs (237) . 58
Other financing movements {21 - (21} -
MNet cash flows generated from financing activities 652 1894 666 1907
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 452 27 463 66
Net foreign exchange differences ] (26) 24 (28) 29
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January ) 1,261 1258 1,195 17158
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,687 1261 1,630 1185

The 2020 results have been restated For the treatment of administration costs associated with the Graup’s defined benefit pension schemes. Further infarmation is given
innote 2 7 )

IThe 202¢ results include a reclassification to conform with the current year of presentation regarding settlement of derivative fnancial instruments. Further information
is given in note 2. .

32



Statements of changes in equity

For the year anded 31 December 2021 Group
Other

issued share Share reserves Total
£ million capital pramium {note 26) equity
At 1 January 2021 restateq! . 280 1512 32 1,834
Loss for the period - - (1,648} 1,648)
Cther comprehensive income for the perod - - 1,604 1,604
Total comprehensive loss for the periad, net of tax - - (44) (44)
Hedges reclassified and reported in property, plant and equipment - - 2 2
As at 31 December 2021 290 1.512 (10) 1,792

The 2020 results have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schames. Further infarmation is given

in note 2

For the year ended 31 December 2020 45.'1%,:':I
Crther

fssued share Share reserves Total
£ million : capital _premium {rote 26} Equity
At 1January 2020 as reported’ 290 1512 4,005 5807
Change in accounting policy’ - - 245 245
At 1January 2020 restated 290 1512 4251 . 6053
Lass for the period - - (35000  (350Q)
Qrher comprehensive loss for the period - - {704) {704)
Total comprehensive loss for the periad, net of tax - - (4.204) (4.204)
Hedges reclassified and reported in property, plant and equipment - - {14 {14
Cost of share-based payment {net of tax} - ' - {1 {h
As at 31 December 2020 250 1512 32 1834

"The 2020 results have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefic pension sche mes. Further information is given

in note 2,
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Statements of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Company
Other

Issued share Share reserves Total
£ million capital premium {note 26) equity
At 1 January 2021 restated 290 1512 237 2,039
Loss for the period - - (1,675) (1,675}
Qther comprehensive income for the period - - 1,608 1,608
Total comprehensive loss for the period, net of tax - - (67) (67)
Hedges reclassified and reported in property, piant and equipment - - 2 2
As at 31 December 2021 250 1,512 172 1,974 .

The 2020 results have been restated for the treatment, of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit gensian schemes. Further information is given

in note 2.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 Company
Cther

Hssuad share Share reserves Toral
£ million capital premium {note 26) Equity
At 1 Janvary 2020 as reported! 290 1512 4415 6218
Change in accounting policy! - - 246 246
At t January 2020 restated 290 1512 4662 6,464
Loss for the period - - (3717} . {3717
Cther comprehensive loss for the period - - (693) - (693)
Total comprehensive loss for the pericd, net of tax : - - {4.410) (4410}
Hedges recfassified and reported in property, plant and equipment - - ) 14
Cost of share-based payment (net of tax} - - ) I¢/]
As at 3t December 2020 290 1512 237 2039

"The 2020 resuits have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's definad benefit pension schemes. Further information is given

in note 2
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1 Authorisation of financial statements and compliance with international accounting standards

The Group's and Company's financial staternants for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 2
March 2022 and the balance sheets were signed on the Board's behalf by Sean Doyle and Rebecca Napier. British Airways Plc is 2 pubfic limited
company limited by shares mcorporated registered and domiciled in England. The Company's registéred offica is Warterside, PO Box 365,
Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish the Company income
statement and reiated notes.

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The Group has prepared the consolidated and Company financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted intemnational accounting standards.

These financial statemeants have been prepared on 2 historical cost convention except for certain financial assets and Jiabilities, including dervative
financial instruments and equity investments that are measured at fair value. The carrying value of recognised assets and liabilities that are subject
to fair value hedges are adjusted to record changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged.

The Group's and Campany's financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and ail values are rounded to the nearest million pounds (E million},
except where indicated otherwise.

The Directors have considered the Group's business activities {as set out on page 2), pringipal risks and uncertainties (as set out on pages 7 to 15)
and the Group's financial position, including cash flows, liquidity position and avaifabie committed facilities (as set out on page 3. Further mforrnanon :
is provided in note 22 of the financial statements.

Going concern

The economic uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic and the fragmented and varied responses from governments have had a significant impact
cn the Group's (being British Airways Plc and its subsidiaries) snd Cempany's results and cash flows. At 31 Dacember 2021, the Group had total
liquidity of E4.5 billion (31 December 2020: total liquidity of £2.7 billion), comprising cash and interast-bearing deposits of £1.7 billion (2020: £1.3
billion), £2.0 billion of committed and undrawn genera) facilities (2020: £0.6 billion) and a further £0.8 billion of committed and undrawn aircraft
specific facilities (2020: £0.8 billion).

At 31 December 2021, the Company had total liquidity of £4.4 billion (31 December 2020: total liquidity of £2.6 billion), comprising cash and interest-
bearing deposits of £1.6 billion (2020: £1.2 billion), £2.0 billion of committed and undrawn general facilities (2020: £0.6 billion) and a further £08
billion of committed and undrawn aircraft specific facilities (2020: £0.8 biltion).

The increase in fiquidity during the year ta 31 December 2021 was attributable to, amongst other actions, accessing £2.0 billion of the UK Export
Finance {'UKEF" Credit Facility, securing 2 multi-entity three-year Revoiving Credit Facility {RCF) of $1.35 billion (£1.0 biilion), securing a £0.5 billion
aircraft specific facility achieved as part of an Enhanced Equipment Trust Certificate (EETC) financing structure and securing an additiona! LIKEF
Credit Faciiity of £1.0 billion. These actions raised an additicnal £4.5 billion of liquidity. Of facilities in place at 31 December 2021, no amounts mature
by the end of the going concem peried. The Group's and Company's facilities do not contain financial covenants. There are non-financial covenants
to protect the position of the lenders, including restrictions on the upstreaming of cash ta the 1AG Group aor lending to other companies within the
wider JAG Group from British Airways plc and its subsidiaries,

Daspite the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group and Company has continued to successfully secure financing arrangements for all
aircraft delivered in 2021,

In its assessment of going concern aver the period te 30 June 2023 (the ‘'going concern period’), the Group and Campany has modelled three
scenarios referred to below a5 the Base Case, the Downside Case and the Downside Lockdown Case, The Group’s and Company's three-yaar
business plan, prepared and approved by the Board in December 2021, was subsequently refreshed with the latest available internal and external
information in February 2022, This refreshed business plan supports the Base Case, which takes into account the Board's and management’s views
on the anticipated 1mpact and recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group and Company across the going concern period. The key inputs
and assumptions underlying the Base Case include:

. As part of the recovery, the Group and Company has assumed a gradual easing of travel restrictions, by geographical region, based on
deployment of vaccines during the year. Travel restrictions, including testing and quarantine requirements, between countries are assumed
to continue to be scaled back and removed;

. Capacity recovery modelled by geographical region (and in certain regtons, by key destinations) with capacity gradually increasing froma’
reduction of 42 per cent in quarter 1 2022 (¢compared to the equivalent peried in 2019) to a reduction of 4 per cent by the end of the
going cancern pericd in quarter 2 2023 with the average over the going concern period being 14 per cent down versus 2019;

. Passenger unit revenue per ASK, although forecast to coatinue 1o recover, is assumed to still remain below levels of 2013 by the end of
the going concern pariod, which is based on, amongst other assumptions, a preater weighting of shorthaul versus longhaul, leisure versus
business and economy versus premium compared to 2019. Specifically, the Group’s and Cempany's assumgtion is that traffic related to
domestic and leisure will recover faszer than lorghavul and business,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies cantinued
Going concern continued

¢+  The Group and Company has assumed that the committed and undrawn general facilities of £2.0 billion will not be drawn over the going
concern period;

+  The Group and Company has assumed that of the committed and undrawn aircraft specific Facilities of £0.8 billicn, £0.5 billion will be
drawn to fund specific aircraft scheduled for delivery during 2022 and the remaining £0.3 biilion is not expected to be drawn;

«  Of the capital commitments detailed in note 12, £1.9 billion is due to be paid over the going concem period of which the Group and
Company has committed aircraft financing of £0.5 biflion, under the EETC financing structure, and the Group and Company has further
forecast securing 80 per cent of the aircraft financing required that is currently uncommitted, to align with the timing and payments for
these aircraft deliveries. This loan to value assumption is below the level of financing the Group and Company has been able to achieve
recently, including over the course of the COVID-19 pandemic to date.

The Downside Case applies stress to the Base Case to model a mare prolonged downturn, with a more gradual recovery relative 1o the Base Case.
The Daownside Case is representative of existing travel restrictions remaining in place and the gradual recavery of capacity being delayed langer
than in the Base Case. The Downside Case also models a more acute impact on the longhaul sector, with the domestic sector and European shorthaut
sectors recovering faster than longhaul. The result of which is that the levels of capacity assumed under the Base Case are delayed by a quarter
under the Downside Case and would reach those of the Base Case at the end of the going concern period. In the Downside Case, over the going
concern period capacity would be 23 per cent down on 2019. The Downside Case assumes that there would be no drawing on either the RCF or the
UKEF credit facility. The Directors consider the Downside Case to be 2 severe but plausible scenario.

In addition, the Group and Company has sensitised the Downside Case to incorporate the occurrence of a two-month lockdown, and asseciated
travel restrictions, during the second quarter of 2022, a scenario referred to as the Downside Lockdown Case. The Downside Lockdown Case is
representative of the emergence of more virulent strains of COVID-19 and/or strains for which the efficacy of existing vaccines is reduced.
Subsequent to this lockdown, capacity is assumed to recaver gradually through to the end of 2023, at which time capacity is assumed to align with
that of the Base Case and Downside Case. In this scenario, over the going concern pericd capacity would be 46 per cent down on 2015, The
Downside Lockdown Case assumes that there would be full drawing on both the RCF and the UKEF credit facility. Consistent with the Downside
Case, the Directors consider the Downside Lockdown Case to be an alternative severe but plausible scenario,

The Group and Company has modelled the impact of further deteriorations in capacity operated and yield, including mitigating actiens to reduce
operating and capital expenditure. The Group and Company expects to be able to continue to secure financing for future aircraft deliveries and in
addition has further potential mitigating actions, including asset disposals, it would pursue in the event of adverse liquidity experience.

Having reviewed the Base Case, Downside Case, Downside Lockdown Case and additional sensitivities, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Greup and Company have sufficient liquidity to cantinue in aperational existence over the going concern pericd and hence continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year to 31 December 2021

However, due to the uncertainty created by COVID-19, there are a number of significant factors that are outside of the control of the Group and
Company, inciuding: the status and impact of the pandemic worldwide; the emergence of new variants of the virus and potential resurgence of
existing strains of the virus; the speed at which vaccines deployed worldwide; the efficacy of those vaccines; the availability of medicines to combat
the impact of the virus and the restrictions imposed by national governments in respect of the freedom of movement and travel. The Group and
Company, therefore, are not able to provide certainty that there could not be a more severe downside scenario than those it has considered,
including the sensitivities in relation to the timing of recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, capacity operated, impact on yield, cost mitigations
achieved and the availability of aircraft financing to offset capital expenditure. In the event that a more severe scenario were to occur, the Group
and Company may need to secure sufficient additional funding. Sources of additional funding are expected to include securing additional long-term
financial facilities. However, the Group’s and Company’s ability to obtain this additional funding in the event of 3 more severe downside scenario
represents a material uncenainty at 2 March 2022 that could cast significant doubt upon the Group's and Company’s ability to continue as a gomg
concern and therefore, to continue to realise its assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business.

The financial statements for the year to 31 December 2021 do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group or Company was unable
L0 continue as a going toncern.

Presentation of results

The prior period Cash flow statement includes a reclassification to conform with the current period of presentation regarding the settlement of
foreign currency denvative financial instruments not designated in 2 hedge relationship, but entered into to mitigate foreign exchange movements
on long-term financial liabilities in currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating companies holding the fiakilities. Accordingly, the
Group has reclassified the results for the year ended 31 December 2020 to recognise £58 million of derivative settlement gash inflows as Settlement
of derivative financial instruments within cash flows from financing activities with a corresponding ingrease in cash outflows within cash flows from
operating activities.

Change in accounting policy :

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has changed its accounting policy with regard to the treatment of administration costs
associated with the APS and NAPS Defined benefit schemes. The change in policy has been adopied to better reflect the underlying management
and operation of these schemes. This change in accounting policy has been zpplied retrospectively to the financial statements and is derailed helow,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 3! December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Change in accounting policy continued

L B B AR

Previously a discounted estimate of future administration costs was included as part of the APS and NAPS defined benefit obligations. These
administration costs were recognised as a service ¢ost in the year in which such costs arose and recorded within Other comprehensive income.
Under the updated accounting policy, administration costs aré now recognised as incurred and included within Employee costs in the Income
statement. This change has had the effect of reducing the defined benefit obligation and increasing retained earnings at both 3% December 2020
and 31 December 2019 It has in addition increased the charge t¢ Employee costs and the Financing credit relating to pensions in the Income
statement, as well as increased the Remeasurements of poast-employment benefit obligations in the Statement of other comprehensive income for

the year ended 31 December 2020.

The impact of the changes in these accounting policies on the Income statement and the Statement of comprehensive income for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020, as well as the Balance sheets at 31 Decermber 2020 and 31 December 2019 are shown below:

Coasolidated Income statement {extract for the year to 31 December 2020)

Graup _

Adjustment -

administration
£ million Reported COsts Restated
Total revenue 4,001 - 4,001
Employee costs 1,695 22 117
Other expenditure on operations 4,634 - 4634
Tatal expenditure on cperatians before exceptional items 6,329 2 6,351
Operating loss before exceptinnal items (2.328) 22 | (2,350
Exceptional items {L553) - (1,553
Operating loss after exceptional items (3.,881) 22 (3.903)
Net financing credit relating to pensions 4 7 1
Other financing items (254) - (254)
Other non-gperating items (53) - (53)
Total net non-operating costs {303) 7 (296)
Loss before tax (4,184) (1s) (4,199}
Tax - 695 4 659
Loss after tax for the year (3,489) (11) (3,500}

The Company's reported loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 was £3,706 million. The restatement resulted in an increase in the Company's

loss after tax of £11 million to £3,717 million for the year ended 31 December 2020,

Consclidated Statement of other comprehensive income {(extract for the year to 31 December 2020)

GI.'t')I.Ip
Adjustment — '

. administration -
£ million Reported costs Restated
Loss after tax for the year (3,489) (1) {3.500)
feerns thar may be reclassified to net loss
Itemns that may be classified subsequently to net loss {154) - {154)
fremns thar will not be reclassified to net loss
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit cbligations (554) 32 (522)
Other items that will not be reclassified to net profit (28) - (28)
Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (736) 32 (704)
Total other comprehensive loss for the year (4.225) 21 (4.204)

The Company's reported total comprehensive loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 was £4,431 million. Tne restatement resulted in @ decrease
in the Company's total comprehensive loss for the year of £21 miliicn 1o £4,410 miilion for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (contmued)

Far the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Change in accounting policy continued

Balznce sheet {extract at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2018) - Group

Adjustment — Adjustment -
Reported administration Restated Reportad  administration Rastated
£ million 2020 costs! 2020 2019 costs!' 2019
Non-current assets ’
Employee benefit assets 258 47 303 266 184 450
Cther non-current assets 13,728 - 13,728 13,718 - 13,719
13,984 47 14,031 13,985 184 14,169
Current assets 2,093 - 2,093 4720 - 4720
Total assets 16,077 47 16,124 18,705 184 18,889
Qther equity 1,802 - 1,802 1,802 - 1,802
Other reserves {235) 267 32 4,005 246 4,251
Total equity 1,567 267 1,834 5,807 246 . 6,053
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefit obligations 651 (220} 431 338 {62) 276
Other non-current liabilities 8,058 - 8,058 6,170 - 6,170
8,709 {220) 8,439 6,508 {62) 6,446
Current liabilities 5,801 - 5,801 6,390 - 6,350
Total liabilities 14,510 {220) 14,290 12,898 (62) 12,836
Total equity and liabilitias 16,077 47 16,124 18,705 184 18,889
tAdiustments made to Employee benefit assets and Employee benefic abligations are presented net of the impact of withholding tax.
Balance sheet (extract at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019) - Company
Adjustment - Adjustment -
Reported administration Restated Reported administration Restated
£ million 2020 costs! 2020 2019 costs? 2019
Non-current assats .
Employee benefit assets ) 256 47 303 266 184 450
Other non-current assets 14,254 - 14,254 14,403 - 14,403
14,510 47 14,557 14,669 184 14,853
Current assets 2044 - 2,044 4638 - 4638
Total assets 16,554 47 16,601 19,307 184 19,491
Other equity 1,802 - 1,802 1,802 - 1,802
Other reserves (30) 267 237 4,416 246 4,662
Total equity 1,772 267 2,039 6,218 246 6,464
Nen-current liabilities
Employee benefit obligations 621 (220) 401 310 (62) . 248
QOther nan-current liabilities 7,995 - 7.995 6,055 - 6,055
8,616 (220) 8,396 6,365 (62) 6,303
Current liabilities 6,166 - 6,166 6,724 - 6,724
Total liabilities 14,782 (220) 14,562 13,089 (62) 13,027
Total equity and liabilities 16,554 47 16,601 19,307 184 19,491 -

'Adjustments made 10 EMployee benefit assets and Employee benefit obligations are presented net of the impact of withholding tax.

Consclidation

The Group financial statements include those of the Company and its subsidiaries, each made up to 31 December, together with the attributable
share of resuits and reserves of assaciates, adjusted where appropriate to conform with the Group's accounting policies.

" Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, which is the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidared
until the date that such control ceases. Control exists when the Group is expaosed to, or has rights 1o, variable returns from its involvement with the

entity and has the ability 1o affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration paid is the fair value of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initally at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-refated costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwili is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controlling interest over the

netidentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Altintragroup account balances, including intragroup profits, have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Consalidation continued

Unconsolidated structured entities

The Group regularly uses sale and leaseback transactions to finance the acquisition of aircraft. In certain instances the Group will undertake several
such sale and leaseback transactions at once through Enhanced Equipment Trust Certificates (EETCs). Under each of these financing structures, a
company or companies {the EETC issuer] are established to facilitate such financing on behalf of @ number of unrelated investors. In certain of these
financing structures, additional special purpose vehicles (the Lessor $PV) are established to provide additional financing from a number of further
unretated investors to the EETC Issuer. The proceeds from the issuance of the EETCSs by the EETC Issuer, and where relevant the proceeds obtained
from the Lessor SPV, are then used to purchase aircraft solely from the Group. The Group will then enter into lease arrangements {which meet the
recognition criteria of Asset financed liabilities) with the EETC Issuer, or where relevant the Lessor SPV, with payments made by the Group to the
EETC Issuer, or the Lessor 5PV, distributed, through a trust, to the aforementioned unrelated investors. The main purpose of the trust structure is
to enhance the credit-worthiness of the Group's debt obligations through certain bankruptcy protection pravisions and liquidity facifities, and also
to lower the Group's total borrowing cost.

The EETCs Issuer and the Lessor SPV are established solely with the purpose of providing the asset-backed financing and upon maturity of such
financing are expected to have no further activity. The relevant activities of the EETCs Issuer and the Lessor SPV are restricted to pre-established
financing agreements and the retention of the title of the associated financed aircraft. Accordingly, the Group has determined that each EETCs Issuer
and the Lessor SPVs are structured entities. Under the contractual terms of the financing structures, the Group has no exposure to losses in these
entities, does not own any of the share capital of the EETC Issuer or the Lessor SPV, does not have any representation aon the respective boards
and has no ability to influence decision making.

In considering the aforementicned facts, management has concluded that the Group does not have access to variable returns from the EETC Issuers
because its involvement is limited to the payment of principal and interest under the arrangement and therefore, it does not control the EETCs
fssuers and as such does not cansolidate them.

Foreign currency translation

a  Functional and presentational currency of the Group

The individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates
(its functional cumrency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are
expressed in steding, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consalidated financial statements. -

b  Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency, sterling, using the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the
transaction. Monetary foreign currency balances are translated into sterling at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Fareign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and translations as at balance sheet exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement except where hedge accounting is applied and on the translation of
foreign operations, Foreign exchange gains and lossas arising on the retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities classified as non-current on the
balance sheet are recognised within ‘net currency retranslation credits' in the income statement. All other gains and losses arising on the retranslation
of monetary assets and liabilitias are recognised in cperating profit

¢ Group companies .
The net assets of foreign operations are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Profits and Josses of such
operations are translated into sterling at average rates of exchange during the year. The resulting exchange differences are taken directly to a
separate component of equity until all or part of the interest is sold, when the relevant portion of the cumulative exchange is recognised in the
income statement, -

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is held at cost. The Group has a policy of not revaluing property, plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated to
write off the cost less estimated residual value on a straight-line basis, over the economic life of the asset. Residual values, where applicable, are
reviewed annually against prevailing market values for equivalently aged assets and depreciation rates are adjusted accordingly an 2 prospective
basis.

a Capitalisation of interest on progress payments
Interest attributed to progress payments made on account of aircraft and other qualifying assets under eonstruction are capitalised and added o
the cost of the asset cancerned. All other borrowing £osts are recognised in the income statement in the year in which they are incurred.

b Fleet

All aircraft are stated at the fair value of the consideration given after taking account of manufacturers’ credits. Fleet assets owned, or right of use
assats, are disaggregated into separate components and depreciated at rates calculated to write down the cost of each component to the estimated
restdual value at the end of their planned operational lives (which is the sharter of their useful life or lease tarm} on a straight-line basis. Depreciation
rates are specific to aircraft type, based on the Group's fleet plans, with useful economic lives between 11'and 29 years. For engines maintained under
'pay-as-you-go' contracts, the depreciation lives and residual values are the same as the aircraft ta which the engines relate. For all other engines,
the engine core is depreciated to its residuzl value over the average remaining life of the related fleet Right of use assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and the aforementioned depreciation rate.

Cabin interior medificatians, including those required for brand changes and relaunches, are depreciated over the lower of five years and the
remaining economic fife of the aircraft.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Property, plant and equipment continued

Aircraft and engine spares acquired en the introduction or expansion of a fleet, as well as rotable spares purchased separately, are carried as property,
plant and equipment and generally depreciated in line with the fleet to which they relate.

Certain major overhaul expenditure, including replacement spares and labour costs, is capitalised and amortised over the average expected life
between major overhauls. All other replacement spares and other costs relating to maintenance of Aeet assets (including maintenance provided
under '‘pay-as-you-go’ contracts) are charged to the income statement on consumption or as incurred respectively.

¢ Other property, plant and equipment

Provision is made for the depreciation of all property and equipment. Property, with the exception of freeheld 1and, is depreciated over its expected
useful {ife over periods not exceeding 50 years, or in the case of leasehoid properties, over the expected duration of the lease if shorter on a
straight-line basis. Equipment is depreciated over periads ranging from four to 20 years.

d Leases
The Group leases various aircraft, properties and equipment. The lease terms of these assets are consistent with the determined useful economic
life of similar assets within property, piant and equipment.

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, of contains, a lease. A contract is, of COntains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified tangible asset for a period of time in exchange for considerzation. The Group has elected to not apply
such consideration where a contract relates to an intangible asset, in which case payments associated with the contract are expensed as incurrad.

Leases are racognised as a right of use ('ROLI") asset and a corresponding lease liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Right of use ("ROU’} assets

At the leasa commeancement date a RQU asset is measured at cost comprising the foilowing: the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability; any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received, and any initial direct costs. In addition,
at the lease commencement date a ROU asset will incorporate unavoidatie restoration ¢osts to return the asset to its original condtuon for which
a corresponding ameount is recognised within Provisions.

The ROU asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If ownership of the ROU assat
transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset

Lease liabilities

L ease liabilities are initiaily measured at their present value, which includes the Following lease payments: fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate; amounts expected to be payable
by the Group under residual value guarantees; the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option; and payments to be made under
reasonably certain extension options, -

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The interest rate implicit in the lease is the discount rate that, at the
inception of the lease, causes the aggregate present value of the minimum lease payments and the unguaranteed residual value to be equal to the
fair vaiue of the leased asset and any initial indirect costs of the lessor. For aircraft leases these inputs are either observable in the contract or readily
available from external market data. The initial direct costs of the lessor are considered to be immaterial, If that rate cannot be determined, the
Group's incremental borrowing rate is used.
Each lease payment is allocated between the principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the income statement gver the lease period
50 as te produce 2 constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability for each period. After the commencementdate
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made

The carrying amount of lease Iiab‘r]ities is remeasured if there is a modification of the lease contract, a re-assessment of the lease term (specifically
in regard to assurnptions regarding extension and termination optijons) and changes in variable lezse payments that are based on an index or 2 rate.

The Group has elected not to recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and those
leases of low-value assets. Payments associated with short-termn leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight line basis as an
expense in the income staternent. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less that do not contain a purchase option. Low-
value assets comprise IT-equipment and small items of office furniture. .

The Group is expased to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability
until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payrments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability I1s reassessed and adjusted against
the ROU asset. Extensicn options are included in a number of aircraft, property and equipment leases across the Group and are reflected in the
lease payments where the Group is reasonably certain that it will exercise the optien. The Group is also exposed to variable lease payments based
on usage or revenue generated over a defined period. Such variable lease payments are expensed to the income statement as incurred
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Far the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Lease liabilities continued

The Group regularly uses sale and leaseback transactions to finance the acquisition of aircraft. Each transaction is assessed as to whether it meets
the critaria within IFRS 15 ' Revenue from contracts with customers for a sale to have occurred. If a sale has occurred, then the asscciated asset is
de-recognised and a ROU asset and |ease liability is recognised. The ROU asset recognised is based on propertion of the previous carrying amount
of the asset that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee. Any gains or losses are restricted 1o the amount that refates 1o the rights
that have been transferred to the counter party to the transaction. Where a sale has not occurred, the asset is retained on the balance sheet within
property, plant and equipment, and an asset financed liability recognised equal to the financing proceeds. The principal criteria for assessing whether
a sale has occurred or nort, is whether the contract cantains the option, at the discretion of the Group, to repurchase the aircraft over the lease term;
with the existence of such a repurchase option resulting in 2 sale having been deemed rot to have occurred, and; if no such repurchase option exists,
then a szle is deemed to have occurred.

Cash flow presentation

Lease payments are presented as follows in the Consolidated cash flow statement: the repayments of the principal element of lease liabilities are
presented within cash flows from financing activities; the payments of the interest glement of tease liabilities are included within cash flows from
operating activities, and; the payments arising from variablg elements of a lease, shart-term leases and low-value assets are presented within cash
flows from operating activities.

COVID~19 related rent concessions

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued 'COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions — amendments to IFRS 16 Leases’. The amendment provides a pracncal
expedient for lessees, up to 30 June 2021, not 10 assess whether a COVID-19 related rent concession is a lease medification. Cn 31 March 2021, the
|1ASB extended the period for the application of these concessions through to 30 june 2022 The extended amendmaent is effective for annual
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 April 2021 and the Group has elected to adopt this amendment for the year to 31 December 2021,

Intangible assets

a Geoodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and represents the excess of the consideration paid over the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree. Where the net fair value of the identifiable assets and labilities of the acquiree jis in
excess of the consideration paid, a gain on bargain purchase is recognised immediately in the income statement.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, goodwill is grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identiffable cash flows {cash
generating units). Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever indicators exist that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

b Landing rights

Landing rights acquired from other airlines are capitalised at ¢ost on acquisition (or fair value when acquired through 2 business combination).
Capitalisad landing rights based within the United Kingdom and the EU are not amortised, as regulations provide that these landing nghts are
perpetual.

c Software

The cast to purchase or develop computer software that i separable from an item of related hardware is capitalised separately and amortised on a
straight-line basis generally over a period not exceeding five years, with certain spectfc software developments amortised over a period of up to

ten years.

d  Emissions allowances .

Where the Group purchases emissions allowances, such that it has a surplus of allowances when compared to the amount required to discharge its
obligations to the relevant authorities, these amounts are recognised at cost and recorded within Intangible assets. Emissions aliowances recorded
within Other intangible assets are not revalued or amartised but are tested for impairment whenever indicators exist that the carrying value may nat
be recoverable. Where the Group has a deficit of allowances compared to the amount required to discharge its abligations to the relevant authcrities,
the Group recagnises a provision for the outstanding amount, measured at the market price of such an alfowance at the reporting date.

from time 1o time the Group enters into sale and repurchase transactions for specified emission allowances, Such transactions do not meet the

recognition criteria of a sale under IFRS 15 and accardingly the asset is retained on the balance sheet within Intangible assets and an Other Fnancmg

liability recognised equal 1o the proceeds received,

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested anruzlly for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amonrtisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment [oss is recognised for the value by which the assel's carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset's fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use. Non-financial assets other than goadwill that were subject to an impairmant are
reviewad for possibte reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

a Property, ptant and equipment, including right-of-use assets

The carrying value is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable and the
cumulative impairment losses are shown as a reduction in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment.

41



[44

"IN330 03 pa12adxa J38UC| OU S¢ UGIIDESURI] 15820404 23 UBYM PanuuoIsIp S| Sulunodae 83pay Uaym JO SIN2D0 UOIIJESURN 5838404
ay3 se pouad alles ayl Ul aNUsAB. JaBUISSEY O1 PRLISSRIDRL 3JB BAIBS3. 5FPal MO| USED BUI UM SBSSO| JO SUiRS paleMunIDY ‘3AI3sal $8pay moy
LSED 342 Ul ALIOdU1 BAISUBYRIGLIGD JBYID LIYTIM PBPI0ds 2ie 5318 83UPLDIX3 USaJ0; Ul SIUBWEAoW Woly Bulsue suonenjeagy diysuche|as s3pay
2 Ullim sTUBntsul BuiBpay se paleudisap aJe saniqel 3uiJpaq-153433ul pRIELILWOUaR AdualInd uSIal0) UO S1UBW|eISUl JUBWARDS) dAlRALSD-UOL
uleLIa3 (UBnA asauyY) pUB UBA asauede| '50.na 'Sie||Op §M Vi PRIBLILLIOUAP) SaNuaAa) Aduaund udiaioy uo suswaaow adueydxa udiauo) afevew o

JUIWRIRIS ALY Ayl S1334e uardesues) SwAapun 8y [nun Annba viyuim aaasal Suigpay
101507 U3 Ui BWodu! 3AISUAYRIdWOoD 1BUIC UILLIM PBpIod2) ILanodwos piemioy Byl UC S3SSO| pue SUIES paieisosse 3Ll yiim 'diysuoneias aspay e
UKl PBIEUISEP 10U §I 1DBJIU0) piemis) B JO JuBuodilod piemioy Y "AUnba uiglm 2A13531 BSpay MO YSED Yl Ul SWODUL 3AISUBYIIAWOD JaL0
uRIM pasiudosds aue Juauodwos J0ds ayl JO anea Jigy Ut 38uey 3yl o Suisue SasSO[ JO sues) diysuonea: a3pay e uwiim JuawWnISY; nspay ay) se
12RJIU0D PIEMIO) 513 4O UBLOCWOD 10ds a4l Ajuo sajeudisap Ajjessuad dnous) Byl 'SUDIIDESURI] 1522104 9Spay O) PasT ale S1IJIUCS PIEMIO) UBUM,

JUILBIEIS BSWIOUI

'aq: $1234Je uonJesue)l BulApapun BUY1 1NUN 3WoDUl aAsusYIdinod JBY10 ul pasiuBodas ase SUOIdO JO BNIBA BWIT AU Ul SIUBWAACKW BuiBpay jo
1502 € 52404 PRIUNGIze PUB Jdwiniisur 8udpay pateulisap syl wouy papnioxa st SUoRdO Jo anieA awil 3y | (5a8pay MO} 4SED JSpUN MOJEq PapeIap
se) padpay BuIBg Wal} Y JO UNIEU BY] 'OS JI pue wswrulsw SuiSpay e se pateudisap S| SANRAUGP 31 JaY)ayMm U0 spuadap JUSWSINSEILIa) Woly
Suisiie sso1 0 ued Suynsal ayl Suisiudosal 4O poYlaw By IUBLWSIBIS SWODU! 3yl Y3NOJYl SIUSWINIISY |BIDUEBLY S8 PSYISSR|D aJe A3} ‘Snjea sey
1e painseaw AJuanbasgns 3.8 pue DUl P3I3JU3 S| 1DR1IU0D SALBALIID € 318D 3yl U0 3N|eA Jig} 18 pasiudodal A|jemiu aie ‘(spiemioy pue sdems 'suopdo
Swpnpm) saalneAuap SuiBpay jany pue saaneauap a3ueydxa UBIBI0) SSANEALGPE dems B1E) 153133u1 Buisudwod 'SJUBWNRIISUL [BIDUBLY SARBAUSC]
sanianoe 3udpay pue SJUBWINIISUL [BIDUBUY FAIIBALIBP-UDU PUR BANBALIBG 3

PoOyIRW
153U31U] JANISLE Uy SUISn 1503 PISILIOW? 1 pIJED JJE 'SMOY YSED |BNIIBIILCD 1031102 0] JapJ0 Ul piay pue 15aJay pue jediduud jo siuawded
AJBIOS BJE 1BY] $MOj YSEDY |BMDBIUCD YlIM SUCHININSUI |[BOUBLY J3YI0 PUR SyUEq Yum piay spuny Buisudwos Aediound 'susedap Sunesg-15a0eiu

susodap Juueag-1sasalu]  q

*sanbiuy3a3 bonen{ea SIS pauILLIAISp S| NJBA HBy '193%/BU BARDE OU S1 313yl
2.2y 21BP 188Yys a3uB|Rg 341 UO SSALISNG O 8SOJT 3Y) I8 $20Ld PIg PAYSIgNd 01 33U81843J AQ PAUILIBIAP S| SIUAUASIAUI PRIOND JO anjeA Jiej ay

WaLLBIeIs
SWODUI 8Y1 U1 pasudooal 818 SJU3WIS3AL ANNba 1810 UC PaAIaDRS SPUBPIAI] PHOS ST IUBWISSAL! 31 Haym JUaWaILIs SLWODU| Yl O] $8550] pue
suied 35311 JO BL1pAdas ou YIm BWwodul SAIsudyaadLe) saUR0 Ut pasIuB0odal anjea Jigj Ut 533UBYD Ylim "3n|a Jie) 18 painseaw Auanbasqns ase Asy |
"BWOIUI BAIsURYRLdWOD JBLI0 yENCI) BN{EA Jey 18 PAINSeIW SE PA1BUBISIP A|Qea0Aa L] BJ8 SIUBUNSAAUI A1INDS 35311 "UCIILE0D3 [BIIUI L) SBIMUSA
JIuef pue s21e100s5e U1 $153491U] BUIPN|IX@ 'SIUBUNSSAUL PAISIUN pue pals) Suipnpous nasse jEIDUBLY BANRALIBP-UOU 3J8 S1uaunssaul Alnba Jao
SJuawisaAll Aunba oy e

‘uoiugooal

[EDIUL 1B UDIEDLY|SSED 2Y) SAUILLSPP dnosn ay] Juawnnsul [epueuy syl Jo Loneudisap 9yl 51094j2 a1ep 133YS SDUE|Eg SUI JB SIUBLUNIISU)
BS0YT JO WBWIINseawWat uanbesNs BN{EA Jigg 18 Ajjenill PapICoa) 2B SIUBWIMIISUI [BIDUBUY | STUSLILIISUY |BIJUBLYY, § SH4]l YIM SDuepJodoe Uy
SIUIWNNSU] [B]3URLI4

JuBuLedw Aue 01 1330gns 150D 1E PaswBoDal IR S3ILDOSSE Ul SIUAWISIAL! '183Yys aduejeq AuedwoD ayl u;

"disIaumO JO Spouad BYl SO papN[auUl e JESA By Suunp
4O pasodsip JO panboe saiuedwund 85011 JO S)NSa) ajgeInguIze 3y 1 NsaJs unesado ayl mO[eq TUBWAIE1S BLWIOUI BUL Ul PARN|JUI $I SINSAI BAYL .
U1 15848111 51 PUE 133YS 8JUR|EQ BY) U1 POI3W A1Inba au) Buisn U0 PIUNOIIE SIUSLWISBAUI Ul RAPNIDUI S1 $8JNIUBA JUIOT DUB $SIBIDOSSE JO 518552 18U
BUYI UI153U210) §,dnouoy 3y 1500 18 pasiuSasal A)eniul DUe ‘poylaw ANND2 343 3ulsn 107 PIIUNDIDE BI8 SAINILAA JUIO] PUB SIIRIDOSSE L) SIUBLLISHALY

“BUIYELIBPUN PIIBIDOSSE

UE 5B Paleadl 51 15ase1u1 Aunba syl uaD 1ad 05 ueyl sa1easE SUip|OYBIEYS B SBY 1) USIym Ul A1NUD UE JBA0 [OJIU0D BSIDUaXa JOUUED dnout) 3yl alaym
‘@auanyu JUBDYILTS as10Jaxa 01 Jamod BYY SeY 11 YDIym J3A0 PUB 153033 ANinba wie-8uo) B seY dnouD 2yl yoiym Ul Buiyelsapun ue S 31BIDOSSE Uy
SITEIDOSSE U] SIUIWISIAL]

BQBIaA0TDL 3 10U APW Bn[ea FuALIED BUT 21EDIDUI S2IURISWINDND Ul $83URYD 1O S1UBAR 4 Alluanbay
2JOW JO uaULiEdWw) S0y A)JENULUE PBISa) DIE 5IBSSP 8)qI8URIUI 31 1B PY| JuaULiedw) JO) AlJENUUR P3IS3] 1Nq 'PRSIJOWE 10U 2JE PUE 84 DIIOL0I3
B1UBDU| UE 3AEY 01 pawaap ate A3yl JO ‘84l SILIOUSDa II3Y) JBAC SISEQ Iuil-1431e)15 & UC PISIIOWE JBUNIS aue PUR 1500 1B Pj3y 1€ §1855e 9jqraueiy)

s3asse @|qidueju]  q

PANULIILOD SI3SSPE [BLIUZU-UOU J0 Juauedu)

panuiluod sapijod Suunosoe auedyudg 7

1707 12gwasa(] (E pPapus 1eak ay) Jog
(panupuo:) SIUaWIle]G |RIDUBUL] 2Y) O] S310N



34

‘P7Z 910U Ul UBAIE B ANCID) BYT JO SBNIAIDE 1UBLISSBUEW HSI SYI UO UDIIBLIOHUI JBYLINg

"Wy padpay syl uo 5518 asURdxa 153UFIUI B3 SE AR JWRS 3U) 18 JUBLISIEIS WO Byl LIYlIm BSUBDXS ISBU3IU| O3 Payisse|das Bue
BAlysD) 93pay MO|) YSEI B3 UIYIM PBPIOISL SIS50] PUB SUIES pajejnwundde ay: ‘uawnisul SuiBpay ay) se pajeusisap ale sdems 31es
152J51U1 LD 1YM JOJ 1GBP D1BJ BIGRLIEA SE Y3NS) Aljpqer| 1O 19SS [e1dueLy ¢ jo bOIUSOD8s 33 Ul $1Nse) SWway padpay 15e33.0 a1 2iaym,. -

. _pue ‘(1yesone 3yl Jo 3j)| pR12adxa ayl JIAD
uonenasda) YBN0JYL S| JEIONE IO YDIUM) JUSLIBIEIS BLLODIUL 8] S109)J8 13SSE |2IDURUY-UOU 8Y3J SB IUBLIBIEIS SLCDU| 8y L) papIodal
8¢ $3%30] JO SWES B581)) 3SSE DY) JO 150D JEINU] 3YI U} PBPNIIL) PUE PaYISSEDBS 8.8 dalasal 3u)3pay Jo 1500 2Y1 puE dAasal d8pay
MOJ YSED 3YI L0 UIYIM PIPIOIBS $3550] pue suied paleiwinaoe ayy {uawniisu) BuiBpay syl se pal1eudisap aue SSANRALIBD ADudlind
U120y Yo)ym I0) YeI2JIE JO Aseyand 3YI SB YONS) 13SSE [BIDUBLY-UOU B JO HONIUSOISI 31 Ul SNSRI Wal) paBpay 1SED3J0) Bl 3JaUm,

‘pasiudoday 51 wad padpay aw se pouad

- BWES BY1 Ul SINI2C UONEBIYISSEDBL YoNg ‘paluasasd s) wal palpay syl se uonded Swes syl uiyllm JUSwalels swodul 3yl u) papnau)

puU® paiyisse;dal aje aasssal SuiBpay JO 1502 @yl pue aAasal aEpay MOy USED U1 YI0q U] PAPIOD3L SBSSO| Pue suled palejnwnaoe

Y1 ‘(uawruisul BuiBpay ayl se pajeufisep 248 SBABAULBP Aduaund USIBI0) PEIEI20SSE BUI PUB [9Nn) Ying UDiym Joy pry 18 JO
aseynund oyt S Y3NS) 1USWDILIS JWOIU] 3YI unlim Sasuadxa Jo anuaAal JO LoHUBOIAI 3y U 5IYNSE) Wall paBpay 15808404 Byl UBYM  *

1SMO||0f S8 1UBWIATRIS BWOY] 31 §10aye
Way padpay ayl Usym aaJasa) a3pay Moy YSED Ayl WOJ) PayIsseidel a1e AJNDI UM aAI258. 33pay mo| YseD 81 Ul DAIB(NWINIIE S3550| PUB sujen)
SIUBWISTHDE UOHEIYISSEIIaY

sadieyd Funesado-uou Jayig) wyum paILasaLd pue
Buijunoaose adpay 10) SuiAgenb 10U SBANEALEP UO Suled/(5RS50]) PSI|ERJUN/PISIESY SE JUBWSIEIS HWODL Y UIyim PIpIOda. Si S53UBANIBYBU)

. ‘Auedisumned
SAleAap 3Y) Jo dnoun Byl 4O NSU PRI Ayl bl saFUBYD Aug auay) I 1O WSl padpsy UANSPUN BYL pUe IUBWINIISUL SANRALBP
318 153.91U1 JYT UBBMIIG SLLIS] (BDIILD BY1 Ul SIJUIBYIP e 5531 J1 95U ABW S53UANIBHAUI SJudwAed aled 1saudiw Jo safpagup .

‘Auedisiunos
aAlleAuap 3yl JO dnoJto) Byl JO NS APaEIS ayl ul s33ueyD BLe 3Byl § JO PalRWSE AEuEO SEm leym Wwoyy saSueyd uondesuent
1SE2240) 241 JO Sunun a1 J1 sue ABL SSBUBANIDYAUL 's@seydund Aduauund udia1o) jo sadpay pue saseyound [any jo salpay u| .

Buimo||04 BYY BPN|OUL $SAUBAIDFHBY JO SIUNOS

‘I'1 4O ORRJ B 18 PAUIBIUIEL §1 S30ULISUI J|B L1 pue ASs1esls JuaweSeuew 35U 5,dnoioy s jo siuswadinbas syl

Wi paullije sioilel 88pay ayl () pue !diysuoiess JIWOUOIS Jeyl wol) 3NsaJ 1eyl $33uky> anjeA U1 S18UILLOP 10U SB0PD 31 NP0 JO 134D ayl (i)
auawnsul SuiSpey ayl pue wall padpay ayl usamlag dIYSUoIIE[a) JUOUOIE UE, §1 8431 (1) sauawauinbas s53U3AND348 Buima||o) aul JO |8 S1aaw
2 J Bununodoe adpay Joy saytEnt diysuoness BuiBpay v uswnsuy SuiSpay pue wal palpay ayl usaamiaq sI5IX diySLOHER) JIWOUOID Ue Jey]
2JNSUD O] 'SIUBLUSSSSE SSRUBAIIRYE aandadsoud ypouad YBnouya pue ‘diysuonejal a8pay syl JO uoidasul 3Y1 1B PEUILLIDIAP 51 SSRURAILDALD a8paH
SSUIAMIINYP SFPIH

‘A1inba ulylim Baasal 3Bpay Mo YseD 3yl Ul papIodal AISUIDJODDE PUB S59U3AID34)8 JO) PASSasse e
uonesURS BJniry PR1DSAXa ajqeqoud AySiy e jo diysuoneds aSpay e Ui se pAleURISAD SIUSLLINIISUS [BISUBUY SAIIBALIBP JO BNjEA JIB) BU) Ul SaBUBYD
sa3poy Mo YseD  p

"Annba U) pE133)j8) BIP 5IUALLISAALI AIPIBUOW-UGY UO §8550] pUk sued adueydx3 Wawruisul 3u3pay SA113a3
UB P pISsasSE SI PUE palrudisap uaaq Sel Wl SUl S53JUN JUSWAIEIS SWODU! 31 01 USYe] a1 SILBWISIALL AJPIBUOW UC 53550] pue suled adueyaxg

$2pasa/(sa8irYD) YONR|SULNFL ADUBUND 13N UIY1IM
paluasasd 828 PUB INDD0 A3YT YDiym Ul poLUad 311 Ul IUSWITRIS 3L0OU| 8Y1 U] pasIu30D3) 348 SBAIIRALID INS JO INBA JIRY Y1 UI SIUBWBAO Sanljiqe!|
9563| ‘01 pallw] 10U Ing Bupnjau) 'dnosD 3yl Jo ADUauNI [EUQREIUSSaId Syl UEYT JBYIT SIOUSLND Ul pa1euBisan S3IIGe [EIURUY UO STUSLIBACLI
a3upyaxa UBI5104 218NN 0] JapJo wi ‘'diysuonelal 88pay B U paieudisap 10U BJE 1B 'S10BJIUGD BAIRALIBP ABUZLN> LBIBJ0) 01U 5J31UB dnouty By |

JUBWAIEIS SLIODU| SYI O PALISSE|DRI AR1RIPALILI 51 8AI3$3. 23paY MO YSED a1 Ui $50] 4O Lted
3nljeINLLIND BY3 PUR panUNUO3SIP s Suituncaoe adpay Y1330 o) parradxe ss8uo| ou st ‘paldde Bununoooe a8pay yaym 10y pue aigeqosd AlyBiy 2g o)
0BUIWIBIBP ASNOIARE SEM UDIUM UDIDESLEI] 1SEI3J0) € 2IBUM W U33q 2ABY 01 PANUNUOI 3A11D3IG0 JuawaBeurW Y51 aU1 PEY JUDWSBILIS SLIGIU|
2yl s1oedw) w21 padpay aul Se sl YINs (1un SAIRSa) 32PaY Moy 158D 3Y) Ul SUIBWAI 3A102Iq0 JuswaBeurw ysu vy a3ueyd 2yl 0} Joud Buisue sso)
IS0 e SANZNWND PAIBIDOSSE FYL PUE PINLILODSIP St BUnUnoase 88pay U3yl '8An32iqo uawaFeuew! ysu ayl Ul 38ueyYd E ég BIAYT BsBYM TUBWBIELS
aWoouy 8yl s1oedw! wai padpay a1 SB B YINS [IUN dAtasas a8pay Moy USeD Yl Ul SUlBWSY 550 s0 UIEE aAnenwnD Aue UNJJ0 01 paldadxa
IS S UGIIIESURIL ISEDBUGY |R1IUL BY1 §I 'PBINIONIISS §1U0 PlOS §) '534dxa JuaWnIsul 18yl PUe JusWwnulsul Buipay e Se palzudisap S SAIIBALIBP B UaYmM

PANUIIUDD SIUBWNIISUI [EIDUBLI]

panunuod sapod 3uunodde Juedjudls 7

1ZOT 19quwa38q LE PapLa JE3A 841 J04
(panuluoD) SIUB3WSLEIS |BIDUEUI{ 3Y] O) SIION



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Financial instruments continued

e Longterm borrowmgs
Long-term borrowings are recorded at amortised cost. Certain leases contain interest rate swaps that are closely related to the underlying financing
and as such, are not accounted for separately as an embedded darivative.

f Impairment of financial assets

At each bzlance sheet date, the Group recognises provisions for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at amortised cost, based on
12-month or lifetime losses depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The simplified approach,
based on the calculation and recognition of lifetime expected credit losses, is applied to contracts that have a maturity of ane year or less, including
trade receivables.

When determining whether there has been 3 significant increase in credit risk since inital recogniticn and when esurmating the expected credit loss, the
Group considers reasenable and supportable information that is relevant and available. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment, including forward-ooking information. Such forward-lcoking
information takes into consideration the forecast econamic conditions expected to impact the outstanding balances at the balance sheet date. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reascnable expectation of recovery, such as the custormer having fited for liquidation.

g Interest rate benchmark referm

In 202Q the Group adopted the amendments to IFRS 9 and 1FRS 7 relating to the interest rate benchmark reform Phase 1, (Phase 1) and in 2021 the
Group has adopted the amendments ta IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 relating ta the interest rate benchmark reform Phase 2, (Phase
2%

The Phase 1 amendments provide temporary relief from applying certain hedge accounting requirements to hedging relationships directly affected,
by IBOR reform. The reliefs have the effect that IBOR reform does not cause hedge accounting ta terminate prior to contracts being amended.
where transition to an alternative benchmark rate has taken place, the Group ceases to apply the Phase t amendments and instead applies the Phase
2 amendments.

Hedee accounting
Where the Group continues to apply the Phase 1 amendments, the following reliefs are applied:
«  when considering the highly probable requirement, the Group has assumed that those benchmark rates that need to transmon toan
alternative benchmark rate, on which the Group's hedged long-term borrowings is based does not change as a result of IBOR refarm;
« in assessing whether the hedge is expected 10 be highly effective on a forward-looking basis the Group assumed that those
benchmark rates that need to be transitioned to an alternative benchmark rate, an which the cash flows of the hedged long-term
borrowings and the interest rate swaps that hedge them are based, are not altered by 1BOR reform; and
« the Group did not recycle the cash flow hedge reserve relating to the period after the IBOR reform is expected to take effect

When the Group ceased to apply the Phase 1 amendments, the Group amends its hedge designation to reflect changes which are required by IBOR
reform, but only to make one or more of the following changes:
+ designating an alternative benchmark rate (contractually or non-contractually specified} as the hedged risk;
«  amending the description of the hedged item, including the description of the designated portion of the cash flows being hedged cr
» amending the description of the hedging instrument,

The assaciated hedge documentation is updated to reflect these changes in designation by the end of the reporting periad in which the changes are
made. - Such amendments do not give rise to the hedge relationship being-discontinued.

"'When the Group transitions to an alternative benchmark rate, the accumulated amounts within the cash flow hedge reserve are determined to be
based on the alternative benchmark rate and no reclassification adjustments are made from the cash flow hedge reserve to the Incame statement.

Long-term borrowings and lease liabilities

Phase 2 of the amendments requires that, for financial instruments measured using amortised cost measurement, changes to the basis for determining
the contractual cash flaws required by interest rate benchmark reform are reflected by adjusting their effective interest rate prospectively. No gain
or loss is recognised Upon transition to the new benchmark. The expedient is only applicable to direct changes that are required by interest raté
benchmark reform.

For lease liabilities where there is a change to the basis for determmining the contractual cash flows, as a practical expedient the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a discount rate that reflects the change in the interest rate where the change is required
by IBOR reform.

Further information an the management of and uncertainty arising from interest rate reform is given in note 22h. No amounts have been recarded
in the current or pricr periods as a result of these amendments.

Derecognition of financial assets and (iabilities
A financia! 2sset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it has been settled, sold, cancelled or has expired.

where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 3 new liability,
such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts are recognised in the income statement,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Employee benefit plans

a Pension obligations .
The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the Fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to emgloyee service in the current and prior years.

Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The Group's net obligaticn in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately far each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employeas have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years. The benefit is discounted to determine its present value
and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on AA-rate corporate bonds of the
appropriate currency that have durations approximating those of the Group's obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using
the projected unit credit method. when the net obligation calculation resuits in an asset to the Group, the recognition of an asset is limited to the
present value of any future refunds, net cof the relevant taxes, from the plan or reductions in future ¢ontributions to the plan ('the assat ceiling’). The
fair value of scheme assets is based on market price information and, in the case of quoted securities, is the published bid price. The fair value of
insurance policies which exactly match the timing and amount of some or all benefits payable under the scheme are deemed to be the present value
of the related obligations. Langevity swaps are measured at their fair value.

Current service ¢osts are recognised within employee costs in the year in which they arise. Past service costs are recognised in the event of a plan
amendment or curtaiiment, or when the Group recognises the related restructuring costs or severance obligations. The ret interest is calculated by
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined henefit obligation at the begianing of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset,
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability or asset during the perdod as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net
interest and other expenses related to the dafined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial
gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding interest) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), are recegnised immediately in
the statement of other comprehensive income. Re-measurements are not reclassified to the income statement in subsequent periods.

b  Severance obligations

Severance obligations are recognised when empleyment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accapts veluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises a provision for severance payments when it is demonstrably
committed to either terminating the employment of current empicyees accarding to a detaifed farmal plan without realistic possibitity of withdrawal,
or providing severance payments as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

Other employee benefits are recognised when there is deemed to be a present obligation.

Taxation
Current tax assets and fiabilities are measurad at the amount expected 1o be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements, with the following exceptions:

. Where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 3
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accaunting nor taxable profit or loss;

+ Inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries or associates, where the timing of the reversal -

of the temporary differences can be controfied and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future; and

- Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, carried Forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised. .

Deferred incame tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related asset
is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates 1o items that are credited or charged to equity. Otherwise income tax is recognised
in the income statement or other comprehansive income.

Inventories
Inventories, including aircraft expendables, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, determined by the weighted average cost method.
Inventores include mainly aircraft spare parts, repairable aircraft engine parts and fuel.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and deposits with any quaiifying financial institution repayable on demand or maturing within three
months of the date of acquisition and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Share-based payments

IAG has a number of equity-settled share-based employee incentive plans in which certain of the Group's employees participate. Prior to the merger
with |beria, the awards were made under schemes operated by the Group and represented rights over its ordinary shares. These awards rolled over
into awards in respect of shares in |AG at the merger. The awards are made under schemes operated by |AG and represent rights over its ordinary
shares. The cost of these awards is recharged from IAG to the Group and recognised in intercampany payables to (AG.

Provisions

Provisions are made when an gbligation exists for 2 present liability in respect of a past event and where the amount of the obligation can be reliably
estimated and where it is considered prabable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation. Where it is not
considered probable that thare will be an outflow of economic rescurces required to settle the cbligation, the Group does not recognise a provision,
but discloses the matter as 3 contingent liability. The Group assesses whether each matter is probable of there being an outfiow of economic
rescurces to settle the obligation at each reporting date.

Other empioyee related provisions are recognised for direct expenditures of business recrganisation such as severance payments (restructuning
provisions) where plans are sufficiently detailed and well advanced, and where appropriate communication to those affected has been undertaken
at the balance sheet date.

Restoration and handback provisians arising on inception of a lease are recognised as a provision with a corresponding amount recognised as part
of the ROU assat Any subsequent change in estimation refating to such costs are reflected in the ROU asset. Maintenance and handback provisions
that cccur through usage or through the passage of time are recognised as such activity occurs, with a corrasponding expense recorded in the
Income statement. Any subsequent change in estimation are recognised in the Incame statement.

The methad for determining legal claims provisions is determined an a claim by claim basis. Where a claim includes a significant population of items,
the weighted average provision is estimated by determining all potential cutcomes and the probability of their occurrence. Where a claim relates to
a single item, then the Group determines the associated provision by applying the most likely outcome giving consideration to alternative outcomes.

Where an individual claim is significant, the disclosure of quantitative information is restricted to the extent that it does not prejudice the outcome
of the claim. If the effect is material, expected future cash flows are discounted using a rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
provision, Where discounting is used, the effect of unwinding the discount rate is recognised as a finance costin the Incorne statement.

Revenue recognition

2  Passenger revenue _
The Greup's revenue primarily derives from transportation services for both passengers and cargo. Revenue is recognised when the transportation
service has been provided. '

Passenger tickets are generally paid for in advance of transpartation and are recognised, net of discounts, as Deferred revenue on ticket sales in
current liabilities until either the customer has flown or for flexible tickets, when unused ticket revenue is recognised or the ticket expires unused,

Az the time of expected travel, revenue is recognised in relation to flexible tickets where a custemer can reschedule the date of intended travel,
that are not expected to be used, a term referred to as ‘unused tickets'. This revenue is recognised based on the terms and conditions of the ticket
and analysis of historical experience. For these unused flexible tickets, revenue is recagnised only when the risk of a significant reversal of revenue
is remote based on the terms and conditions and analysis of historical experience. The estimation regarding historical experience is updated at each
reporting date.

Where a flight is cancelled, the passenger is entitled to either compensaticn, 2 refund, changing to an alternative flight or the receipt of a voucher.
Where compeansation is issued to the customer, such payments are presented net within Passenger revenue against the original ticket purchased.
Where the Group provides a refund 1o a customer, Deferred revenue on ticket sales is reduced and no amount is recorded within revenue. Where a
voucher is issued it is retained within Deferred revenue on ticket sales until such time as it is redeemed for a flight or it expires, at which time it is
recorded within Passenger revenue. Revenue recognised associated with the issuance of vouchers prior to their redemption by The Group also
recognises revenue by estimating the level of such vouchers that will not be redeemed prior to expiry using analysis of historical experience. The
amount of such revenue recognised is constrzined, where necessary, such that the risk of a significant reversal of revenue in the future is remote.

Fayments received in relation to certain ancillary services regarding passenger transpertation, such as change fees, are not considered to be distinct
from the performance obligation to provide the passenger flight. Payments relating to these ancillary services are recognised in Ceferred revenue
on ticket sates in current liabilities unti} the customer has flown.

The Group considers whether it is an agent or a principal in relation to passenger transportation services by considering whether it has a performance
obligation to provide services 1o the customer or whether the obligation is to arrange for the services to be pravided by a third party. The Group
acts as an agent where (i) it collects various taxes, duties and fees assessed on the sale of tickets to passengers and remits these to the relevant
taxing authorities; and {if} where it provides interline services to airline partners cutside of the Group. Commissions earned in relation to agency
services are recognised as revenue when the underlying goods or services have been transferred to the custemer. In ali other instances, the Group
considers it acts 2s the principal in rejation to passenger transpeortation services.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 Cecember 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Revenue recognition continued

b Cargorevenue
The Group has identified a single performance cbligation in ralation to cargo services and the associated revenue is measured at its stand-alone
selling price and recognised on satisfaction of the perfarmance obligation, which occurs on the fuifiiment of the transportation service,

¢ Other revenue
The Group has identified several performance obligations in relation to services that give rise to revenue being recognised within Other revenue.
These services, their performance obligations and asscciated revenue recognition include:
. the provision of maintenance services and overhaul services for engines and airframes, where the Group is engaged te enhance an asset
while the customer retains contral of the asset. Accordingly, the performance obligations are satisfied, and revenue recognised, over time.
The Group estimates the proportion of the contract completed at the reporting date and recognises revenue based on the percentage of
completion of the contract;
. the provision of ground handling services, where the performance obligations are fulfilled when the services are provided, which cccurs
upon the provision of the service; and
«  the provision of holiday and hotel services, where the performance obligations are satisfied over time as the customer receives the benefit
of the service.

d  Customer loyalty pragrammes

The Group provides a loyalty scheme te custemers through the acquisition of points from Avios Group (AGL) Limited which are then 155ued to
Executive Club members as part of the ticket The revenue recegnised when the transportation service is provided is reduced by the price of the
loyalty points issued. '

The Group also operates other smalier loyalty programmes. In accordance with IFRS 15 'Revenue from contracts with cuscomers; the standalone
selling price attributed to the awarded loyaity points is deferred as a liability and recognised as revenue on redemption of the points and provision
of service ta the participants te whom the points were issued. The standalone seliing price of the loyalty peints is based on the value of the awards
for which the points could be redeemed. The Group alse recegnises revenue assaciated with the proportion of award credits which are not expected
to be redeemed, based on the analysis of historical experience.

Exceptional items

Exceptional itemns (disclosed in note 3) are those that in management's view need ta be separately disclosed by virtue of their size or nature and
where such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity's financial performance. While management have a definad list of items and a
quantitative threshold that would merit categorisation as exceptional that has been established through historical experience, the Group retains the
flexibility to add additional items should their size or nature merit such presentation. The classification of an item as exceptionai is approved by the
tAG Board, through the IAG Audit and Compliance Committee.

The financial performance of the Group is monitorad by the Management Committee and the Board on 2 pre-exceptional basis to enable comparison
to prior reporting periods as well as to other selected companies, but also for making strategic, financial and operational decisions.

The exceptionai itams that may be recarded in the income statement include, but are not limited to, significant settlement agreements with the
Greup's pension schemes; significant restructuring; the impact of business combination transactions that do not contribute to the ongoing rasuits of
the Group; significant discontinuance of hedge accounting; legal settlements; individually significant tax transactions; and the impact of the sale,
disposal or impairment of an asset or investment in a business. Where excepticnal items are separately disclosed, the resultant tax impact is
additionally separately disclosed. While certain exceptional itams may cover mare than a single reparting period, such as significant restructuring
events, they are non-recurring in nature.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised where there is reascnable assurance that the grant will be received. Loans provided and/or guaranteed by

governments that represent market rates of interest are recorded at the amount of the proceeds received and recognised within Borrowings. Thase -

lcans provided and/or guaranteed by governments that represent below market rates of interest are measured at inception at their fair value and
recognised within Borrowings, with the differential to the proceeds received recorded within Deferred income and released to the relevant financial
statement caption in the Income statement on a systematic basis. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in the
Income statement in the refevant financial statement caption on a systematic basis in the perieds in which the expenses are racognised.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make certain critical accounting judgements and use key sources of estimation
uncertainty that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Thase estimates ard
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and varicus other factors believed to be reascnable under the circumstances. Actual
results in the future may differ from estimates upon which financial information has been prepared. These underlying assumpticns are reviewed on
ar ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised (n the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periads if these are also affected.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that affect the current year or have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment within the next
financial year are as foellows.

2  Employee benefit obligations: defined benefit pension schemes
At 31 December 2021 the Group recognised £1,508 million in respect of employee benefit assets (2020: £303 million) and £241 million in respect
of employee benefit obligations (2020: £431 million). Further information on employee benefit obligations is disclosed in note 27,

Employee benefit obligations are determined using actuarial valuations. Actuarial valuations involve making assumptions about discount rates,
expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these
schemes, such assumptions are subject to significant uncertainty. The assumptions relating to these schemes are disclased in note 27. The Graup
determines the assumptions to be adopted in discussion with qualified actuaries. Any difference between these assumptions and the actual outcome
will impact future net assets and total comprehensive income. The sensitivity to ¢changes in pension assumptions is disclosed in note 27.

Under the Group's Airways Pension Scheme ('APS’) and New Airways Pension Scheme {NAPS") increases to pensions are based on the annual
Government Pension Increase (Review') Orders, which since 2011 have been based on the Consumer Prices Index (‘CPI'). Additicnally, in APS there
is pravision for the Trustee to pay increases up ta the level of the Retail Prices Index ('RPY), subject ta certain affordability tests. Historically market
expectations for RPI could be derived by comparing the prices of UK government fixed-interest and index-linked gilts, with CPl assessed by
considering the Bank of England’s inflation target and comparison of the construction of the two inflation indices.

In February 2019, following the UK Hause of Lords Economic Affairs Cormmmittee report an measuring inflation, the National Statistician concluded
that the existing methadclogy was unsatisfactory and proposed a number of options to the UK Statistics Authority (UKSAY). In March 2019, the
UKSA recommendad to the UK Chancellor of the Exchequer that the publication of the RP! cease at a point ta be determined in the future and in
the intervening period, the RP| be addressed by bringing in the methods of the CPIH {a proposed variant to CPl). In September 2019, the UK
Chancellor of the Exchequer announced his intention to consult with the Bank of England and the UKSA on whether to implement these proposed
changes te RPlin the period of 2025 to 2030. On 13 January 2020, it was confirmed that the period of consultation will cammence on 1t March
2020 for a period of six weeks, Following this consultation, on 25 Novemnber 2020 the UK Chancellor of the Exchequer and the UKSA confirmed
that from February 2030 onwards CPH will replace RPI with na campensation to holders of index-linked gilts.

Following the Chancellor's announcement in September 2019 and through to 31 December 2021, market-implied break-even RPI inflation forward
rates for periads after 2030 have reduced in the investment market, Therefore, in assessing RPI and CP! from investment market data, allowance
has been made for alignment between RP| and CP! from 2030 onwards.

b  Passenger revenue recognition
At 31 December 2021 the Group recagnised a liability of £3,512 million in respect of deferred revenue on ticket sates (2020: £2,429 million) of whlch
€35 million (2020: £36 million) related to customer loyaity programmes, as disclosed in note 18,

Passenger revenue is recognised when the transportation service is provided. At the time of transportation, revenue is also recognised in respect of
unused tickets and is estimated based on the terms and conditions of the tickets and historical experience. The Group considers that there is no
reasonable possible change to unused ticket assumptians that would have a matenial impact on Passenger revenue recorded in the year.

€ Income taxes
At 31 December 2021 the Group recognised £574 million in respect of deferred tax assets (2020: £401 million). Further information on current and
deferred tax hiabilities is disclosed in note 8.

The Group recognises deferred income tax assets only to the extent that it is probable that the taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax lasses ¢an be utilised. Management uses judgement in considering the past and
current operating performance and the future projections of performance faid out in the approved business plan in order to assess the probability
of recoverability. In exercising this judgement, while there are no time restrictions on the utilisation of historic tax losses in the principal jurisdictions
in which the Group operates, future cash flow projections are forecast for a period of up to ten years from the balance sheet date, which represents
the period over which it is probable that future taxable profits will be available.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had unrecognised capital losses of £307 million which it does not reasonably expect to utilise.

d  Engineering and other aircraft costs

At 31 December 2021 the Group recognised a provision of £473 million (2020; £442 million) in respect of maintenance, restoration and handback
Movements on the provisions are disclosed in note 21.

The Group has a number of contracts with service providers to replace or repair engine parts and for other maintenance checks. These agreements
are complex and generally cover a number of years. Provistons for maintenance, restoration and handback are made based on the best estimate of
the likely committed cash flow. In determining this best estimate, the Group applies significant estimation as to the level of forecast costs expected
to be incurred when the aircraft is returned to the lessor. The assumptions used in this estimation include aircraft utilisation, expected maintenance
Intervals, future maintenance costs and the aircraft’s conditicn. The Group considers that there is no reasanably possible change to a single
assumption that would have a material impact on the provisicns, however a combination of changes in multiple assumptions may.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

e Impairment of indefinite-lived non-financial assets
At 31 December 2021 the Group recognised £762 million (2020: £760 million) in respect of indefinite-lived nen-financial assets, including goodwill.
Further information on these assets is included in note 13.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite economic lives are tested, as part of the cash-generating units to which they relate, for impairment
annually and at other times when such indicators exist The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations, which use a weighted average multi-scenario discounted cash flow model, which are then compared to the carrying amoUnt of the
associated cash-generating unit :

In determiring the carrying value of each cash-generating unit, the Group allocates all associated operating tangrble and intangible assets, including
ROU assets. In addition, the Group has allocated certain liabilities to the carrying value of each cash-generating unit where those liabilities are critical
to the underlying operations of the cash-generating unit and in the event of a disposal of the cash-generating unit would be required to be transferred
to the purchaser. Such liabilities include lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are also deducted within the recoverable amount calculation.

The Group has applied judgement in the weighting of each scenaric in the discounted cash flow mode! and these calculations require the use of
estimates in the determination of key assumptions and sensitivities as disclosed in note 13.

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. Where such indicators are
identified, then non-financiat assets are tested for impairment.

Critical accounting judgements

a Investment in associates
At 31 December 2021 the Group recognised £1,737 million (2020: £1,688 million) in respect of investments in associates. Further infermation en
these assets is included in note 14.

The Group owns 13.55 per cent of the equity of 18 Opco Holding S.L ('lberia’) and 8626 per cent of the equity of Avios Group {(AGL) Limited {AGL).
The Group uses the equity method of accounting for its investments in these entities because under IFRS itis considered to have significantinfluence |
but not control. Significant influence is defined as the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control. The Group has significant influence over Iberia, even though it holds less than 20 per cent of the voting power of Iberia, due
to its representation on the IAG Management Committee, the management committee of |beria’s ultimate parent company. The Group has
significant influence over AGL due to representation on the AGL board as provided for by the governance agreement, but not contral as it does
not have the power to direct the activities of AGL even though it holds more than 5C per cent of the voting power of AGL.

b  Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options

The Group determinas the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods cavered by an aption to extend the lease
if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods coverad by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
The Group appiies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
Such judgement includes consideration of fleet plans which underpin approved business plans, and historic experience regarding the extension of
leases. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances and affects the
Groups ability 10 exercise ar not to exercise the ogtion to renew or to terminate. Further information is given in note 11

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
The following amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in the year ended 31 December 2021, but do not have an impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group:

«  COVID-19 refated rent concessions beyend 30 June 2021 - Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases; and

« Interest rate benchmark reform — Phase 2 - amendments ta (FRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 effective far periods beginning on

or after 1)anuary 2021.

The IASB and iFRIC have issued the following standards, amendments and interpretations with an effective date after the year end of these finarcial
statements which management believe could impact the Group in future periods. The Group has assessed of the impact of these standards,
amendments and interpretations and it is not expected that these will have a material effect on the reported income or net assets of the Group.
Unless otherwise stated, the Groug plans to adopt the following standards, interpretations and amendments on the date they become mandatory:

=  Property, plant and equipment: proceeds before intended use — amendments to IAS 16 effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022,

« Reference to the Conceptual Framework - amendments to IFRS 3 effective for pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2022,

+«  Onerous tontracts — cast of Fulfilling 3 contract - amendmants to [AS 37 effective for periods beginning on or after | January 2022,

«  Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020 - effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022;

«  Classification of liabiliues as current or ner-current - amendments ta IAS 1 effective for periods beginning on ar after 1 January 2023

. Definition of accounting esimate - amendments te 1AS 8 effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023;

- Disclosure of accounting palicies ~ Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice statement 2 effective for periods beginning on cr after 1
fanuary 2023 and '

- Deferred tax related to 2ssets and fiabitit'es arising from a single transaction ~ Amendments to IAS 12 effective for periods beginning on
.or after 1)anuary 2023 :
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- Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the determinatian of the impact of COVID-19 - cash flow forecasts
As a result of COVID-19 the Group has experienced a significant decline in the leve! of Right activity and does not expect to return to the level of
2019 activity until at least 2023 and accordingly the Group has applied estimation and judgement in the evaluation of the impact of COVID-19
regarding the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities within the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has applied estimation and judgement in the evaluation of the impact of COVID-13 on the estimation uncertainty of determining cash
flow forecasts as part of the approved business plans. The details regarding the inputs and assumptions used in the determination of these cash flow
forecasts are given in the gaing concern basis of preparation. The following items utilise these cash fow forecasts consistently, which are in.some
instances significantly different from judgements applied in previous years:

a  Discontinuance of hedge accounting

In determining when a farecast transaction is required to be discontinued or to remain in a hedge relationship, judgement is required as to whether
a forecast transaction that was previously highly probable continues to be expected to occur or is no lenger expected to occur. The Group applied
the capacity cutput from cash flow forecasts as part of the approved business plans in order to determine the forecast level of revenue generation
and fuel consumption over the pericds in which hedge accounting has been applied.

In the year to 31 December 2021, the group recognised a credit of £113 million (2020: charge of £E890 millicn) arising from a combination of the
discontinuance of hedge 3ccounting in the year and the fair value movement on those refationships where hedge accounting was discontinued inv
the year, but for which the underlying hedging instrument had not matured at 1 January 2021. This was represented by a credit of £118 million (2020
expense of £886 million) related to the fuel derivatives, and an expense of £11 million (2020: credit of £49 million) related to the associated fuel
foreign currency derivatives. The credit to Passenger revenue of £6 million (2020: charge of £53 million) relates to the discontinuation of hedge
accounting of the assaciated foreign currency derivatives on forecast revenue.

The Group's risk management strategy has been to build up these hedges gradually over a three-year period when the level of forecast passenger-
revenue and fuel consumption were higher than current expectations. Accordingly, the hedge accounting for these transactions has been’
discontinued and the credit recognised to the income statement. The credit relating to revenue derivatives and fuel derivatives has been recorded

in the income statement within Passenger revenue and Fuel, oil and emission charges, respectively. ’

b Laong-term fleet plans and associated impairment

The Group derives long-term fleet plans from the cash flow forecasts arising from the approved busmess plans. in deriving these long-term plans,
the Group applies judgement with respect to consideration of the period of temperary and permanent grounding of fieet assets, the deferrai of the
delivery of certain aircraft and the assumpticns around specific provisions relating to leased fleet assets. )

During the year to 31 December 2021, the Group recognised a credit of £7 million relating to previously impaired engines (2020: £417 million
impairment charge relating tc fleet and engines). The engine impairment reversal relates to certain engines which had been fully impaired during
2020 having been leased to 2 third party in the fourth quarter of 2021. The impairment reversal was recorded within Right of use assets relating to
leased aircraft Further information is given in note 3. During the year to 31 December 2021, the Group recognised an impairment charge of £32
million, represented by an impairment of fleet assets of £17 million and an impairment of property assets of £15 million. The fleet impairment related
to five leased Airbus A321 aircraft which were impaired down to their recoverable value at 31 Decemnber 2021

¢ Impairment testing of the Group’s cash-generating unit

Due 10 the estimation uncertainty of the timing and duration of the recovery from COVID-19, the Group has adopted a weighted average multi-
scenario discounted cash flow model derived from the cash flow forecasts from the approved business plans. The Group exercises judgement in
determining the weighting between these scenarios in the value-in-use model.

Having undertaken this impairment testing, in the year to 31 December 2021, the Group has not recognised any impairment charge (2020 £nil).
While o impairment charge is arising, the headroom in the impairment test is particularly sensitive to changes in key assumptions. Further mfcrmauon
is given in note 13.

d Recoverability of deferred tax assets

In determining the recoverable amounts of the Group's deferred tax assets, the Group applied the future cash flow projections from the approved
business plans, Given the estimation uncertainty of the timing and duration of the recavery from COVID-19, the Group exercises judgement in the
determination of cash flows during this recavery and subsequent periods. '

In exercising this judgement, while there are no time restrictions on the utilisation of historic tax losses in the principal jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, future cash flow projections are forecast for 2 period of up to ten years from the balance sheet date.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the determination of the impact of COVID-19 — ather transactions
In addition to the estimation uncertainty refating to cash flow forecasts, the Group has applied the following estimation and judgement that impact
the consolidated financial statements:

e Revenus recognition

Historically, where a voucher has been issued to a customer in the event of a flight cancellation, the Group estimated, basad on histoncal experience,
the leval of such vouchers not expected to be used prior 10 expiry and recognised revenue accordingly. Due 1o the significant fevel of flight
cancellations arising from COVID-19 there remains insufficient historical data by which to reliably estimate the amount of these vouchers that will
not be used prior to expiry and accordingly, the Group is unable to estimate with a sufficiently high degree of probability that there will not be a
significant reversal of revenue in the future As such, consistent with the approach taken at 31 December 2020, the Group does not recognise
revenue 3rising from those vouchers issued due to COVID-19 related cancellations until either the voucher is redeemed or it expires.’
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 Decermnber 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the determination of the impact of COVID-19 continued

Significant transactions as a result of COVID-19
The Group has recorded the following additional significant transactions as a result of management actions in response to COVID-18:

f Loans and borrowings

To enhance liquidity due to the impact of COVID-19, the Group has entered into 2 number of financing initiatives during 2021 and subsequently,

which have been fully drawn unless otherwise stated, including:

. In February 2021, British Airways entered into a five-year term loan Export Development Guarantee Facility of £2.0 billion undenwritten by a syndicate
of banks, with 80 per cert of the principal guaranteed by UKEF.

*  In Novemnber 2021, British Airways reached agreement with UK Export Finance (UKEF) and a syndicate of banks for a S-year Export Cevelopment
Guarantee committed Credit Facility (UKEF facility) of £1.0 billion. This is additional to a £2.0 billion UKEF guaranteed facility above. The faohty is
unsecured. At 31 December 2021 the facility remains undrawn,

- In March 2021, British Airways entered into a Revolving Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks. The total amount available under the facmty for
British Airways is $1,346 million and will be available for a period of three years plus two one-year extension periods at the discretion of the lenders.
The facility is undrawn at the date of this report. While British Airways does not forecast drawing down on the Revoiving Credit Facility, should it do
50, the resultant debt would be securitised against specific landing rights and aircraft Concurrent to entering into the facility, British Airways
extinguished its US dollar secured Revalving Credit Facility due to mature in June 2021, and which had $786 million undrawn and available at 3i
December 2020.

. Injuly 2021, British Airways entared intc an asset-financing structure, under which seven aircraft were sold and leased back. These transactions mature
between 2031 and 2035, This arrangement was transacted thraugh an unconsolidated structured entity, wha in tum issued the British Airways Pass
Through Certificates, Series 20211, commonly referred to as Enhanced Equipment Trust Certificates (EETCS). In doing so the Group recognised £111
million ($150 million) of Asset financed liabilities.

Further information is given in note 20.

g Government assistance

Given the significant reduction in operations that have occurred during 202%, the Group has availed itself of the various employee support
mechanisms in the jurisdictions in which it operates. This has led to an amount of £190 million (2020: £258 million) being received in government
assistance and savings of £4 million (2020 £2 million) where employees have been paid directly by their respective governments. Thase amounts
received in the form of government assistance have been recordad net within Employee costs. Further infarmation is given in note 29.

h Defined benefit pension scheme contributions

On 18 December 2020 British Airways reached agreement with the Trustee of NAPS to defer deficit contributions on an interim basis for the period
between 1 October 2020 and 31 January 2027, On 19 February 2021 British Airways reached further agreement with the Trustee of NAPS to extend
the deferral of deficit contributions previously agreed in Qctober 2019 on the 31 March 2018 valuation, through to 30 September 2021. The
aggregate deferral of such contributions ameunted to £45C million, excluding interest Further infermation is given in note 27.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty arising from climate change

As a result of climate change the Group has designed and approved its Flightpath Net Zero climate strategy, which commits the Group to being net
carbon neutral by 2050. While approved business plans currently have a duration of three years, the Flightpath Net Zero climate strategy impacts
both the short, medium and long-term operations of the Group. .

The details regarding the inputs and assumptions used in the determination of the Flightpath Net Zero climate strategy include, but not Ilmlted to,
the following that are within the controf of the Group:
«  Theimpact on passenger demand for air travel as a result of both passenger trends regarding climate change and government policies; -

«  The additional cast of the Group’s commitment to increasing the level of Sustainable Aviation Fuels to ten per cent by 2030 and to fifty
per cent by 2050; :

«  The cost of incurring an increase in the level of carbon offsetting and carbon capture schemes; and

«  Theimpact of introducing more fuel-efficient aircraft and being able to operate these more efficiently.

In addition to these inputs and measures within the control of management, Flightpath Net Zero includes assumptions pertaining to governments
regarding the following

« Theimpact on passenger demand for air travel as a result of both passenger trends regarding climate change and government policies,

s Investment and policy regarding the development of Sustainable Aviation Fue! production facilities;

+ investment and improvements in air traffic management; -

s« The price of carhon threugh the EL and UK Emissions Trading Schemes (ETS) and the UN Carban Offsetmg and Reducton Scheme for-

International Aviation [CORSIA) and
- Eective market-based palicy measures in addition to the EU and UK ETS and CORSHA

The level of uncertainty regarding the impact of these factors increases over time. Accordingly, the Group has applied estimation in the evaluation
of the impact of climate change regarcing the recognition 3nd measurement of assets and liabilities within the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies cantinued
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty arising from climate change - cash flow forecast estimation

With the Flightpath Net Zero climate strategy assessing the impact over a long-term horizon to 2050, the level of estimation uncertainty in the
determination of cash flow forecasts increasas over time. For those assets and liabilities, where their recoverability is dependent on long-térm cash
flows, the following critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, to the extent they can be reliably measured, have
been applied:

a  Long-term fleet plans and useful economic lives
The Group's Flightpath Net Zero climate strategy has been developed in conjunction with the long-term fleet plans of each operating cempany. This
includes the annual assessment of useful lives and the residual values of each aircraft type.

Curing the course of 2020 as a result of the impact of COVID-19, the Group permanently stood down 41 aircraft, their associated engines and
rotable inventories. These penaneitly stood down aircraft were older generation aircraft, that were less fuel efficient, more carbon intensive and
maore expensive to Cperate than more modern models. With the permanent standing down of these aircraft, coupled with the future delivery of 46
fuel efficient aircraft as detailed in note 12, the Group considers the existing fleet assets align with the long-term fleet plans to achieve its Flightpath
Net Zero strategy. All aircraft in the fleat, and those due to be delivered in the future, have the capability tc utilise sustainable aviation fuels in their
operations without impediment. Accordingly, no impairment has arisen in the current or prior year as a result of the Group's decarbonisatian plans.

b Impairment testing of the Group's cash generating units

The Greup applies discounted cash Aow rmodels, derived from the cash flow forecasts from the approved three-year business plans. The Group's
Flightpath Net Zero ¢limate strategy is long-term in nature and includes commitments that will occur at differing points over this time horizon. To
the extent that certain of those commitments cccur over the short-term, then they have been incorperated inte the three-year business plans.

The Group adjusts the final year of the three-year business plan to incorporate the impacts of climate change that the Group can reliably estimate
at the reporting date. However, given the long-term nature of the Group's sustainability commitments, there are other aspects of these commitments
that cannot be reliably estimated at the reporting date and have been excluded from these adjustments. These adjustments incorporate the increased
utilisation of sustainable aviation fuel as well as price assumptions relating to sustainable aviation fuels and the price of carbon (both ETS and
CORSIA), which are derived from externally sourced prices. Where the Group considers such costs will be recovered through increased passenger
ticket fares, then a corresponding adjustment is made to increase passenger revenue.

As detailed in note 13b, the Group applies 2 long-term growth rate to this adjusted three-year business plan and the long-term growth rate includes
a specific adjustment to reduce the rate to reflect the Group’s assumptions regarding tha reduced demand impact arising from climate change. This
demand impact is derived with reference to external market data.

Further, in preparing the impairment models, the Group cash flow projections are prepared on the basis of using the current fleet in its current
caendition. The Group excludes the estimated cash flows expected to arise from future restructuring, assets nat currently in use by the Group and
expected technological advancements in aircraft and other technologies not available at the reporting date. The Group excludes potential future
legislation / regulation regarding carbon pricing and/or alternative schemes not currently enacted, such as the implementation of kerosene tax.

Given the inherent uncertainty associated with the impact of climate change, the Group has applied additional sensitivities in note 13b to reflect a
mere adverse impact of climate change than currently expected. This has been captured through both the doewnward sensitivity of the long-term
growth rate, ASKs and operating margins and the increased fuel price sensitivity.

¢ Valuation of employee benefit scheme assets .
The Group employee benefit schemes are represented by the APS and NAPS schemes. The schemes are structured to make post-employment
payments to members over the long-term, with the Trustees having established both return seeking assets and liability matching assets that mature
over the lang-term to align with the forecast benefit payments.

The assets of these schemes are invested predominantly in a diversified range of equities, bonds and property. The valuation of these assets ranges
from thosa with quoted prices in active markets, where prices are readily and regulariy available, through to those where the valuations are not based
on observable market data, often requiring complex valuation models. The trustees of the schemes have integrated climate change considerations
into their long-term decision making and reporting processes across all classes of assets, actively engaging with all fund and portfolio managers o
ensure that where unobservable inputs are required into valuation models, that such valuation models incorporate long-term expectations regarding
the impact of climate change.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

4  Expenses by nature

Operating loss is arrived at after charging:

L o L Ak LR
- Frat

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-current assats priar to exceptional jtems:

Group
£ miliion 201 2020
" Depreciation charge on owned assets 342 442
Depreaciation charge on right of use assets 446 509
Depreciation charge on other leasehold interest 97 64
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 67 61
Impairment charge on owned property, plant and equipment 5 -
Impairment charge on right of use assets 27 -
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 984 1076
Cost of inventaries: '
Group
£ million 2021 2020
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense, principally fuel €50 215
5 Auditor’s remuneration
GroQ
£ '00Q 2021 2020
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group's accounts 1,770 1600
Fees payable ta the Group's auditor and its associates for other services:
Audit of the Grogp's subsidiaries pursuant ta legislation 130 21
Other services pursuant to legisiation - 138
Audit related assurance services 90 -
Other assurance services 15 -
Services relating to corporate finance transactions - 200
2,065 2149

Fees payable to the Group's auditor For the audit of the Group's pension schemes total £158,550.

Remuneration receivable by the Company's auditor for the supply of services to associates of the IAG Group to support the opinion o the Group
accounts have not been included as these are inciuded within the Group audit fee disclosure of the parent company, International Consolidated

Airlines Group SA

6 .- Employee costs and numbers

a Employee costs

The average number of persons employed during the year was as follows:

Group Company

Number 20 2020 202 2020
Ux 27,22 34056 25,214 32042
QOverseas 3,334 3575 2,064 2351
30,555 3726371 27,278 34,397

Group Company

£ million 202 2020 202 2020
Wages and salaries 1,029 1171 961 1127
Social security costs . 134 153 127 145
Costs related to pension scheme benefits (note 27} 145 167 139 155
Other employee costs 174 232 168 225
Total employee costs 1,482 17217 1,395 1652

The 2C20 results have been restaced for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further information is given

in note 2.

54



ERRAN TR PR N e D . AT T e R T Yy R Tegn Lo 4 Te e . B TR B

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

6 Employee costs and numbers continued

a Employee costs (continuad)

Included in 'Other employee costs' is a total expense for share-based payments of £3 million (2020: £1 million credit) that arises from transactiens
accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments {nate 25). Other empioyee ¢osts aiso inglude allowances and accommodation for crew.

There was an exceptional credit of £11 million relating to employea severance pay {2020: charge of £221 million), see note 3 for further details.
Including this exceptional itern results in total employee costs of £1,471 million (2020: £1,938 million).

b ‘Directors’ emaoluments

Group
£ million 201 2020
Directors’ remuneration 2 2

During the year, six Directors (2020: five) of the Company were employed and remunerated by IAG and two (2020: three) were recharged to the
Company accordingly.

The aggregate emoluments for the highest paid Director were borne by IAG. The highest paid Director's éggregate emoluments for the year
armounted to £848,420 (2020: £1,011,000).

During the year no Directors (2020: none) accrued benefits under a defined benefit pensicn scheme and one Director (2020 two) accrued benefits
under a defined contribution pensian scheme. There were total pension contributions of £39,206 made during the year (2020; £26,000).

Five Directars (202¢: five) participated in IAG's Lorng Term Incentive Schemes and five exercised awards during the year (2020 five).
[ Remuneration of key management personnel

Compensation of key management personnel (which includes the Directors and Management Committee of the Group)

. ' Group
£ million - - 2021 2020
Short-term employee benefits 7 -4
Share-based payments - -
Year to 31 December 7 g
7  Finance costs and income
a Finance costs
Group
£ million ‘ 201 2020
Interest expenses an: -
Bank borrowings {90) 7
Assex financed liabilities (48) 123
Lease liabilitias {188) (204)
Provisions unwinding of discount ) - ) /]
Other berrowings (105) )
Capitalised interest on progress payments 2 7
Other finance costs - L
Total finance costs (429) {269)
b Finance income
Group
£ millien 20 ) 2020
Interest on ather investments and interest-beanng deposits 3 __f§_
Toztal finance income 3 &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
7  Finance costs and income continued
c Other non-operating credits
" Group
£ millicn 2021 2020
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and investments 7 34
Credit relating to equity investments - 2
Total other non-operating credits 27 36
8 Tax
a | ax on ordinary activities
Tax credit/(charge) in the income statement, other comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity
E million 2021 20201
Other ‘ Other Statement of
Income comprehansive Income comprehensive changes in
statement incame Total statement! inceme! equity-  Total
Current tax ] .
Movement in respect of prior years - - - 3 - - 3
Movement in respect of current year 15 ~ 15 202 - -
Total current tax 15 - 15 205 - - 205
Deferred tax
Movement in respect of prior years 9 - 9) - - - -
Movernent in respect of current year 384 (320) 64 557 53 )] 609
Rate change 66 52 118 (63)_ 33 - (24)
Total deferred tax 441 (268) - 173 494 92 (1) 585
Total tax 456 (268) 188 699 92 {1) 790

The 2020 results have been restated for the reatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pensian schemes, resulting in a decrease in
deferred tax of £4 million in the Statement of other comprehensive income. Further information is given in note 2. '

The tax credit an centinuing cperations for 2021 includes £25 million tax charge in relation to exceptional items (2020: £291 million tax credit).

Within tax in Other comprehensive incame is a tax charge of £78 million (2020: tax credit of £54 million) that may be reclassified to the Income
statement and a tax charge of £191 million (2020: tax credit of £42 million) that may not.

b - Current tax liability

2020

E million 201

Balance at 1 January (3n (142)
Income statement 15 205
Cash payments 28 .51
Offset against other taxes - (135)
Exchange movements and other (1) {16)
Balance at 31 December 5) 3n

The Company has a current tax liability of £9 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: £40 millicn).

During 2020 the Company elected to carry back losses and apply them to the 2019 taxable profits. This led te a £135 million ¢orporation tax
overpayment in relation to 2019, which HMRC offset zgainst deferred liabilities 2rising in relation to other taxes. No such offset arcse in 2021,
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8 Tax continued

[« Deferred tax
Deferred tax asset/(fiability)

Tax Employee Fair Share-
foss Right of leaving  Employee value based Qther
. carmed Fixed use Lease indemnities benefit gain/  payment Corporate  temporary
E miflicn forward  assets assers  liabilities and others plans loss _ schemes interest  differences Tortal
Balance at 1 January 2021 3g (211) 250) 19 11 266 186 1 - 4] 401
Income statement 338 86 28 (3 (6} ) (49) 1 S5 - 441
Other comprehensive income 18 - - - - - (204} 82y - - - [268)
Balance at 31 December 2021 737 (125) {222) 16 5 53 55 2 53 {2) 574
Balance at 1]anuary 2020 - (324) (251) 20 1¢ 73 84 3 - 1 (184)
Income statement 330 13 1 ) 1 3 5t ()] - [€)] 4G4
Other comprehensive income 51 - - - - {10} 51 - - .- 92
Statement of changes in.equity - - - - - - - (1) - - U]
Balance at 31 December 2020 381 211) (250) 19 1t 266 186 1 ~ ) 401

The Company has a deferred tax asset of €671 millicn as at 31 December 2021 (2020:; £478 miillion deferred tax asset).

Fair value gains/losses include both the Cash flow hedge reserve and the Cost of hedging reserve, of which the movement in relation to Other .
comprehensive income recognised is the Cash flow hedge reserve for 2021 was £82 million.

~ Mcvements in Other comprehensive income relating to the post-employment benefit abligations increase the Group's tax losses by £18 rmlllon (tax
vzlue) at 31 December 2021 and have therefore been disclosed as tax losses carried forward in the above table,

d Reconciliation ef the total tax charge in the income statement
In accordance with hilateral tax treaties the Group's profits are mainly taxed in the UK Therefare, the tax cradit (2020: credit) is calculated at the

standard rate of UK corporation tax. The tax credit on the profit for the year to 31 December 2021 is higher (2020: lower} than the expected tax
credit at the UK rate. The Group's effective tax rate is 21.7% (2020: 16.6%) and the differences to the UK rate are explained below:

£ million 2021 2020
Accounting lass before tax (2,104) (4,199}
Tax calculated at the standard rate of corporatlon tax in the UK of 19.00% (2C20: 19.00%) 400 . 799
Effect of tax rate changes © 85 {63)
Employee benefit plans accounted for net of withholding tax . [O)] : 2
Maovement in respect of prior years 9) 3
Non-deductible expenses ’ 9) (10
" Prior year tax assets not recognised/{unrecoghised) 1 (6}
Owerseas tax rate differences ) 1 2
Tax on associates’ profits/(iosses) 8 (28)
Tax credit in the income statement 456 639

The 2020 resuits have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further information is given
in note 2. -

e Other taxes

The Group was also subject to other taxes and charges paid are as follows:

£ million 2021 2020
Payroli refated taxes 134 153
UK Air Passenger Duty : 168 256

302 409
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

a Tax continued
f  Factors that may affect future tax charges

Unrecaognised temporary differences - losses
£ million : . 2021 2020
UK capital losses 307 318

Unrecognised temporary differences - investment in subsidiaries and associates

No deferred tax liabitity has been recognised in respect of £833 million (2020: £813 millicn) of temporary differences relating to subsidiaries and
associates. The Group either controls the reversal of these temporary differences, and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foresgeable
future, or no material tax consequences would arise from their reversal.

Tax rate changes

On 3 March 2021 the UK Chancellor announced that legislation would be introduced in the Finance Bill 2021 to set the main rate of corporation tax
at 25 per cent from April 2023. On 24 May 2021 the Finance bill was substantively enacted, which has led to the remeasurement of deferred tax
balances and will increase the Group’s future current tax charge accordingly. As a result of the remeasurement of deferred tax balances in the UK
entities, a credit of £65 million is recorded in the Incame statement and a credit of £52 million is recorded in Other comprehensive income.

Tax policy developments

The Group is closely monitering the OECD's proposed twa-pillar soiution to address the tax challenges arising from the digitalisaticn of the economy.
This proposed reform to the intemational tax system addresses the geographical allocation of profits for the purposes of taxation and is designed
to ensure that myltinational enterprises will be subject to a minimum 15% effective tax.rate. the new framework is expected to be enacted in 2023,
and effective from 2023. The implications for the Group will be finalised when the relevant legisiation is available.

g  Tax contingent liabilities

The Group has certain contingent tax liabilities across all taxes which at 31 December 2021 amounted to £10 million {31 December 2020: £84
million}, including estimated interest and penalties, No material losses are likely to arise from such contingent liabifities. As such the Group does not
consider it appropriate to make a provision for these ameunts and accordingly has classified this matter as a contingent liability. The Group files
income and other tax returns in many jurisdictions throughout the world. Tax returns contain matters that are subject to differing interpretations of
tax laws and regulations, which may give rise to queries from and disputes with tax authorities. The resolution of these queries and disputes can take
several years but the Group does not currently expect any material impact on the Group's finandial position or results of operations te arise From
such resolution. Tha extent to which there are open queries and d|sputes depends upon the jurisdiction and the issue.

9 Dividends

No dividends were paid during the 12 menths to 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: £nil). Certain debr obligations, including the Export
Development Guarantee Facility, place restrictions and/cr conditions on the payments of dividends to the parent company, IAG. These loans can
be repaid early without penalty at the election of British Airways. In addition, under the contribution deferral agreement between British Airways
and the Trustee of the New Airways Pensicn Scheme (NAPS), in the period up to 31 December 2023, no dividend payment is permitted from British
Airways 1o IAG, and any dividends paid to IAG from 2024 will trigger a pension contribution of 50 per cent of the amount of the dividend, until the
deferred pension contributions have been paid.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

10 Property, plant and equipment
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a Group
Group

£ million Fleet Property  Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020 18362 2389 384 21735
Additions 1354 72 E 475
Modification of leases 38 8 - 48
Disposals {2643) 82) 30 (2756)
Reclassification - 7 {77 -
Balance as at 31 December 2020 17,151 2394 955 20,500
Additions 298 1% 6 323
Modification of leases 130 1 {20 1no
Disposals (2,139) (53) (21 (2213)
As at 31 December 2021 15,440 2,361 919 18,720
Depreciaticn and impairment '
Balances at 1 January 2020 9524 8§83 740 11247
Depreciation charge for the year 847 127 41 1015
impaiment! 399 - - 393
Disposals {2 465) {45} (29} (2542)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 8302 . 1,065 752 10,119
Depreciation charge for the year 737 n2 37 336
Maodification of leases - - (12) (12}
Impairmentt 10 15 - 25
Disposals (2,087 (52 {20) {2,159)
As at 31 December 2021 6,962 1,140 757 8,859
Net bock amounts ‘
31 December 2021 8,478 1,221 162 9,861
31 December 2020 8849 1329 203 10,381
Analysis as at 31 December 2021
Owned 2,162 637 132 2331
Right of use assets? 4413 502 - 8 4923
Asset financed 1,549 - - 1,549
Progress payments 354 82 22 458

8,478 1221 162 9,861
Analysis as at 31 December 2020 ’ '
Owned 2192 679 158 " 3029
Right of use assets? 4855 573 20 5448
Asset financed {434 - - 1434
Progress payments 368 77 25 470

8849 1329 203 10,381

Graup

E million 2021 2020
The net book amount of property comprises:
Freehold 282 286
Right of use assets? 502 573
Lang-leasehold improvements > 50 years 264 270
Short-leasehold improvements < 50 years 173 200
As at 31 December 1,221 1329

' Far detaiis regarding the impairment charges/(reversal) refer to note 3 In 2021, certain impairments recorded in 2020, that arose from the permanent grounding of

specific fleer assets, were reversed. 2Refer to note 11 for right of use assets.

At 31 Decermber 2021, long-term bhorrowings of the Group are secured on awned fleet assats with a net bogk amount of £1,861 million (2020:
£1,774 million). Thereis also property pledged as secunty with a net book value of £574 million (3' December 2020: £ril).
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Notes to the Financial Statements {(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

10 Property, plant and equipment continued

b Company
Company
£ miilion Fleet Property  Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020 17,739 2295 949 20983
Additions 1360 71 & 1439
Modification of leases 42 g - 57
Disposals {2604) 182) (35) (2721)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 16,537 2293 922 19,752
Additions 283 15 5 T 304
Medibication of leases 130 1 (20) m
Disposals {1.947) {49) (14) {2010)
As at 31 December 2021 15,003 2,260 854 18,157
Depreciation and impairment '
Balances at 1 January 2020 Q103 a3t 718 10752
Depreciation charge for the year 804 27 40 o955
Impairment! 38r - - 387
‘Disposals (2430) '(45) 33) (2508)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 7858 1,007 725 9590
Cepreciation charge for the year 707 108 35 " . 850
Modification of leases - - {10) (10}.
Impairment! 10 15 - 25
Disposals {1933) (48) (13 {1.994)
As at 31 December 2021 6,642 1,082 - 737 8,451
Net book amounts ’
31 December 2021 8,361 1,178 157 9,656
31 December 2020 8679 1286 197 - 062
Analysis as at 31 December 2021 . :
Owned 2076 598 126 2,800
Right of use assets? - 4,383 499 8 - 4,890
Asset financed 1,549 - - . 1,549A
Progress payrents 353 81 23 457
- - 8,361 1178 157 9,696.
Analysis as at 31 December 2020 .
Owned 2061 641 152 2854
Right of use assets? 4816 568 20 5404
Asset financed 1434 - - i434
Progress payrnents 368 77 25 470
8679 1286 197 10162
Company
£ miilion W0 2020
The net boak value of property comprises: .
Freehold 242 248
Right of use assets? 499 568
Long-leasehold impravements > 50 years 264 270
Short-leasehald improvements < 50 years 173 200
As at 31 December 1,178 - 1286

' For details regarding the impairment charges refer to note 3. In 2021, certain impairments recorded in 2020, that arose fram the permanent grounding of specific fleet

assets, were reversed.
IRefer to nate 11 for right of use assers

AL 31 December 2021, long-term borrowings of the Company are secured on owned fleet assets with a net book amount of £1,861 million (2020;
£1,774 million). Fhere is also property pledged as security with a net bock value of £574 million (31 December 2020: £nil).
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1 Leases

a Group

G)‘ Amounts recognised in the Consolidated balance sheet

Property, plant and equipment includes the following amounts refating to right of use assets:

Y R e 1,k 4,‘1‘;13,:',."’».5;".“ R AT SE B

Group
£ millicn Fleet Property  Equipment Total
Cost .
Balance at 1 )January 2020 7327 672 55 8054
Additians 530 45 - 578
Madification of leases 38 8 - 46
Disposals 13 &) 20} T (38)
Reclassifications! (347} - - 347
Balance as at 31 December 2020 7,535 723 35 8293
Additians -7 - - -7
Madification of leasas 130 i 2n 1ne
Disposais (5) )] - 6)
Reclassification! (373) - - {373
As at 31 Cecamber 2021 7,294 723 14 8,031
Depreciation and impairment
Balances at 1 January 2020 2415 78 27 2520
Depreciation charge for the year 425 75 & 509
Disposals 13 (4 20} 37
Reclassifications! (147) - - (147)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 2,680 150 15 - 1845
Depreciation charge for the year 385 59 2 446
Muodification of lease - - 4] (1
Impairment 14 13 - 27
Disposals (5) (U] - (6)
Raclassifications? (193} - ~ {193}
As at 31 December 2021 2,881 221 6 3,108
Net book value o
31 December 2021 4,413 502 8 4,923
31 December 2020 4,855 573 20 - 5,448

'Amiounts with 3 met book value of £180 million (2020 £200 millian] were reclassified from right of use assets to Owned Property, plant and equipment a¢ the
cessation of the respective leases. The assets reclassified related to leases with purchase optians that were grandfatherad as ROU assets upon transition to
{FRS 16, for which the Group had been'depreciating over the expected useful life of the aircraft, incorporating the purchase option.

Interest-bearing long-term borrowings includes the following amounts relating ta lease kabilities:

Group
£ millian 20 2020
Lease liabilities 1 january 5.491 5647
Additions 34 543
Modification of leases 113 47
Repayments (888) {948)
Interest expense 175 198
Exchange movements 7€) .10
Lease liabilities 31 December 4,849 5491
Current 652 845
Non-current 4,197 4646
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

11 Leases continued

a Group continued

(i) Amaounts recognised in the Consolidated income statement

Group.
£ million 2021 2020
Armounts not included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Variable lease payments - - !
Expenses relating to short-term leases 2 26
Interest expense on |ease liabilities 175 -1
Gains arising from sale and leaseback transactions - {3
Depreciation charge for the year 446 509
Impairment ry -

(i) Amounts recognised in the Consolidated cash flow statements

The Greup had total cash cutflows for lease labilities of £738 million (2020: £807 million) in 2021,

The Group is expased ta future cash outfiows {on an undiscounted basis) as at 31 December 2021, for which no amount has been recognised, in
relation to leases not yet commenced to which the Company is committed of £7 million (2020: £8 million).

(iv}  Maturity profile of the lease liabilities

The maturity profile of the lease liabilities is disclosed in note 22.

(v) Extension and terminatio.;r aptions

The Group has certain leases which contain extension and termination options exercisable by the Group prior to the non-cancellable contract
pericd. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include extension and termination options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The Group

assesses at lease commencement whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension and tarmination options.

The Group is exposad to future cash outflows (on an undiscounted basis) as at 31 December 2021, for which no amount has been recognised, for
potential extension aptions of £582 million (2020: £642 million) due to it not being reascnably certain that these leases will be extended.

The Group is not exposed to any material termination options which requires above disclosure.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) .

For the year ended 31 December 2021

11 Leases continued

b Company

o] Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

Property, plant and equipment includes the following amounts relating to right of use assets:

Company
£ million Fleet Property  Equipment Total
Cost ‘

Balance at 1 January 2020 7158 662 54 7874
Additions 495 48 - ‘543
Modification of leases 42 2 - 51
Disposals {13) (4 (20) 37
Raclassifications? {347} - - {347
Bafance as at 3! December 2020 7335 75 I4 . BO5Y
Additions ' - - - ~
Modification of leases 130 1 (20} n
Disposals (3) - - ()
Reclassification’ (372) - - {372y
As at 31 December 2021 7,088 716 14 7,818
Depreciation and impairment

Balances at 1 January 2020 2268 77 27 2373
Depreciation charge for the year 410 74 7 . 4971
Disposals {13 4) (20) (37
Reclassifications! (147} - - (147
Balance as at 31 December 2020 2519 147 14 2680
Depreciation charge for the year 370 57 2 429
Impairment . 14 i3 - 27
Modifications of lease - - (10 (19)
Disposals ' (5} - - RS
Reclassificatians' (183) - - t193)
As at 31 December 2021 2,705 217 6 2,928
Net book amounts

31 December 2021 4,383 499 8 4,830
31 December 2020 4816 568 20 5404

1Amounts with a net book value of £179 millian {2020: £200 million) were reclassified from right of use assets tc QOwned Property, plant and equipment at the

cessation of the respective leases.

Interest-bearing long-term borrowings includes the following amounts relating to lease liabilities:

Company

£ million 202} 2020
Lease liability 1 January 5,442 5615
Additicns 27 . 507
Modification of leases 122 45
Repayments (872) {534}
Interest expense 173 197
Exchange movements {76) 1
Lease liabilities 31 December 4,816 5442
Current 639 829
Man-current 4177 4613
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

11  Leases continued

b Company continued

(7  Amounts recognised in the inconte statement

Company
£ millien ) 2021 C 2020
Amounts not included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Short-term leases 22 25
nterest on lease lizbilities 173 197
Gains arising from sale and leaseback transactions - {3
Depreciation charge for the year 429 431
Impairment 27 : -

(i) Amounts recognised in the company cash flow statements

The Company had total cash outflows for lease liabilities of £724 millicn (2020: £794 million) in 2021,

The Company is exposed to future cash outflows {on an undiscounted basis) as at 31 December 2021, for which no amount has been recognised, in
relation to leases not yet commenced to which the Company is committed of £nil million (2020: Enil millian).

(iv) Maturity profile of the lease fiabilities
The maturity profite of the lease liabilities are disclosed in note 22,
(v) Extensions and terminations

The Company has certain leases which contain extension and termination options exercisable by the Company prior to the non-cancellable contract
period, Where practicable, the Company seeks to include extension and termination opticns in new leases to provide operational Rexibility, The
Company assesses at lease commencement whether it is rezsonably certain 1o exercise the extensicn and termination options.

The Company is exposed to future cash outflows (on an undiscounted basis) as at 31 December 2021, for which no amount has.been recognised,
for potential extension options £582 million (2020: £464 milfion) due to it not being reasonably certain that these leases will be extended.

The Company is not exposed ta any material termination options which requires above disclosure,

12 Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure authorised and contracted for but not provided for in the accounts amounts to £5,382 million for the Group (2020: £5,937
million) and £5,377 million for the Company (2020: £5,936 million). The majority of capital expenditure commitments are denominated in US dollars
and as such the commitments are subject to exchange moverments.

The cutstanding commitments include E5,300 million for the acquisition of eight Airbus A320 and A321 neos (from-2022 to 2023); 10 Airbus A350s
{from 2022 to 2024), 10 Boeing B787s {from 2022 to 2024) and 18 Boeing 87775 (from 2023 to 2027).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 Decembar 2021

13 Intangible assets and impairment review

a Intangible assets

i Group
Group
lLanding Emissions

£ millign Goadwill rights _ allowances  Software Total
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020 ) . 40 742 £ 232 154
Additions - - - 49 49
Disposals . : - - {9 [ {20}
Balance at 31 December 2020 40 742 7 761 . 1570
Additions - - 27 40 R -7
Disposals - (5) {20) )] (32)
31 December 2021 40 737 34 794 1,605
Amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2020 - 49 - 398 - 447
Amertisation charge for the year - - - & - &1

‘Balance at 31 December 2020 - 49 - 458 ° 508
Amortisation charge for the year . - - - &7 . 67
Disposals - - - AQ) {2
31 Decamber 2021 - 49 - 524 573
Net book values
31 December 2021 . 40 683 34 270 1,032
31 Decamber 2020 40 693 27 302 1,062
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

13 Intangible assets and impairment review continued

a Intangible assets

[1] Cempany
Company
Landing Emissicns
£ million rights  allowances  Software Total
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020 742 36 688 L4686
Additions - - 46 45
Disposals - 79 {1 20
Balance at 31 December 2020 742 27 723 1,492
" Additions - 27 33 65
Disposals {5 {20) (8) (B3
3t December 201 - 737 34 753 1,524
Amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2020 43 - 376 425
Amortisation charge for the year - - 57 57
Balance at 31 December 2020 435 - 433 4382
Amortisation charge for the year - - 62 62
Disposals - - @ (2)
31 December 2021 49 - 493 - 542
Net book values
31 December 2021 688 34 260 982
31 December 2020 693 27 290 1,010
b Impairment review
i Network airline operations

Basis for calculating recoverable amoung

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives (being landing rights and emissions allowances) are tested for impairment annually and when
circumstances indicate the carrying value may be impaired.

The impairment review is carried out at the level of a ‘cash-generating unit’ ('CGU'}, defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets, liabilities and
associated intangible assets that generate cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets or groups of assets. On
this basis, an impairment review has been conducted on one CGU {2020:-one). An impairment review was performed on the network airfine
operations CGL, including passenger and cargo operations out of all operated airports, as well as all related ancillary operations, .

AL 31 December 2021, the continued disruption caused by COVID-19 has led to a decrease in demand across network airline operations and
economic uncertainty over the short and medium term. As a result, a full impairment test at 31 December 2021 has been conducted. The |mpa|rment
test includes assessment of the carrying value of all non-current assets, including property, plant and equipment.

The recaverable arnount has been measyred basad on the value-in-use, which utilises a weighted average multi-scenario discounted cash flow model.
The details of these scenarios are given in the going concern section of note 2, with a weighting of 70 per cent to the base case, 20 per cent to the
downside case and 10 per cent to the downside lockdown case. Cash fiow projections are based on forecasts covering a three-year period. Cash
flows extrapalzted beyond the three-year period are projected to increase based on fong-term growth rates. Cash flow projections are discounted
using a pre-tax discount rate,

Annually the Group prepares three-year business plans in the fourth quarter of the year. Adjustments have been made to the terminal year of the
business plan cash flows to incorporate the impacts of climate change that the Group can reliably estimate at the reporting date. However, given
the long-term nature of the Group's sUstainability commitments, there are other aspects of these commitments that cannot be reliably estimated
and accordingly have been excluded from the value-in-use calculations (refer to note 2). The business plan cash flows used in the value-in-use
caicuiations also reflect the restructuring of the business where relevant that has been approved by the Board and which can be executed by
Management under existing agreements,
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13  Intangible assets and impairment review continued

b Impairment review continued
Key assumptions
The value-tn-use calculations reflect the increased risks arising from COVID-19, including updated projected cash flows for the decreased business

activity from 2022, through to the end of 2024 and an increase in the pre-tax discount rate to incorporate increased equity market volatility. The
key assumptions used in the vafue-in-use calculation are as follows:

Per cerit ‘ 2021 2020

Cperating margin! 3% ta 13% =20% to 716%
ASK as a proportion of 201912 75% to 103% 45% 1o 95%
Long-term growth rate 1.9% 21%
Pre-tax discount rate 11.83% 2%

Operating margin and ASKs as a propertion of 2019 are the weighted average of the base case, downside case and downside lockdown case scenarios.
An prior periods the Group applied the average ASK growth per annum as a key assumption. Given the impact of COVID-19, the Group has presented ASKs as a
proportion of the level of ASKs achieved in 2019, prior to the application of the terminal value catculation.

3 years and
Jet fuel price {$ per MT) Within 12 months 1-2 years 2-3 years thereafter
31 December 2021 690 673 - 659 659
31 December 2020 373 420 449 449

Forecast ASKs reflect the range of ASKs as a percentage of the 2019 actual ASKs over the forecast period, based on planned network growth and
taking into account Management's expectation of the market.

The long-term growth rate is calculated based cn the forecast weighted average exposure in each primary market using gross doemestic product
(GDPY) (source: Oxfard Economics). The long-term growth rate is adjusted to reflect the impact on demand that is expected as 2 result of climate
change (note 2). The network plans are reviewed annually as part of the Business plan and reflect Management’s plans in response to specific market
risk ar opportunity. . ’

Pre-tax discount rates represeént tha current market assessment of the risks specific to the CGU, taking into consideration the time value of money
and underlying risks of the primary market The discount rate calculation is based on the circumstances of the airline industry and the Group. It is
derived from the weighted average cest of capital (WACC'). The WACC takes into consideration both debt and equity available te airlines. The cost
af equity is derived from the expected return on investment by airline investors and the cost of debt is derived from both market data and the
Group's existing debt structure. CGU specific risk is incorporated by applying individual beta factors which are evaluated annually based on available
market data. The pre-tax discount rate reflects the timing of future tax fiows.

Jet fuel price assumptions are derived from forward price curves in the fourth quarter of each year as at the balance sheet date and sourced externally.
The cash flow forecasts reflect these price increases after taking into consideration of level of fuel derfvatives and their associated prices that the
Group has in place.

Summary of results

At 31 December 2021, Management reviewed the recoverable amount of the CGU and concluded the recoverable amaunt exceeded the carrying
value,

Reasonable possible changes in key assumptions, both individually and 'n combination, have been considered which include reducing operating
margin by two per cent in each year, ASKs by five per cent in each year, long-term growih rates to zero, increasing pre-tax discount rates by 2.5
percentage paints, changing the weighting of the downside locckdown case to 100 per cent, and increasing the fuel price by 40 per cent with nc
assurned cost recovery. Given the inherent uncertainty associated with the impact of climate change, these sensitivities represent a reasonable
possible greater impact of climate change than that included in the impairmant madals.

while the recoverable amounts are estimatad to exceed the carry amounts by £2,891 million, the recoverable amount would be below the carrying
amount when applying reasonable possible changes in assumptions in each of the following scenarios:

i) If operating margin had been two per cent lower;

i) If operating margin had been two per cent lower combined with 2n increase in the long-term growth rate of 0.1 per geny; .-
i) If ASKs had been five per cent lower combined with 2 fuel price increase of four per cent, with no assumed cost recovery;
iv) If ASKs had been five per cent lower combined with a reduction in the long-term growth rate of 0.6 per cent;

v) If the fue! price had been 11 per cent higher.

For the remainder of the reasonable possible changes in key assumptions applied no impairment anses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

13 Intangible assets and impairment review continued

b Impairment review continued
Orther asset-specific iImpaiment charges and reversals

During the year to 31 December 2021, the Group recognised a credit of £7 million relating ta previously impaired engines (2020: £417 million
impairment charge relating to fleet and engines). The engine impairment reversal relates to certain engines which had been fully impaired during
2020 having been leased te a third party in the fourth quarter of 2021,

During the year to 31 December 2021, the Group recognised an impairment charge of £32 million, represented by an impairment of fleet assets of
£17 million and an impairment of property assets of £15 million. The fleet impairment related to five leased Airbus A321 aircraft which were impaired
down to their recoverable value at 31 December 2021.

i Company

In 2021, the Campany recoghised an impairment charge of £5 million (2020: £427 million} in respect of its investment in subsidiaries. For investments
where an indicator of impairment existed, an impairment test was performed to determine the recoverable amount, and where necessary, impair the
carrying value to the recoverable amount. The recoverable amounts of the relevant investments have been determined as the higher of the fair
value, being enterprise value and their value in use, using a discounted cash flow model. Cash flows for the next five years have been projected in

line with the business plan to 31 December 2024 and expacted growth rates. Reasanable possibie changes in these cash flow assumptions could
resultin a further impairment, or reversal of previgus impairment in the carrying value of the Company'’s investments in subsidiaries,

14 Investments
a Group

-~ A summary of the Group's investments in associates accounted for using the equity methad is shown below:

. Group.
£ millign 2021 2020
Balance at 1 January 1,688 1838
Additions' ' S : ' 7 Co-
Exchange differences 1 7
Share of attributable results 43 (144)
Share of movements in comprehensive income of associates (1) (12
Dividends recaived? ' n {
As at 31 December 1,737 - 1688

lIn January 2021, British Airways invested in Lanzajet, a sustainable fuel technology company incorporated in the USA and attained 16.7% ownership of the company.
The Group received dividends, net of withholding tax, of E1 million (2020: £1 million) from Dunwoady {2020: Dunwaady).

Percentage of Measurement Principal Country of incorporation

equity owned basis activities Helding and principal operations
Avias Group {AGL) Limited (AGL" 85.26 Equity method . iﬂ::z Or;jt::;:g England
Dunwoody ;_t\irline Services Limited 40.00 Equity method ope::i:;rr]li Orfr:r:g England
IB Opco Holding, S.1. (Iberiay - 13.55 Equity method ope:i?;:i Orsdg:z:g ‘ Spain .
Lanza)et, Inc. ' 1670 Equity method SUStiiencﬁlglg;‘r Orfrir;:::; USA
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

14 Investments continued

At 31 December 2021 there are no restrictions on the ability of associates or joint ventures to transfer funds to the Company and there are no
related contingent liabilities.

The foilowing summarised financial information of the Group's investment in material associates is shown below:

Group
£ million 201 2020
Iberia AGL fbera AGL
Non-current assets 4,083 228 4889 35
Current assets 1,796 2,478 1537 2623
Current liabilities (2,317 2,221) {2.370) (2143}
Mon-current liabilities _(3.684) (336) {4.065) {433
Net equity 122y 149 51 . 83
Group's share of net equity : - 129 7 T2
Goodwill attributable to investments in associates - 1,598 z f,5§‘é’
Total investment in associates - 1,727 s 1670
The Group's carrying amount of investments in other associatas was £9 million (2020: £2 million)
Revenue 2,430 376 2032 290
Operating costs {2,639) (264) (3333} (223}
Other income and costs (including tax} {96) {42) {107) (18)
Net (foss)/profit after tax (305) 70 (1402) 49
Other comprehensive income/(expenses) 222 {2} (116) 2
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year {net of tax) (83) 68 (1518) 517
The Group's share of total compreheansive income of other associatas was a ‘oss of £1 million (2020 income E2 million)
b Company
A summary of the Company's investrments in subsidiaries is set out below:
Company
£ rnillion Cost_Impairments 202 2020
Balance at 1 January 1,645 (798) 847 1278
Disposals! . - - - 4
Impairmants? - {5 (5 (427)
As at 31 Decembaer 1,645 (803) 842 847

The Company did not de-recognise any investments in subsidiaries during the year (2020: two subsidiaries following liquidation and the net carrying vaiue of the
investments at the date of liquidation was £4 miilion).
The Company recognised a £5 million {2020° £427 million) impairment charge in respect of its subsidiaries, see nate 13 for further details

The Group and Company's investments in subsidiaries, asscciates and other investments are listed on pages 106 and 107,

A summary of the Company’s investments in associates is set aut below:

Company
€ million 2024 2020
Bafance at 1 January 1,563 1563
Additions 7 -
As at 31 Dacember 1,570 1563
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 Decemnber 2021
15 Other equity investments

Group Comgany
£ million 2021 2020 01 - 2020
Unlisted secunties (see note 23) 2 2 2 2
Other equity investments 2 2 2 2

Other equity investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with no recycling &f gains and losses to the income

statement

16 Trade receivables and other assets

Trade receivables and other current assets are set out below:

Company

Group
£ million 201 2020 2021 2020
Amounts falling due within one year .
Trade receivables 480 390 467 . 376
Allowance for expected credit loss (26) {34) (26) (34
Net trade receivables 454 356 441 342
Prepayments and accrued income 276 265 269 246
Other non-trade receivables! 138 86 148 127
Trade receivabies and other current assets 868 707 858 715
"within the Company, the balance is net of £44m of expected credit 10ss on receivables with subsidiary undertakings.
Other non-current assets are set out below:
Group Company
£ million 2021 2020 2021 2020
Prepayments and accrued income 92 80 86 76
Other non-trade receivables 76 a4 84 g4
Other non-current assets 168 174 170 170
Movements in allowance for expected credit loss of trade receivables were as follows:
£ million 2021 2020
At the beginning of the year 34 30
Provided duning the year 1 ] 4
Receivables written off during the year {9) -
26 4

The credit risk exposure on the Group and Company's trade receivables is set out below. Trade receivables are generally non-interest bearing and

on 30 days terms (2020: 30 days).
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Notes to the Financial Statements {continued) :
For the year ended 31 December 2021
16 Trade receivables and other assets {continued)

Group.

2021 Current <30 days  30-60 days  60-90 days 90-180 days _ 180-365 days  »365 days Total
Trade receivables 304 N 39 10 8 4 24 480
Expected ¢redit loss rate 0.1% 0.1% 0.3% 0.3% 2.1% 50.1% 100.0% 5.5%
Net trade receivables 304 9 39 10 8 2 - 454
. Group
2020 Current <30 days  30-60 days  60-90 days §0-180 days  180-365 days _ »365 days Taeal
Trade receivables 248 60 35 1 5 5 2% 390
Expected credit [0ss rate ) 10% als ai% 0.2% 138% 98.3% 100.0% £8%
Nat trade receivables : 246 &0 35 7 4 - - 56
Company

2021 Current  <30days  30-60 days  60-90 days 90-180 days _ 180-365 days  »365 days Tota
Trade receivables 291 91 9 10 3 T4 24 467
Expected credit loss rate 0.1% 0.1% 0.3% 0.3% 21% 50.8% 100.0% 5.6%
Net trade receivables 29 N 39 10 3 2 - 441
_Company

2020 Current <30 days  30-60 days  60-90 days 90-180 days  180-365 days  >365 days Total
Trade receivables 236 60 33 I 5 5 26 375
Expected credit loss rate 17% or% 0.1% 02% 138% 999% 100.0% - 91%

Net trade receivablas 234 &0 323 11 4 - -
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17  Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits

a Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
£ million 2021 2020 2021 2020
Cash at bank and in hand 1,687 1267 1,630 1795

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is £1,687 million for the Group (2020: £1,261 million) and £1,63Q million for the Cempany (2020: £1,195

million).

At 31 December 2021, the Group and Company had ne outstanding bank overdrafts (2020: £nil).

b Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Group
) Balance at 1 Exchange New leases and Balance at 31
£ million January 2021 Cash flows movements modifications Non-cash  December 2021
Bank, other loans and asset financed lizbilities {3,296) {1,648) 92 - (49) (4,901)
Lease hiabilities {5,491) 738 77 (122) {51) (4,849)
Liabilities from financing activities (8,787 (910) 169 (122) (100) (9,750)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,261 452 {26) - - 1,687
Net debt (7.526) (458) 143 (122) {100) (8,063)
Group
- Balance at 1 Exchange  New leases and Balance at 31
£ million January 2020 Cash flows  movements modifications Non-cash December 2020
Bank, ather loans and asset financed liatilities (663) (2643) 62 - (52) (3.296)
Lease liabiities {5,647} 807 {10} {584) {57) (5491
Liabilities from financing activities {6,310) (1.836) 52 (584) (109} {8.787)
Cash and cash equivalents 1258 27 {(24) - - 1267
Qther current interest-bearing deposits 1330 {1.330) : z - z
Net debt ' (3722} (3735} 28 (584} {705) {7526)
Company
Balance at 1 Exchange New leasesand Balance at 33
£ million January 2021 Cash flows movements modifications Non-cash  Decemnber 2021
Bank, other loans and asset financed liabilities {3,296} (1.648) 92 - (45) _ (4,901)
Lease liabilities (5,442) 724 75 {122) {51) ' (4,816)
Liabilities from financing activities (8,738) (924) 167 (122) (100) (9,717}
Cash and cash equivalents 1195 463 (28). - - 1,630
Net debt (7.543) (461) 139 {122) {100) (8,087)
Company
Balance at 1 Exchange  New leases and Balance at 31
£ million January 2020 Cash flows  movements madifications Non-cash December 2020
Bank, other lcansg and asset financed liabilities (663) (2643) &2 - {52} (3.296)
Lease liabilities (5.615) 794 (12 {553) {56) (5,442)
Liabilities from financing activities {6,278} {1849} 50 (553) (108} (8.738)
Cash and cash equivalents 1158 656 (259} - - 1195
Other current interest-bearing deposits 1330 {1330} - - - .-
Net debt {3,790) 21 (553) (108) (7.543)

3113

Net debt is calculated as total cash and cash equivalents and current interest-bearing deposits less total interest-bearing borrowings. Praceeds
from and repayment of bank, other loans and asset financed liabilities are shown net under Cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

18 Trade and other payables and deferred revenue on ticket sales

a Trade and other payables

Group Company
£ rillion . 202 2020 - 2021 2020
Trade creditors and accrued expenses 1,139 &7 1,068 833
Amounts owed to subsidiary companies - - 473 430
Other creditors 410 314 450 B
Other taxation and social security 26 37 25 25
Other agcruals and deferred income 90 27 76 14
As at 31 December 1,665 L7243 2,092 L&16
b Deferred revenue on ticket sales
Group Company
201 - 2021
£ million Customer Sales in advapce Customer Sales in adva_nce
loyalty of carriage Total loyalty of carriage Total
As at 1)anuary 36 2,393 2,429 36 2,402 2,438
Revenue recognised in income statément’ 0 (2,479} (2.486) (03] (2,115} (2,122}
Loyalty points issued to customers 6 - [ [ - "6
Cash received fram customers? - 3,563 3,563 - 3,168 3168
As at 31 December 35 3,477 3,512 35 3,455 3,490
Group Company
‘2020 2020
£ million Custamer Sales in adva_nce Customer Salesin adva.nr:e .
loyalty of carriage Total ioyalty of garriage Total
Asat 1 january 43 2891 2934 43 2926 2969
Revenue recognised in income statement! 25) (3079 3704) 25) (2927) {25952}
L.oyalty points issued to customers 18 - 18 18 - 18
Cash received from customers? - 2581 2581 - 2403 2403
As at 31 December 35 23937 2429 36 2402 2438

"where the Group acts as an agent in the provision of redemption products and services to custamers through loyalty programmes, ar in the provision of interine flights
to passengers, revenue is recognised in the income staterment net of the related costs. Included within revenue recognised in the incame statement is an amount of £64
million (2020: £1,009 million) previously held as deferred revenue at the end of the comparative reporting period.

2Cash received from customers is net of refunds.

Deferred revenue in respect of sales in advance of carriage consists of revenue aflocated to aidine tickets to be used for future travel. Tygically
these tickets expire within 12 months after the planned travel date, if they are not used within that time period, however, with the significant disruption
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has extended the expiry period up to 30 September 2023, In addition, the significant disruption
caused by tha COVID-18 pandemic lad to a number of flight cancellations during both 2020 and 2021, which entitled the custamer to either a refund
or the issuance of a vougher for future redemption. Vouchers are presented within sales in advance of carriage.

19 Other long-term liabilities

Group. Company
£ million © 2021 2020 2021 2020
Accruals and deferred income 33 29 31 27
Other non-trade creditors 58 40 58 40
As at 31 December N 59 839 67
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20  Long-term borrowings

a Total borrowings
Group Group
2021 2020
£ million Current  Non-current Total Current  Non-current Total
Bank a2nd other loans 83 3,539 3,622 358 1714 2072
Other financing [abilities! 14 - 14 33 - 33
Asset financed liabilities . B3 1,182 1,265 74 117 1197
Lease liabilities 652 4,197 4,849 845 4646 5491
Interest bearing borrowings 832 8,918 9,750 1310 7477 8,787
Company Company
2021 2020
€ million Current  Non-current Total Current  Non-current Total
Bank and cther loans 83 3,539 3,622 358 1714 2072
Cther financing liabilities 14 - 14 33 - 33
Asset financed liabilities + 83 1,182 1,265 74 7z Lt
L ease ligbilities 639 4177 4,816 £29 4613 5442
Interest bearing borrowings 819 B,898 9,717 1.294 7444 8738

‘Other financing liabilities inciude sale and repurchase agreements entered into during the caurse of 2021 and 2020 with regards to emission allowances and regresens
the amount the Group is expected to repurchase during the course of 2022 and 2021 respectively.

Long-term borrowings of the Group and Ccmpany amounting to £1,420 million (2020; £1,394 million) are securad on owned fleet assets with a net
book value of £1,861 million (2020: £1,774 million). Asset financed liabilities are all secured on the associared aircraft.

b Bank and other loans

Bank and other loans are repayable by 2027 and comprise of the following:

_ Group Company

£ million 2021 2020 2021 2020
Floating rate pound sterling loan guaranteed by UKEF (i) 2,003 - 2,003 -
Floating rate eurc moftgage loans secured on aircraft (i) 145 180 145 ‘180
Fixed rate unsecured LS dollar mortgage loans (iii) ' 73 88 73 £8
Fixed rate Chinese yuan mortgage loans secured on aircraft (iv) 10 23 10 23
Fixed rate CCFF pound sterling unsecured loan (v) - 299 - .. 299
Floating rate unsecured eurc loans (vi} 1.39 1482 1,391 - 1482
3,622 2072 3,622 2072

Less: current instalments due on bank and other loans 83 J58 83 358
Nan-current bank and other loans as at 31 December 3,539 1714 3,539 1714

() In February 2021, British Airways entered into a five-year term lozn Export Development Guarantee Facility of £2.0 billion underwntten by a
syndicate of banks, with 80 per cent of the principal guaranteed by UKEF. British Airways is entitled to repay the loan at any time on notice. The
arrangement contains some non-financial covenants, including restrictions on dividend payments by the airline to IAG.

(ii) Floating rate euro mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest of up to 1.50 per cent. The loans are
repayable between 2024 and 2027.

(it} Fixed rate unsecured US dollar mortgage loans bearing interest between 1.38 to 2.86 per cent. The loans are repayable between 2023 and 2026.

(iv) Fixed rate Chinese yuan mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest of 5.20 per cent. The loaps are
repayable in 2022, .

{v) In April 2020, British Airways issued a commercial paper to the government of the United Kingdom the Coronavirus Corporate Fmance Facility
{CCFF) which was repaid in April 2021,

(vi) Floating rate unsecured euro loan bearing interest of ELRIBOR + 460 per cent and is repayabie in 2024,
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20  long-term borrowings continued

b Bank and other loans continued

In July 2021, the Group entered into an asset-financing structure, under which seven aircraft are expected to be soid and leased back These
transactions mature between 2031 and 2035, This arrangement was transacted through an unconsolidated structured entity, which in tumn issued
the British Airways Pass Through Centificates, Series 2021-1, commanly referred to as Enhanced Equipment Trust Certificates (EETCS). in doing so
the Group recagnised £111 million ($150 million) of Asset financed liabiities.

As at 31 Dacember 2021, the Asset financed liablities include cumulative amounts of £1,265 million (2020: £1,191 million) associated with transactions

with unconsolidated structured entities having issued EETCs.

In addition, in March 2021, British Airways entered into a three-year WS dollar secured Revalving Credit Facility. The amount available under'the
facility is $1,346 million. As at 3t December 2021 no amounts had been drawn under the facility. Concurrent to entering into the facility, British
Airways extinguished its US dollar secured Revolving Credit Facility due to mature in June 2021, and which had $786 million undrawn and availabla
at 31 December 2020. While the Group does not forecast drawing down on the Revalving Credit Facility, should it do so, the resultant debt would
be securitised against specific landing rights and aircraft in the respective operating companies.

c Reconciliation of mavements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Bank, other loans

DCerivatives to
mitigate volatility

ang asset financed in financis
£ million liabilities lease liabilities liabilities Tatal
Balance at 1 fanuary 2021 (3,296) (5,491) (221) (9.008)
Proceeds from borrowings (2,107 - - (2,107
Repayments of borrewings 459 - - 459
Repayment of lease liabilities - 738 - T 738
Settlements_of derivative financial instruments - - 245 - 245
Taotal changes arising from financing cash flows (1,648) 738 245 {665)
Interast paid 180 1486 - 326
Interest expense (212) (156) - (368)
New leases and modifications ! - 122y - (122)
Fair value movements - - (10) (10)
QOther ngn-cash movements (17 (41) (2] (63)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 92 77 - 168
Closing financial liabilities at 31 December 2021 {4,901) _(4,849) 9 (3.741)

Derivatives to

Bank, other loans mitigate volatility

and 2550t fnanced in Financial .
£ million . fiabilities Lease Nabilities liabilities * Total
Balance at 1 Jaruary 2020 (663) (5.647) (87 | (8,397
Proceeds from borrowings (3541 - - (3547
Repayments of borrowings 898 - - 898
Repayment of lease liabilities - 807 - 807
Settlements of derivative financial instrumaents - - r22) {22

Tatal changes arising fram financing cash flows (2643) 807 22} .(1858)
interast paid 45 170 - . 215
Interest expense 53) 116G} - (222}
New leases and modifications - (646} - (6465)
Fair value movements - - 17 (I’ID
Gther nen-cash movements 44} 3 £} (367
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 62 JE - 53
Closing financia! liabilities at 31 December 2020 (3.2%6) (5,491 (221 _(9.008)
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20 Long-term borrowings continued

“u ".|.v' ARTh e

d Total loans, lease liabilities, asset financed liabilities and other financing liabilities
Group Company
Million 2021 2020 2021 2020
Loans:
US dollar 598 sror 498 fizr
Euro €1,808 €1867 €1,808 £1867
Chinese yuan " ¥78 ¥20r ¥78 ¥20!
Pound sterling £2,003 £299 £2,003 £299
Pound stering 3,622 2072 3,622 2072
Lease liabilities:
US dollar $4,064 4557 $4,023 $4499
Eurc €968 €146 €968 - ELIME
Japanese yen ¥72,423 ¥71807 ¥72,423 ¥71807
Pound sterling £564 £604 £562 £600
Pound steding 4,849 5,491 4,816 5,442
" Asset financed liabilities: :
us dollar $1,682 $1630 $1.682 $1630
Japanese yen . ¥3,365 - ¥3,365 -
Pound sterling 1,265 119! 1,265 119
Other financing liabilities:
Eurc €17 637 €17 €37
Pound sterling 14 33 14 33
Total interest-bearing borrowings 9,750 8787 9,717 8738
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Far the year ended 31 December 2021

i) Provisions
Group
Legal claims
Restoration and contractual )
£ million ) and handback  Restructaring disputes Other Total
Balance at 1 January 2021 442 52 32 48 574
Provisions recorded during the year 66 1 63 65 205
Reclassifications (5 - (53 - )]
Utilised during the year o (18) (23) (s1) (o)
Release of unused.amounts (18) ) {10 o) (52)
Exchange differences (2), - ' - - 2)
As at 31 December 2021 473 31 57 52 613
Analysis: .
Current 144 31 51 33 259
Nan-current 329 - 6 ] 354
473 31 57 52 §13
Company
Legal claims
Restoration and contractual :
£ million and handback___Restructuring disputes Other Total
Balance at 1 January 2021 41 52 32 45 541
Provisions recorded during the year 51 1 61 63 - 186
Reclassifications i - (5) - - (16)
Utilised during the year (6) (8 ©(23) . 49 (96)
Release of unused amounts 8) (14) {1C) {S) (41
Exchange differences 3) ~ - - &)
As at 31 December 2021 - 434 Ell S5 S1 571
Analysis:
Current 131 3 43 32 243
Non-current 303 - [ 19 328
434 3t 55 5t 571

Restaoration and handback provisions

The provision for restoration and handback costs is maintained to meet the contractual maintenance and return cond:trons on aircraft, including
those of right of use. The provision also includes amounts relating to leased land and buildings where rastoration costs are contractually required at
the end of the lease. Where such costs arise as a result of capital expenditure on the leased asset, the restoration costs are capitalised. The provisions
relate 1o leases up 1o 2034, -

Where amounts are finalised and the uncertainty relating ta these provisions removed, the asscciated liability is reclassified 1o either current or non-
current Other creditors, depending on the expected timing of the settlement.

Restructuring provisions
Restructuring provisions represents the estimated costs of SEtthng empfoyee obligations under the Group’s restructuring pians. The payments will
be mada within the next 12 months,

Legal claims and contractual dispute provisions

Legal claims provisions include armnounts For multi-party claims from groups or emptoyees on a number of matters related to the Group's operations,
including claims for additional haliday pay. Contractual dispute provisions relate to ongoing contractual disputes arising from the Group's ongoing
operations.

Other pravisions

Cther pravisiaons include a provision for the EU Emissions Trading Scheme that represents the excass of BA's COz emitted on a flight within the EU
in excess of the EU Emission Allowances granted. The provision also consists of staff leaving indemnities that were set up based on Collective
Labour Agreements or local jurisdiction regulations and other employee refated provisions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

22 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fuel price risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The principal impact of these an the financial statements are discussed below:

a Fuel price risk

The Group is exposed to fuel price risk. In order to mitigate such risk, under the Group's fuel price risk management strategy a variety of over the
counter derivative instruments are entered into. The Group strategy is to hedge a proportion of fuel consumption up to two years (previously three
years) within the appreved hedging profile.

Tha following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financial instruments to a reasonable possibla change in fuel prices, with all other variables held
constant, on result before tax and equity:

Group and
Company
20 2020
Increase/{decrease) in Effect on result Increase/{decrease) in Effect on result
fuel price before tax Effect on equity* fuel price before tax Effect on equity’
per cent £ million E miilion per cent £ miifion £ milfion
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
{decrease) (decreasa) (decrease) (decreasa)
30 - 431 30 80 . 253
(30) - (251) {(30) (707) 317

! The sensitivity aralysis on aquity, excludes the sensitivity amounts recognised in the result before tax.

»2During the year ended 31 December 2021, following a substantial recovery in the global price of crude oil, the fair value of such fuel derivative
L Zinstruments was a £156 million asset at 31 December 2021, representing an increase of ES37 million from 1 farary 2021 (liability of E381 million).
- Since the outbreak of COVID-19, a significant proporticn of the asscciated hedge relationships have no longer been expected to eccur and
..subsequently hedge accounting was discontinued, with subseguent mark-to-market mavements recorded in the Income statement As 3 result of
-the updated forecasts a further £60 million of the gains recognised in Other comprehensive income were reclassxf'ed 1o the Income statement and
recognised within Fuel, oll costs and emission costs in 2021 as detailed in note 23,

The gain arising from the de-designated fuel derivative instruments has been recorded as an exceptional item. Refer to note 3 for further details.
b Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on revenue, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than sterling. The currencies
in which these transactions are primarily denominated are US dollar and euro. The Group has a number of strategies to hedge foreign currency risk.
The Group strategy is to hedge a proportion of its foreign currency sales and purchases for up to three years,

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financial instruments to a reasonable, possible change in the exchange rates, with all other
variabies held constant, on ioss before tax and equity!. The sensitivity analysis has been performed on cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing
liabilities, leasa liabilities and derivatives {both designated in hedge relationships and those not designated in hedge relationships) denominated in
foreign currencies, with the disclosure for 2020 updated to align with the current methodology, The methodelogy has been updated to better
reflect the foreign exchange exposures arising from the Group's operations. These represent both the Group and the Company as the majority of
the foreign currency risks are borne by the Company.

Strengthening/  Effecton  Effect on [Strengthening/  Effecton Effect on [ Strengthening/ Effect on Effect on
{weakening) loss equity (weakening) loss equity {weakening) loss equity
in US dollar  before tax ineurc rate  before tax inyenrate before tax

rate per cent per cent per cent
Group £ million £ miflion £ millien £ million £ miilicn £ mitlion
and Increase/  Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
Company (decrease) (decrease) {decrease}  (decrease) {decrease) (decrease)
2021 10 129 234 10 9 (115) 10 (15) - (39)
(10} (131 {242) ({5 (9) 115 (10) 15 35
20 10 745 125 10 8 {138) 10 [4) [38)
20 (10) (152) (173 (1) (8 138 ) 14 38

1 The sensitivity analysis on equity, excludes the sensitivity ameunts recognised in the result before tax.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 Cecember 2021

22 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

b Foreign currency risk continued

At 31 December 2021, the fair value of foreign currency net asset derivatives instruments was £12 million, representing an increase of £257 million,
since 1 January 2021. These comprise both derivatives designated in hedge relationships and thase derivatives that are not designated intc 3 hedge
relationship at inception. As with the fuel price risk above, 3 proportion of the hedge relationships associated with foreign currancy derivatives
designated against fuel and revenue were no longer expected to occur and subsequently hedge accounting was discontinued. As a result of this
discontinuance, E11 million of the losses associatad with the fuel foreign currency derivatives and E6 million of the gains associated with the revenue
foreign currency derivatives were recorded in the Income statement and recognised within exceptional items, Refer to note 3 for further details.

Those derivatives not designated in a hedge relationship on inception have their mark-to-market movements recorded directly in the Income statement and
recognised within Net currency retranslation {charges)/credits.

[ Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates on debt, lease commitments and cash deposits. Interest rate risk on floating rate debt is managed
through interest rate swaps and interest rate collars.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financial instruments to a reasonable possible change In interest rates with all other vanabies
held constant, on result before tax and equity®

Strangthening  Effecton Effecton | Strengthening  Effecton Effect on

/ (weakening) result equity! / (weakaning) result equity'
in euro before tax in sterling befora tax

interest rate, £ million £ millian interest rate £ mithion £ million

Group and Company . Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
_{decrease} _(decrease) (decrease}  [decrease)
2021 50 S [ 50 (3] -
(50) 1 ) . {50) 2 -
2020 50 (7 g 50 - -
(50 : ! 7] £50) - -

+The sensitivity analysis on equity, excludes the sensitvicy amounts recognised in the result before tax.
For details regarding the Group®s management of interest rate benchmark reform, refer to note 22i,

d Credit risk

Credit risk is the sk that a counterparty will not meet its obligaticns under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.
The Grounis expased to cradit risk from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions
and other financial instruments. The Group has policies and procedures to monitor the risk by assigning limits to each counterparty by underlying
expasure and by operating company and by only entering inte transactions with counterparties with a low credit risk. The underlying exposures are
monitored on a daily basis and the overall exposure imit by counterparty is periadically reviewed by using available market information.

At each period end, the Group assesses the effect of counterparties’ and the Group's own credit risk on the fair value of derivatives. The financial
assets recognised in the financial statements, net of impairment losses, represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking.
account of any puarantees in place or other credit enhancements. There have been no significant changes in expected credit losses within the
Group. No collateral is held to mitigate this expasure.

Credit risks arising from the Company acting as guarantor are disclosed in note 28.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

22 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

e Liquidity risk

PRI S B S

The Group invests cash in interest-bearing accounts, time depasits and money market funds, choosing instruments with appropriate maturities ‘or
liquidity to retain sufficient headroom to readily generate cash inflows required to manage liquidity risk. The Group 2also has committed revalving

credit facilities.
At 31 December 2021 the Group and Company had unused overdraft facilities of £11 million (2020: £11 million).

The Group and Company had the following available undrawn general and committed aircraft financing facilities:

31 December 2021

£
Million Currency equivalent
General faciities:
LIS dollar facility expiring March 2024! $1,346 394
GBP pound steriing facility expiring November 20252 £1,000 1,000
1994
Commirted aircraft facilities;
US dolar facility expiring September 2022* © $635 . 469
LIS dollar facility expiring. March 20244 $398 294-.
763
31 December 2020
£
Million Currency equivalent
General facilities: :
S dollar facility expiring June 2021 3786 584
' 584
Commitred aircraft facilizias:
IS dollar facility expiring March 20212 $428 378
LIS dollar facility expiring July 20234 $658 489

807

1In March 2021, British Airways entered inta a Revalving Credit Facility with a syndicate of banks. The total amount available under the facility for British Airways is $1,346
million and will be available for 3 period of three years plus two one-year extension periods at the discretion of the lenders, The facility is undrawn at the date of this report,
Any resultant debt on drawing down on the Revolving Credit Fadility would be securitised against specific landing rights and airceaft Concurrent to entering inta the facility,
British Airways extinguished its LIS dollar secured Revolving Credit Facility due to mature in June 2021, and which had $786 milion undrawn and available at 31 December

2020,

nsecured five year Export Cevelopment Guarantee committed Facility of £1.0 billion with UKEF and a syndicate of banks.
3The undrawn part of the EETC aircraft financing facility raised in july 2021, Refer to note 20 for further information.

4The aircraft facilities maturing in 2024 (2020: maturing in 2023) are available for specific committed aircraft deliveries.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

‘22 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

e Liquidity risk continued

The following table analyses the Group's (outflows) and inflows in respect of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments into relevant
matunity groupings based on the remaining period at 31 December to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows and include interest,

Group
Withinsix  Betweensix and  Betweenone Betweentwo More than five Total 2021
€ million months twelve months  and two years  and five years years
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Asset financing liabilities (66} (61) (120) {350) (959) {1.556)
Lease liabilities (350} (342} {334) (1.879) (3,568) 7, 113)
Fixed rate borrowings (18) (9) (18) {39) - (84)
Floating rate borrowings (50) (101} (214) {3,913) (14) (4,332}
Other financing liabilities (15) - - - - (15)
Trade and other payables {1,588} - 77 - - (1,665)
Derivatives financial instruments (assets): :
Foreign exchange contracts (asset) 62 12 -16 - - 90
Fuel derivatives (asset) 81 €2 i7 - - t60
Fuel currency options (asset) - - 2 - - © 2
Derivative financial instruments (liabilities),
Forward currency contracts (liability) {36€) (23) (12) 3) - T {74}
Fuel derivatives (ffability) - (1 3 - - Y
Fuel currency options (liability) m 1] 0 - - 3)
Cther currency options (liability) M {2) (2) m - (6)
Interest rate swap (liability) 3) (3) {3) (3) - 12)
As at 31 December {2,065) {463) (1.349) (6,188) (4.541) (14,613)
Group
Within six  Between six and  Betweenone  Berweentwe  More than five
£ million manths twelve months  and two years  and five years years Toral 2020
Interasc-bearing loans and borrowings: ' .
Asset financing liabilities 60} (57} 1y (329) (956) {1515)
Lease liabilities {455) {489) (726) (2.280) (3.989) (7939)
Fixed rate borrowings 327 f13) 27} 50) 7 " (418)
Floating rate barrgwings (45) 5 {97 (1668) (38) (1900}
Other financing liabilities (33 - - - - - (33}
Trade and other payables (1.206) - (54) - - (1260}
Derivatives financial instruments {assets):
Foreign exchange contracts (asset) 31 20 5 4 - 70
Interest rate swap [asset) - - - 7 - 1
Derivative financial instruments (liabilities):
Forward currency contracts (liability) (176} (47) (66} (33) - (322)
Fue! derivatives (lizbility) 216} {121 {53} 2) (352}
Interest rate swap (liability} (4 {3 (6) (1) - (24)
As at 31 December 12 455) (761 (1 127) (4367) (4991

81
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cdntinued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 o

22 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

e Liquidity risk continued

The table below analyses the Company’s (outflows) and inflows in respect of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments [nto relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining penod at the balance sheet date to the contractual matunty date. The amounts disclosed in the table are

the cantractual undiscounted cash flows and include interest.

. Company
Within six  Between six and  Betweenone Betweentwo More than five Total 2021
£ million menths twelve months  and two years  and five years years
Interest-bearing lcans and borrowings:
Asset financing liabilities (66) (G1)] {120) {350} (359) (1.556)
Lease liabilitiés (383) (335) {923) {1,869) (3,568) (7,078)
Fixed rate barrowings (18) () (18) (39} - (84)
Floating rate borrowings (90) (101) {214) {3913} {(14) (4,332
Other financing liabilities (15) - - - - (15)
Trade and other payables (2,051 - {78) - - (2,129)
Derivatives financial instruments (assets). ’
Faoreign exchange contracts (asset) 63 13 i8 - - 94
Fuei derivatives (asset) 81 62 17 - - 160
Fuel currency optians (asset) - - 2 - - 2
Derivative financial instruments (liabilities):
Forward currency contracts {lizbility) (38) (26} (15) (3 - (84)
Fuel derivatives (liabitity) - M (3 - - (4)
Fuet currency options (liability) n 1) m - - (3
QOther currency options (lability) M (2 ()] )] - L))
Interast rate swap (liability) (3 3 (3 (3) - 12)
As at 31 December (2,522) (464) (1.340) (6,181) (4.541) (15,048)
Company
Within six  Berween six and  Batween one  Betweentwo  More than five Total 2 0"., 0
£ million months twelve months  and two years  and five years years
Interest-bearing Joans a2nd borrowings:
Asset financing liabilities 60} (57 (13} £329) (256} (1575)
Lease liabilities {<446) {483} ) {712) (2.262) (3,989) {7892)
Fixed rate barrowings (321 1y 27 (50 Ve, (418)
Figating rate borrawings (46} I&1/) {97 . {1668) {38} (1900)
Other financing liabilities {33 - - - - (23)
Trade and other payables (1556) - 549 - - {1640)
Derivatives financial instruments {assets): )
Foreign exchange contracts (asset) 33 27 16 5 - 75
Interest rate swap {asset) ' - - - H - !
Dearivative financial instruments {liabilities):
Forward currency contracts (liability} (177 {47) (66} {33) - (323}
Fuel derivatives {liability) ' {216) {121} (53) 2) - (352)
interest rate swap (liability) {4) (3 6) {10) ¢/ (24)
As at 31 Dacember (2856} (754) (11i2) (4.348) (4.991) (14.067)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

22 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

f Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

The Group enters inta derivative transactions under JSDA {International Swaps ang Derivatives Association) documentation, In general, under such
agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty on a single day in respect of all transactions outstanding are ageregated into a single net

amount that is payable by one party to the other.

The following financial assets and liabilities are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements.

Group
Financial
instruments  Net amounts Related
that are of financial financial
Gross value cffset under instruments instruments
of financial netting in the that are not
£ million instrurnents agreements'  balance shest offset! Net amount
31 December 2021 ' '
Financial assets . ’ . :
Derivative financial assets 260 (@] 253 ) 245
Financial fiabilities
Derivative financial liabilities 102 0] a5 )] 88

fim 2020 the Group had pledged cash and vash equivalencs ss coflateral againse certain of its decvates financial fabitities. As at 31 December 2021, the Group recognised
Enil million of collateral (2020: £25 million) offset under netting arrangements.

Within the Company the gross value of derivative financial assets was £262 million and the net value was £255 million. The gross value of derivative financial liabilites
was £102 million and the net value was £56 miillion. The value of related financial instruments that are not offset was £7 miltion.

Group
Financial
instruments  Net amounts Related
that are of financial financiaf
Gross value offset under instruments instruments
of financial necring inthe that are not
£ million inscruments Jgreements  bhalance sheet offset Net amount
31 December 2020
Financial assets .
Derivative financial assets 73 I¢)) 2 <) 63
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities (748) 26 720) g _7n

Within the Company the gross value of derivative financial assets was £77 million and the net value was E76 million. The gross value of derivative finangial liabitities was
£722 million and the net value was £721 million. The value of related financial instruments that are not offset was £9 million. .

E Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are t¢ safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern t@ maintain an optimal capital
structure, to reduce the cost of capital and to provide returns te shareholders.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt to EBITDA ratio. For the year to 31 December 2021, the net debt to EBITDA was minus
8.81 times (2020: minus 6.02 times). Net debt is defined as the total borrowings, asset financing liabilities, net interest-bearing deposits and cash and
cash equivalents less overdrafts and EBITDA is defined as operaung loss before exceptional items, depreciation, amaortisation and impairment.

Further detail on liquidity and capital resources and capital risk management is disclosed in the going concern section in note 2.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

22 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

h  Managing interest rate benchmark reform and assodated risks

Overview . .

A reform of major interest rete benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the reglacerment of certain interbank offered rates (IBORs) with
altemnative nearly nigk-free rates (referred to as IBCR reform’). The Group has exposures te IBORS on its financial instruments that are expected to mature

subsequent to 31 December 2021, and as such will be replaced as part of these market-wide initiatives. The Group anticipates that IBOR refosm will impact
its risk management and hedge accounting.

Curing 2020 the Group established an 1BOR transiticn working group and project plan, led by IAG Treasury. This preject has and continues to consider
the required changes to systems, processes, risk management and valuation modals, as well as managing any accounting and tax implications. During the
course of 2021, the Group, and the counterparties to the financial instruments, have transitioned the majority of such instruments to an altemative
benchmark rate and in order to enable such transitions, changes 1o systems, processes and medels have been implemented. Those financial instruments
that have not transiticned at 31 December 2021 predominantly refate to those with a US dollar LIBOR component, which is not expected to convert to
an alternative risk-free rate until mid-2023, subject to further consultation.

In addition, during 2021, the Group has enquired of the trustees of the Group's pension schemes to understand the status of their IBOR transitions, if any.
The Group has satisfied itself that all material derivative financial and non-derivative financial instruments with an IBOR component have been transiticned
to an alternative benchmark at 31 December 2021, ’

Refarms to the Eurg Interbank Offered Rate (ELRIBOR) methodology to enable it to meet the criteriz of a risk-free rate were completed in 2019. As such
the Group expects to continue to utilise financial instruments with a ELRIBOR companent without transitioning to an 3ltemative benchmark rate.

The table below pravides an overview of the IBOR related exposures as at 31 December 2021. Non-derivative financial instruments are presented on the
basis of their carrying values, while derivative financial instruments are presented on the basis of their nominal amounts.

Non- L

deﬁvat?ve Derivative

financial . financial

instruments  INStrments

—carryin —nominal

Souic value amount
UsD UIBOR ' 18 ' -

INor-derivative financial instruments relates to floating rate borrowings and lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

23 Financial instruments

a Financial assets and liabilities by category
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The detail of the Group's financial instruments as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 by nature and classification for measurement

purposes was as follows:

At 31 December 2021

Financial assets

Group

£ mill Fair value through Fair value through Nen-financial Total carrying .
millicn . . .
Amortised cost OCi income statement assets amount
Non-current financial assets
Other equity invastments - 2 - - 2
Daerivative financial instrurmhents’ - - 35 - 35
Other non-current assets? 76 - - 92 168
Current financial assets
Trade receivables 454 - - - 454
Derivative financial instruments! - - 218 - - 28
Other current assets? 148 - - 266 414
Cash and cash equivalents 1,687 - - - 1,687

‘Within the Campany, non-current derivative financial instrument assets are £35 million and current derivative financial instrument assets are £220 million.
within the Company, total ather non-current assets are £170 million, of which loans and receivables (amortised cast) are £82 million and nan-financial assets are £88
million. Total other current assets in the Company are £417 million, of which loans and receivables (amcrtised cost) are £157 million and non-financial assets are £260

million.
Financial liabilities Graup.
£ mill ‘ Fair value through Fair value through Nan-financial Total carrying. -
million . . cgare s

Amortised cost QCl income statement liabilities amount
Non-current financial liabilities .
Interest bearing long-term
borrowings 4721 - - - 471
Lease liabilities 4197 - . - 4,197
Derivative financial instruments' - - 26 - . 2
Other long-term liabilities? 76 - - i5 91 .
Current financial liabilities
Current portion of long-term . -
borrowings 180 - - - 180
Lease liabilities 652 - - - 652
Trade and cther payables? 1,622 - - 43 1,665
Derivative financial instruments' - - 69 - 69

"within the Company, non-current derivative financial instrument liabilities are £26 million and current derivative financial instrument liabilities are £70 mitlion.
*within the Company, total other long-teem liabilities are £89 million, of which Ioans and payables (amortised cost} are £79 million and non-financial liabilities are £10
million. Total trade and other payables in the Company are £2,092 million, of which loans 2nd payables (amortised cost) are £2,051 millien and non-financial liabilitres are

£41 million,

8%
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Notes to the Financial Statements {(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

23 Financial instruments continued

F Financial assets and liabilities by category continued

As at 31 December 2020

Financial assets : : Group
€ million _ Fair value through _Fair value through Non-ﬁn;r}gjal Total carrying
Amortised cost OC| income statement liabilities amount
Non-current financial assets
Other equity investmants - 2 - - 2
Derivative financial instruments' - - 20 - 20
Other non-current assets? ) g4 - - 80 174
Current financial assets
Trade receivables " 356 - - - C 358
Derivative financial instruments! - - 52 - 52
Other current assers? 8 . - - ] 265 . 351
Cash and cash equivalents 1261 - - - " 1,261

‘within the Company, nan-current derivative financial instrument assets are £22 mitlion and current derivative financial instrument assets are E54 million.

Twithin tha Company, total other non-current assets ara £170 miflian, of which loans and recaivables (amortised cost) are £94 millian and non-financial assets are £76
million. Tatal other current assets in the Company are £383 millien, of which loans and receivables {amortised cost) are E137 millien and non-financial assets are £246
million,

Financial liabilities Group

€ miltion. ) Fair value through _Fair value through Non-financial Total carrying

Amortised cost [e]a]] income statement assets amount
Non-current financial liabitities
Interest bearing long-term .
borrowings 2837 - - - 2837
Lease liabilities - 4646 : - - - 4646
Derivative financial instruments! - - 168 - 68
Cther long-term liabilities? 54 - - 15 69
Current financial liabilities
Current portion of long-term '
borrowings 465 - - - 465
Lease liakilities . 845 - - - 845
Trade and other payables? 1206 - - 37 1243
Derivative financial instrumentst - - 557 - 552

fwithin the Company, non-current derivative financial instrument liabilities are £168 million and current derivative financial instrument liabilities are £553 million.

"within the Campany, total other long-tarm kabilities are £67 million, of which loans and payables {amortised cost} are £54 million and nan-financial habilities are £13
million. Total trade and other payables in the Company are £1,616 million, of which loans and payables (amortised cost) are £1,586 million and non-financial liabilities are
£30 million, .
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year anded 31 December 2021

23 Financial instruments continued

b Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The fair values of the Group's financial instruments are disclosed in hierarchy levels depending on the nature of the inputs used in determining the
fair values and using the following methods and assumptions:

Leve! 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly accurring market transactions an an arm's length basis,

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The fair value
of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is detenmined by valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use
of cbservable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.

Derivative instruments are measured based on the market value of instruments with similar terms and conditions using forward pricing modets, which
include forward exchange rates, forward interest rates, forward fuel curves and corresponding volatility surface data at the reporting date. The fair
value of derivative financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows, incorporating adjustments for own credit risk and counterparty credit
risk;

«  Commodity reference contracts including swaps and options transactions, referenced to (i) CIF NWE cargoes jet fuel; (i) ICE Gasail; (iii)
ICE Brent; (iv) ICE Gasail Brent crack; (v} [et Differential and (vi) Jet fuel Brent crack - the mark-to-market valuation prices are determined
by reference to current forward curve and standard opticn pricing valuation models, values are discounted to the reporting date based on
the corresponding interest rate;

«  Currency forward and option contracts — by reference to current forward prices and standard option pricing valuation models, values are
discounted to the reporting date based on the carresponding interest rate; and

= Interest rate swap contracts — by discounting the future cash flows of the swap contracts at market interest rate valued with the current
forward curve,

The fair value of the Group's interest-bearing berrowings including leases is determined by discounting the remaining contractual cash flows at the
relevant market interest rates at the balance sheet date.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on cbservable market data. The principal method of such valuation is perfermed using a
vajuation model that considers the present value of the dividend cash flows expected to be generated by the associated assets.

The fair value of ¢ash and cash equivaients, cther interest-bearing deposits, trade receivables, other current assets and trade and other payables
approximate their carrying vaiue largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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. Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

23 Financial instruments continued
b Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities continued

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities held at fair value as at 31 December 2021 are set out below:

Group
Fair value ' Carrying value
£ millicn - Level 1 " Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets:
Other equity investments - - .3 2 2
Amounts owed by associated group
undertakings - 88 - 88 85
Derivative financial assets:
Forward currency contracts! - 80 - 20 90
Currency cptioh contracts! - 2 - 2 2
Fuel derivatives - 10 - 160 160
Interest rate swaps' - 1 - 1 1
Financial liabilities:
Interest-bearing laans and borrowings:
Asset financed liabilities - 1,419 - 1,419 1,265
Fixed rate borrowings - 84 - 84 83
Floating rate barrowings ’ - 3539 - 3,539 3,539
.Other financing liabilitias - 14 - 14 14
iDerivative financial liabilities:
tForward currency contracts? - 72 - 72 72
- Currency oplion contracts? - 9 - 9 9
“Fuel derivatives? - 3 - 3 3
Interest rate swaps? - " - 1 1"

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities held at fair value as at 31 December 2020 are set out below:

Group
Fair value Carrying value
£'million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total
Financial assets: '
Other equity investments - - 2 2 2
Arnounts owed by associated group ’
undertakings - 109 - 109 104
Derivative financial assets: '
Forward currency cantracts! - 71 - 71 7
Interest rate swaps' - ! - 7 !
Financial liabilities:
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Asset financed tiabilities - 1397 - 1397 L1917
Fixed rate borrowings - 418 - 415 410
Floating rate barrowings - 1662 - 1662 1662
Cther financing liabilities - 33 - 33 33
Derivative financial fiabilities:
Forward currency contracts? - 36 - 36 El)
Fuel Derivatives? - 387 - 381 381
Interest rate swaps? - 23 - 23 23
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 3i December 2021

23 Financial instruments continued
‘b Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities continued
There has been no transfer between levels of fair value hierarchy during the year.

3 Level 3 finzncial assets reconciliation

The following table summarises key movements in the carrying value in Level 3 financial assets:

Group Company
£ million 2021 2020 2021 2020
Balance at 1 January - 2 40 2 40
Fair value adjustment’ - : (38} - 38)
As at 31 December 2 2 2 2

'‘During 2020, evidence of 2 decline in the fair value of shares held in The Airine Group Limited became available. The Company’s most recent Annual Report and
Accounts indicated an expected dividend distribution of nil for the fareseeable future, as such a valuation based on the future cash flows has resulted in a fair value
reduction of this asset of E38 million recagnised in the Consolidated statement of gther comprehensive income. .

d Cash flow hedges
At 31 December 2021 the Group's principal risk management activities that wera hedging future forecast transactions were;

+ Future loan repayment instaiments in foreign qurrency, hedging foreign exchange risk on revenue cash inflows. Remeasurement gains and losses
on the loans are recognised in equity and transferred to the income statement within revenue when the loan is repaid (generally in instaiments Gver
the life of the loan);

» Forward jet fuel and jet fuel companent derivative contracts, hedging price risk on fuel cash outflows. Remeasurement gains and losses on the
derivatives are recognised in equity and transferred to the income statement within fuel, oil costs and emissions charges to match against the related
fuel cash cutflow. Reclassification gains and losses on derivatives, arising from the discontinuance of hedge accounting, are recognised in the income
statement within fuel, oil costs and emissions charges when the future transaction is no langer expected to occur,

« Fareign exchange contracts, hedging foreign currency exchange risk on revenue cash inflows and certain operational payments. Remeasurement
gains and losses en the derivatives are (i) recognised in equity and transferred to the Income statement, where the hedged item is recorded directly
in the Income statement, to the same caption as the underlying hedged item is classified; (i) recognised in equity and transferred to the Balance
sheet, where the hedged item is a non-financial asset or liability, in the same caption as the hedged item is recognised; and {iii) recognised in equity
and transferred to the Inccme statement, where the hedged item is a financial asset or fiability, at the same time as the financial asset or liability is
recorded in the Income statement, Reclassification gains and losses on derivatives, anising from the discontinuance of hedge accounting, are
recognised in the Income statement when the future transaction is no longer expected to occur and recorded in the relevant Income statement
caption to which the hedged item is classified;

+ interest rate contracts, hedging interest rate risk on floating rate debt. Remeasurement gains and losses on the derivatives are recognised in equity
and transferred to the Income statement within Interest expense.

To the extent that the hedges were assessed as highly effective, a summary of the amounts included in eguity is shown below:

Group

Total Total

£ miliion 2021 2020
Loan repayments 1o hedge future revenue B4 203
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future revenue and expenditure 53 116
Hedges of future fuel purchases ‘ (147) 152
Interes: rate hedges 36 23
Instruments for which hedge accounting no longer applies! 210 256
236 750

Related deferred tax credit (45) (143)
Total amount included within equity 191 607

‘Relates to previously terminated hedge relationships for which the underlying forecast transaction remains expected to occur,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

23 Financial instruments continued
d Cash flaw hedges continued

The notional amounts of sighificant financial instruments used as cash flow hedging instruments are set cut below;

Notional princioa! amounts Group and Comoany
- Hedge range Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 Total 2021
£ millign years

Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future revenue and
expenditure

usp _ 123-145 2214 876 36 - 3,126
EUR 1.08 - 118 170 88 - - 258
Notional principal amounts ) Group and Company
£ erillion Hedge range within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More t:aeralri Total 2020
Foreign exchange contracts to hedge future revenue and
expenditure .
uso ts-pe0 0 1350 698 402 - 2450
EUR 108~ 119 163 149 28 - 340

The Greup's loan repayment instalments used to hedge foreign currency risk on future revenue inflows were predominantly in euros and Japanese
yen. The total notional amounts at 31 December 2021 were €1,134 million (2020: €1,327 million} and ¥53,268 million (2020: ¥52,994 million).

Derivative contracts are used 1o hedge fuel purchases over a period of up to two years (previously three years). Notional quantities associated with
these contracts at 31 December 2021 amounted to 4 million tonnes (2020: 4 million tonnes) with a hedge price range of USD 378 - 715 (2020: U3D
584 - 941,

“ The notional amount of the Group's interest rate contracts to hedge the Roating interest rate on euro-denominated debt at 31 December 2021 was
€796 million (2020: €543 miilion).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 202!

23 Financial instruments continued

d Cash flow hedges continued

The mavements in cther comprehensive income in relation to cash Aow hedges are shown below:

As at 31 December 201

Amounis recognised Amgunts associated

Discontinuance of

Other amaounts

Amounts

in ather with ineffectiveness . Total recognised . .
. A hedge reclassified to reclassified to the  reclassified to the
- ccwprEhe",swe recagnised in the the income statement losses income statement balance sheet

£ milfian income income statement
Debt repayments to hedge future
ravenus {106) - B (106) [ 3)/ -
Foreign exchange contracts to
hedge future revenue and
expenditure (68) - 3 (65) 16 15)
Hedge of future fuel purchases (390) - ] {330} 29 -
tnterest rate hedgas : (6) - - (6) (8) 27
Inseruments for which hedge
accounting na longer applies - - - - (48) -

{570) - 63 (507 23) 12

'Amounts recogrnised in ather comprehensive incorne represent gains on the hedging instruments.

As at 31 Decamber 2020

Amaunts recognised Amounts associated

Discontinuance of

Other amaunts

Amounts

in ather with ineffectiveness Taral recognised - "
comprehensive racognised in the hecfge reclassified to losses _reclasslﬁed tothe  reclassified 1o the
- . . the inceme statement income statement balance sheet

£ million income’ Income statement
Cebr repayments to hedge future
revenue 170 - 19 97 (17 -
Foreign exchange contracts to
hedge future ravenue and
expenditure 23 - 47 &4 % 4
Hedge of future fuel purchases 1304 - 1940} 364 {258) -
Interest rate hedges 27 - - 27 7 {29}
Instruments for which hedge .
accaounting no langer applies - - - - (56) -

L4964 - (8!8} 546 (322 25

'Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income represent losses on the hedging instruments.

The (gains)/losses associated with the discontinuance of hedge accounting recognised in the income statement and the subsequent fair value
movements of those derivative instruments recorded in the income statement as an exceptional item {see note 3) through to the earlier of the

balance sheet date and the maturity date of the derivatives are set out below:

£ million 2021 2020
{Gains)/losses associated with the discontinuance of hedge accounting recognised in the income statement (63) - 827
Fair value movements subsequently recorded in the income statement (50) {37}
Total effect of discontinuance of hedge accounting in the income statement (113) 850

The Group has no fair value hedgas at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Company

The Company undertakes hedging activities on behalf of other companies within the Group and

centrally. As a result, the disclosures above apply to the Company as for the Group.

S1
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

24 Share capital and share premium
Group and Company

201 2020
Number of Number of

shares 000s £ million shares 000s £ miilion

Share capital aliotted, called up and fuily paid
Al Ordinary shares of £289.70 each . 897 260 897 260
A2 Ordinary shares of £289.70 each 99 29 g9 29
B Ordinary shares of £1 each . 1,000 1 1000 7
C Ordinary shares of £1 each 148 - 148 -
As at 31 December 2,144 290 2144 290
) Group and Campany
£ million 2021 2020
Share premium as at 31 December 1,512 1512

The A1 and A2 class ordinary shareholders have full vating and econamic rights in accordance with the percentage of shares held. The B class
ordinary shareholders have full voting rights in accordance with the percentage of shares held, however have minimal economic rights attached to
them. The C ¢lass ordinary share have full economic rights in accordance with the percentage of shares held, however are non-voting.

25 Share options

The Group operates share-based payment schemes as part of the total remuneration package provided to employees. The share-based payments
charge/{credit) has been recorded as part of ‘Employee costs' in the income statement as follows:

E millicn 2021 2020
Share option schemes recharged/(credited) from IAG 3 ¢
Total share-based payments charge/{credit) recarded in employee costs 3 ]

BA participates in |AG share-based payment schemes, with awards to BA amployees being rade in plans operated by IAG that represent rights aver
its ordinary shares. The costs of these awards are recharged from IAG based on its determination of award fair values. The amount outstanding at
the year end is included in the amounts owed to IAG and disclased in note 30 (Refated party transactions’). A brief description of the schemes is
set out below:

2) IAG Performance Share Plan

The IAG Performance Share Plan (‘PSP is pranted to senior executives and managers of the Group who are most directly involved in shaping and
delivering business success over the medivm to long term. Since 2015, awards have been made as nil-cost options, with a two-year holding period
following the three-year performance pericd, before options can be exercised. All awards since 2015 have three independent performance measures
with equal weighting: Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR relative to the STOXX Europe 600 Travel and Leisure Index (for 2020 awards) or MSC/
European Transportation Index (for prior to 2020 awards), earnings per share, and Return on Invested Capital.

b} IAG Restricted Share Plan )
During 2021, |AG revised its approach to long-term incentives, replacing the existing PSP with a Restricted Share Plan proposal under the new
Executive Share Plan {RSF?) approved by shareholders in June 2021. The RSP was introduced to increase the alignment of both interests and
outcomes between the Group's senior management and shareholders through the build-up and maintenance of senior management shareholdings
and an increased focus on the long-term, sustainable performance of the Group. Awards have been made as nil-cost opticns, with a two-year holding
period following the three-year performance period, before options can be exercised. There are no performance measures associated with the
awards, aithough approval at the end of the vesting period will be at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, considering the 1AG Group's
overall performance, including financial and non-financial performance measures over the course of the vesting period, as well as any material risk
or regulatory Failures identified.

c) IAG Fuil Potential Incentive Plan ]

During 2021, 1AG faunched the new Full Potentiai Incentive Plan (FPIF), which is granted to key individuals involved in the delivery of a series of
transformation projects that will enable the Group to deliver business success over the medium to long term, The Awards have been made as nil-
cost options, vesting in 2025 and dependent on stretch performance targets for 2024 and the approval of the Board.

d) IAG Incentive Award Deferral Flan

The IAG Incentive Award Deferrai Pian (1TADP") is granted to qualifying employees based on perfermance and service tests. It will be awarded when
an incentive award is tripgered subject to the employee remaining in employment with the IAG Group for three years after the grant datn. The
relevant population will receive 50 per cent of their incentive award up front in cash, and the remaining 50 per cent in shares after three years
through the IADF.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

26 Otherreserves

a Group
Group
£ miltion Retained u;ar;a:.:ﬁg ri%sgti:gf Currency E;t::
earnings losses reserve " slation reserves
Balance at | January 2020 as reported! 4373 (410) 42 - 4005
Change in accounting policy! 246 - - - 246
Balance at 1 jJanuary 2020 restated 4619 410} 42 - 4257
Loss for the year (3500} - - - {3.500)
Qther comprehensive loss for the year .
Exchange gains - - - 5 15
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue - 51 - - 57
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred o fuel and oil costs Co- 204 - . - 204
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to finance costs - T 29 - - 29
Derecognition of fuel hedges - 743 8 - 751
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges - (1174) - - (1174)
Net change in fair value of cost of hedging - - 12 - 2
Cost of hedging reclassified and repcrted in net loss - i - {1 - my)
Share of movement in reserves of associates (12} - - - {2
Other equity investments - fair value movements in equity - (47 - - (47)
Pension remeasurements {522) - - - (522)
Hedges reclassified and reported in property, plant and equipment - 3 [14/] - (4
Cost of share-based payments i - - - - 1)
Tatal income and expense for the year (4,035) {187) 177 15 {4.219)
Balance at 1 January 2021 restated! 584 (807) 40 15 32
Loss for the year {1,648) - - - {1,648
QOther comprehensive income for tha year:
Exchange losses - - - (9) (S}
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue - 16 - - 16
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and oil costs - {4) - - {4)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to finance costs - 7 - - 7
Derecognition of fuel hedges - {51) - - {51)
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges - 448 - - 448
MNet change in fair vafue of cost of hedging - - 12. - 12
Cost of hedging reclassified and reperted in net loss - - (1) - ’ (M)
Share of movement in reserves of associates m - - - 1))
Pansion remeasurements 1,187 - - - 1,197
Hedges reclassified and reported in property, plant and equipment - 12 {10) - 2
Taotal income and expanse for the year {452) 428 (9) (9} (42}
As at 31 December 2021 132 (179) 31 6 {10)

The 2020 results have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further information is given
in note 2. .

Retained earnings
The retained earnings reserve represents the accumulated retained profits of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses
The unrealised gains 3nd losses reserve records fair value changes on equity investments and the portion of the gain or lass on a hedging instrument
in a cash fiow hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge.

Cost of hedging reserve
The cost of hedging reserve records, amongst others, changes on the time value of options,

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve is used to record exchange c'fferences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries
and associates. :
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

26 Other reserves continued

b Company -
Company
. Retained”  Urredised Costof  yotal other
£ million . gzins and hedging
earnings lossas resorve reserves
Balance at 1 January 2020 as reparted! 4796 {423) 42 4416
Change in accounting policy! 246 - - 245
Balance at 1 January 2020 restated S042 (423) 42 4662
 Loss for the year _ (3.717) - - (3717
QOther commprehensive loss for the year, '
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue - 14 - : 57
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and oil costs - 204 - 204
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to finange costs - 22 - 29
Derecagnition of fuel hedges - 743 g . 751
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges - (1174 - (1174)
Net change in fair value of cost of hedging - - 12 72
Cost of hedging reclassified and reparted in net loss : - - an (rn
Other equity investments - fair value movements in equity - (39 L. (39)
Pension remeasurements (516) - - (575}
Hedges reclassified and reported in property, piant and equipment - 3 an (14}
Cost of share-based payments I/ - - it
Total income and expense for the year (4234) 1EG} b/ (4 425)
Balance at 1January 2021 restated’ . 808 (612) 40 237
Laoss for the year (1,675) - - (1,675)
Other comprehensive income for the year: :
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger reverug - 16 - 16
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and ail costs - {4) - (4)
Fair vajue of cash flow hedges transferred to finance costs - 7 - 7
Derecognition of fuel hedges - (SN - (1
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges ' - 448 - 448
Net change in fair value of cost of hedging - - 12 12
Cost of hedging reclassified and reported in net loss - - (1 ' ()
Pension remeasurements 1192 - - 1192
Hedges reclassified and reported in property, plant and equipment - 12 (0} 2
Total income and expense for the year (483) 428 (S} - (85)
As at 31 December 2021 325 (184) B 3 172

‘The 2020 rasults have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes, Further information is given
in note 2 of this report
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Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

27 Employee benefits

The Group operates a variety of post-empioyment benefit arrangements, covering both defined contribution and defined benefit schemes.

Defined contribution schemes

The main defined contribution scheme is the British Airways Pension Plan ('BAPP?. It offers 3 chaice of contribution rates and the ability to opt for
cash instead of a pension.

Costs recognised in respect of the defined contribution pension plan for the year to 31 December 2021 were £HE miilion (2020: £136 miflion).
Defined benefit schemes

The principal funded defined benefit pension schemes within the Group are the Airways Pension Scheme ((APS) and the New Airways Pension
Scheme (NAPS).

APS has been closed to new members since 1984, but remains open to future accrual. The benefits provided under APS are based an final average
pensionable pay and, for the majority of members, are subject to inflationary increases in payment.

NAPS has been closed to new members since 2004 and closed to future accrual since 2018, resulting in a reduction of the defined benefit obligation.
Foliowing closure members' deferred pensions are increased annually by inflation up to five per cent per annum {measured using the Govemment H
annua! Pension Increase (Raview) Orders, which since 2011 have been based on CPI).

APS and NAPS are governed by separate Trustee Boards. Although APS and NAPS have separate Trustee Boards, much of the business of the two
schemes is common. Some main Boarg and committee meetings are held in tandem although each Trustee Board reaches its decisions independently.
There are three sub committees which are separately responsible for the governance, operation and investments of each scheme. British Airways
Pension Trustees Limited holds the assets of both schemes on behalf of their respective Trusteas.

Triennially, the Trustees of APS and NAPS undertake actuarial valuations, which are subsequentiy agreed with 8ritish Airways to determine the cash
contributions and any deficit payment plans through to the next valuation date, as well as ensuring that the schemes have sufficient funds available
to mest future banefir payments to members. These actuarial valuations are prepared using the principles set out in UK Pension legislation. This
differs from the 1AS 19 'Employee benefits’ valuation, which is used for deriving the Income statement and Balance sheet pasitions, and uses a best-
estimate approach overall. The different purpose and principles lead to different assumptions being used, and therefare a different estimate for the
liabilitles and deficit '

At 31 December 2021, the triennial valuations as at 31 March 2021 were nct finalised and accordingly the latest actuarial valuations of both APS and
NAPS were performed as at 31 March 2018, which resulted in a surplus of £599 million for APS and a deficit of £2,395 million for NAPS. The actuarial
valuations performed for APS and NAPS are different to the valuation perfarmed as at 31 December 2021 under IAS 15 ‘Employee Benefits' mainly
due to timing diffarences of the measurement dates and to the specific scheme assumptions in the actuarial valuation compared with 1AS 18 guidance
used in the accounting valuation assumptions.

Other plans
British Airways also operates post-retirement schemes in a number of jurisdictions cutside of the UK The principal scheme is the British Airways
Plc Pension Plan (UUSA) based in the United States and referred to as the ‘'US Plan’. The US Plan is considered to be a defined benefit scheme and is

closed ro new members and to future accrual

The majority of the Group's other plans are fully funded, but there are also a number of unfunded plans, where the Group meets the benefit payment
obligations as they fall due,
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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27 Employee benefits continued
Risks associated with the defined benefit schemes
The defined benefit schemes expose the Group to a range of risks, with the following being the most significant

s Asset volatility risk - the scheme obligations are calcufated using a discount rate set with reference to high quality corporate bond yields.
If scheéme assets underperform this yield, this will reduce the surpius / increase the deficit, depending on the scheme. Certain of the
schemes hold a significant proportion of equities, which are expected to cutperform corporate bonds in the long term while creating
volatility and risk in the short term;

= Longevity risk — the majority of the scheme obligations are to provide benefits over the life of the scheme members. An increase in life
expectancy will result in a corresponding increase in the defined benefit obligation;

e  Interest rate nsk - A decrease jn interest rates wifl increase pian liabilities, although this will be parually offset by an increase in the value
of certain of the scheme assets;

« Inflation risk = a significant proportion of the scheme abligations are linked to inflation, such that any increase in inflatien will cause an
increase in the cbligations. While certain of the scheme assets are indexed to inflation, any expected increase in the scheme assets from
inflation would be disproportionately lower than the increase in the scheme obligations; and

«  Currency risk — a number of scheme assets are denominated in currencies other than sterling. Weakening of those currencies, or
strengthening of sterling, in the long term, will have the effect of reducing the value of scheme assets.

a Cash payments and funding arrangements

Cash payments in respect of pension chligations comprise normal employer contributions made by the Group and deficit contributions based on agreed
deficit payment plans with APS and NAPS, Total payments for the year ended 31 December 2021 net of service costs made by the Group were £35 million
(2020: £283 million) less the current service cost of £3 million (2020 £3 million) {ncte 27b).

Future funding arrangements

Pension contributions for APS and NAPS were determined by actuarial valuations made at 31 March 2018, using assumptions and methodolegies agreed
between the Group and Trustee of each scheme.

In total, the Group expects to pay £1 millicn in employer contrbutions to APS and Enil to NAPS in 2022

The following graph provides the undiscounted benefit payments to be made by the trustees of APS and NAPS over the remaining expected duration of
the schemes:

Projected benefit payments from the valuation date {£m) (unaudited)
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27 Employee benefits continued
a Cash payments and funding arrangements continued

At the date of the actuariat valuation, the actuarial deficit of NAPS amounted to £2,399 million. in order to address the deficit in the scheme, the
Group has committed to deficit contributicn payments through to the end of the first quarter of 2023 amounting to approximately £112.5 million
per quarter. The deficit contribution plan includes an over-funding mechanism, based on the triennial valuation methadology for measuring the
deficit, whereby deficit contributions are paid into an escrow account if the scheme funding levei reaches 97 per cent, and are suspended if the
funding level reaches 100 per cent, with @ mechanism for contributions to resume if the contribution level subsequently falls below 100 per cent,
which includes additional contributions equivalent to those months where contributions had been suspended, or untit such point as the scheme
funding level reaches 97 per cent.

During the year ended and as at 31 December 2021, the NAPS funding level exceeded 100 per cent and accordingly deficit contributicns were
suspended. At 31 December 2021, the valuation of the funding leve! incorporates significant forward-looking assumptions, as disclosed in note 2,
such that the Group currently does not expect to make further deficit contributions. Given the long-term nature of the NAFS scherre, these
assumptions are subject to uncertainty and there can be no guarantee that deficit contributions will not resume in the future or that additional deficit
contributions will be incorporated into future triennial actuarial valuations.

Ar 31 December 2021, had the over-funding mechanism not been applied, then the asset ceiling adjustment {as detailed in note 27¢) would have
been £246 millian higher.

On 18 December 202C British Airways reached agreement with the Trustee of NAPS to defer deficit contributions on an interim basis for the pericd
between 1 September 2020 and 31/anuary 2021.On 19 February 2021 British Airways reached further agreement with the Trustee of NAPS to defer
deficit contributions previously agreed in October 2019 on the 31 March 2018 valuaticn, through to 31 August 2021. Under this deferral agreement,
the deferred payments will be incorporated into the future deficit payment plan and asscciated deficit contributions arising from the triennial
valuation of the NAPS scheme as at 31 March 2021, The deferred deficit contribution payments da not include an over-funding mechanism.

At 31 December 2021, the Group is committed to the following undiscounted deficit payments, including interest, which are deductible for tax
purposes at the statutory rate of tax:

£ million NAPS
Within twelve months B
QOne to two years : 337
Two to five years 149
Total expected deficit payments 486

Deficit payments in respect of local arrangements outside the UK have been determined in accordance with local practice.

Under the contribution deferral agreement between British Airways and the Trustee of NAPS, in the period up to 31 December 2023, no dividend
payment is perrmitted from British Airways te IAG. From 2024 onwards, any dividends paid by British Airways wifl be matched by contributions to
NAPS of 50 per cent of the value of dividends paid. Any such payments to NAPS will reduce the cutstanding repayment balance and are capped at
that level. The requirement to make such payments to NAPS ceases after deferred contributions have been repaid.

b Employee benefit schemes recognised in the financial statements
i Amounts recognised on the Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2021
£ million APS NAPS Other’ Total
Scheme assets at fair value 7,536 21,251 378 28,205
Present value of scheme liabilities* {7.081) (19,190) (598) (26,869)
MNet pension asset/{liability) 455 2,101 (220) 2,336
Effect of the asset ceiling? {159) (501} - (1,060}
Other employee benefit obligations - - %) (9)
296 1,200 {229) 1,267
Represented by
Employee benefit assets 1,508
Employee berefit cbligations? (241)
Net employee benefit assetss 1,267
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 Decamber 2021

27 Employee benefits continued

e ——— | ——— e b

b Employee benefit schemes recognised in the firtancial statements continued
i Amounts recognised on the Balance sheet continued
As ar 31 December 20203
£ million AFS NAPS Orher! Total
Scheme assets at fair value 7752 20196 369 28317
Present value of scheme |iabilities4 ) (7323) (19.776) (646} (27,745}
Net pension asset/{liability) 429 420 (277) 572
Effect of the asset ceiling? (138} (553} - {691)
Other employee benefit obligations - . (9 &
2971 (133 (286 (128;
Represanted by
Employee benefit assets 303
Employee benefit obligations* {431}
Net employee benefit obligationss . {128)

The defined benefit obligaticn includes £20 million (2020: E.21 million) arising frem unfunded pians,

2APS and NAPS have an accouniing surplus under 1AS 19, which would be available to the Group as a refund upon wind up of the scheme. This refund is restricted due
to withholding taxes that woyld be payable by the Trustee arising on both the net pension asset and the future contractual minimum funding requirements,

¥The 2020 results have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further information is
givenin note 2.

*includes Addiconal Valuntary Contributions (AVCs), which the Trustees hald as assets to secure additional berefits on a defined contribution basis for those members
wha elect to make such AVCs. At 31 December 2021, such assets were £332 million (2020: £396 million) with a correspending amount recorded in the scheme liabilities.
5The net deferred tax asset recognised an the net employee benefit assets was £53 million at 31 December 2021 (2020: £266 miltion on net emplayee benefit obligaticns).

i Amounts recognised in the Income statement

Pension costs charged to operating loss before exceptional items:

£ million 2021 2020
Defined benefit plans:
Current service cost 3 3
Past service cost! : - 6
Administrative expenseas? : 26 22
i 29 37
Defined contribution plans 16 125
Pension costs recorded a5 employee costs . 145 167

'In 2020 there was 2 past service charge of E6m due to GMP equafisation, £1m related to APS and ESm to NAPS. )
IThe 2020 results have been restated for treatmant of administrative costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further information is given in
note 2.

Pension costs (charged)/credited as finance costs: .
£ million 2021 2020

interest income on scheme assets (373) (530)
Interest expense on scheme liabilities 367 507
Interest expense on assets ceiling ' 3 12
Net financing charge/{credit) relating to pensions 2 .

The 2020 results have beer restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further infarmation is given
in note 2.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

27 Employee benefits continued
b Employee benefit schemes recognised in the financial statements continued

i Amounts recognised in the Statement of other comprehensive income

£ million 201 20200
Return on plan assets excluding interest income : 2,153 2053
Remeasurement of plan liabilities frem changes in financial assumptions (40) {3289
Remeasurement of experience (losses)/gains {369) J80
Remeasurernent of the APS and NAFPS asset ceilings (361) 278
Exchange differences - &
Pension remeasurements charged to Other comprehensive income 1,383 {572)
Deferred tax arising an pension remeasurement (186) 30
Pensicn remeasurements charged to Other comprehensive income, net of tax : 1,197 (522)

The 2020 results have been restated for the treatment af administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemas. Further informaticn is given
innote 2

[ Fair value of scheme assets
i Investment strategies

For both APS and NAPS, the Trustee has ultimate respensibility for decision making on investment maxters, including the asset-liability matching
strategy. The latter is a form of investing designed ta match the movement in pension plan assets with the movement in projected benefit obligations
aover time, The Investment Committee adopts an annual business plan which sets out investment objectives and work required to achieve these
objectives, The Investment Cammittee also deals with the monitoring of performance and activities, including work on developing the strategic
benchmark to improve the risk return profile of the scheme where possible, as well a5 having a trigger-based dynamic governance process to be
able to take advantage of opportunities as they arise. The Investment Committee reviews the existing investment restrictions, performance
benchmarks and targets, as well as continuing to develop the de-risking and liability hedging portfalic.

Both schemes use derivative instruments for investment purposes and to manage exposures to financial risks, such as interest rate, foreign exchange and
liquidity risks arising in the normal caurse of business. Exposure to interest-rate risk is managed through the use of inflation-Linked Swap contracts. Foreign
exchange forward contracts are entered into to mitigate the risk of currency fluctuations. Longevity risk is managed through the use of buy-in insurance
COontracts, asset swaps and longevity swaps .

The strategic benchmark for asset allocations differentiate between ‘'return seeking assets’ and 'liabifity matching assets’ depending on the matwrity
of each scheme. At 31 Decemnber 2021 the benchmark for NAPS was 36.6 per cent (2020: 42.3 per cent) in return seeking assets and 63.4 per cent
(202C: 57.7 per cent) in liability matching investments. Bandwidths are set around these strategic benchmarks that allow for tactical asset allocation
decisions, providing parameters for the investment Committee and their investment managers to work within. APS no longer has a "strategic
benchmark” as instead, APS now runs off its liquidation pertfolio to a liability matching portfolio of bonds and cash, The actual asset allocation for
APS at 31 December 2021 was 1.1 per cent (2020: 1.4 per cent) in return seeking assets and 98.9 per cent {2020: 98.5 per cent} in liability matching
investments.

ii Movement in scheme assets

A reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the fair value of scheme assets is set out below: -

£ million 202 2020
As at 1 January 28,317 26818
Administration expenses (18) (15}
Interest income 373 330
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 2,153 2053
Empioyer contributions' EL 283
Employee conrtributions 1t 12
Benefits paid {1,666) (L362)
Exchange differences - T &)
Fair value of scheme assets 29,205 28317

lIncludes employer contributions to APS of £1 milion {2020 €2 milvon) and to NAPS of Enil million (2020: £269 million), of which deficit funding payments represented
Ent million for APS (2020: £nil millign) and Enil miltion far NAPS (2020; £263 million),
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

27 Employee benefits continued

i

Composition of scheme assets

Scheme assets held by the Group at 31 December comprise:

201
£ million APS NAPS Other Total 20207
Return seeking investments
Listed equities - LK - 187 3 180 13332
Listed equities — Rest of world 10 3,588 176 3,774 - 4290
Private equities a3 1,363 - 1,356 © 964
Properlies 3 2,103 . 2 2,108 ro37
Alternative investments 45 1,554 37 1,636 799
' : a1 8,795 218 9,104 - 2019
Liabilities matching investments
Government issued fixed bonds 623 8,348 103 9,074 6,343
Government issued index linked bonds 1,114 6,110 9 7,233 5924
Assets and longevity swaps 3.816 - - 3,816 4017
Insurance contracts 1,581 - 23 1,604 . K508 -
7,134 14,458 135 21,727 17792
Other .
Cash and cash equivalents . 243 m 8 967 862
Derivatives financial instruments 7 (2,735) - (2,664) (207)
Cther investments (8) 62 17 ral 851
3N (1,962 25 (1.626) 1506
Total scheme assets 7,536 21,291 378 29,205 28317

The scheme assets at 31 December 2020 have been re-presented to conform with the 2021 presentation. Thers has been no change in the overall fair value of the

schema assets.

The fair values of the Group's scheme assets, which are not derived from quoted process on active markets, are determined depending on the nature
of the inputs used in determining the fair values (see note 23b for further details) and using the following methods and assumptions: ’

Private equities are valued at fair value based an the mast recent transaction price or third-party net asset, revenue or eamnings based
valuations that generally result in the use of significant unobservable inputs. .

Properties are valued based on an analysis of recent market transactions supported by market knowledge derived from third-party
professional valuers that generally result in the use of significant unobservable inputs.

Alternative investments fair values, which predominantly include holdings in investment and infrastructure funds are determined based on
the most recent available valuations applying the Net Asset Value methodology and issued by fund administrators or investment managers
and adjusted for any cash movements having occurred from the date of the valuation and the reporting date.

Otherinvestments predominant!y includes: interest receivable on bonds; dividends from listed and private equities that have been declared
but not recejved at the Balance sheet date; receivables from the sale of assets for which the proceeds have not been coliected at the
Balance sheat date, and; payables for the purchase of assets which have not been settled at the Balance sheet date. :

Asset and longevity swaps - APS has a contract with Rothesay Life, enterad into in 2010 and extended in 2013, which covers 25.02 per
cent (2020: 24 per cent) of the pensioner liatilities for an agreed list of members. Under the contract, to reduce the risk of long-term
longevity risk, Rothesay Life makes benefit payments monthly in respect of the agreed list of members in return for the contractoal return
receivable on a portfolio of assets (made up of quoted government debt, asset swaps and longevity swaps} held by the scheme. The Group
holds the portfolio of assets at their fair value, with the government debt held at their quoted market price and the swaps accounted for
at their estimated discounted future cash flows.

During 2011, APS entered into a longevity swap with Rothesay Life, which covers an additional 20.85 per cent (2020: 20 per cent) of the
pensioner liabilities for the same agreed list of members as the 2010 contract. Under the longevity swap, to reduce the risk of long-term
longevity risk, APS makes a fixed payment to Rothesay Life each month reflecting the prevailing mortality assumptions at the inception
of the contract, and Rothesay Life make a monthly payment to APS reflecting the actual monthly benefit payments to members, The cash
flows are settled net each month. If pensioners live longer than expected at inception of the longavity swap, Rothesay Life will make-
payments to the scheme to offset the additional cost of paying pens‘ror)ers and if pensioners do not live as long as expected, then the
scheme will make payments to Rothesay Life. The Group holds the longevity swap at fair value, determined at the estimated discounted
future cash flows, -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

27 Employee benefits continued

i Composition of scheme assets continued

= Insurance contract - During 2018 the Trustee of APS secured a buy-in contract with Legal & General. The buy-in contract covers all
members in receipt of pensions from APS at 31 March 2018, excluding dependent children, receiving a pension at that date and members
in receipt of equivalent pension only benefits, who were alive on 1 October 2018. Benefits coming into payment for retirements after 31
March 2018 are not covered. The contract covers benefits payabie from | October 2018 onwards. The policy covers approximately 60
per cent of all benefits APS expects to pay out in future. Along with existing contracts with Rothesay Life, APS is SO per cent protected
against afl fongevity risk and fully protected in relation to all pensions that were aiready being paid as at 31 March 2018. It is also more than
80 per cent protected against interest rates and inflation (on a Retail Price Index {'RPI'} basis).

iv Effect of the assat ceiling

In measuring the valuation of the net defined benefit asset for each scheme, the Group limits such measurement to the lower of the surplys in each
scheme and the respective asset ceiling. The asset ceiling represents the present value of the economic benefits available in the form of a refund
or a reduction in future contributions after they are paid into the plan. The Group has determined that the recoverability of such surpluses, including
minimum funding requirements, wiil be subject to withholding taxes in the UK, payable by the Trustee, of 35 per cent.

The future committed NAPS deficit contributions, as detailed in note 27 (i), are treated as minimum funding requirements under 1AS 19 and are not
recognised as part of the scheme assets or liabilities. The Group has determined that upon the wind up of the scheme, that if the scheme is in
surplus, including the incorporation of the minimum funding requirements, then the surplus will be available as a refund or a reduction in future
contributions after they are paid into the scheme. The recovery of such amounts are subject ta UK withhoiding tax payable by the Trustee. In
measuring the recoverability of the surplus for each scheme, the Group limits such measurement to the lower of the surplus in each scheme and the
respective asset ceiling, The asset ceiling represents the present vaiue of the ecanomic benefits available upon wind up of the scheme, less the
application of withhelding taxes in the UK, payable by the Trustee, at 35 per cent. ’

A reconciliation of the effect of the asset ceiling representing the IAS 19 irrecoverable surplus in APS and NAPS is set out below: .-
£ million 2021 2020

As at 1 January 69 T 957
Interest expense . 8 - 12
Remeasurements . 361 {278)
As at 31 December 1,060 691

The 2020 results have been restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group’s defined banefit pension schemes. Further infonmation is given
in note 2.

d Present vzlue of scheme liabilities
i Movement in scheme liabilities

A reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the present value of the defined benefit obligations is set out below:

£ million 2021 20207
As at 1 January 27,745 25678
Current service cost 3 3
Past service cost ' - )
Interest expense 367 507
Remeasurements — financial assumptions 40 " 3289
Remeasurement of experience kosses/(gains) 369 (380G
Benefits paid (1,666} [1362)
Empioyee contributions n 12
Exchange differences - - (8)
At 31 December . 26,869 27745

The 2020 results have been restated for tha treatment of administratian costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further infarmation is given
in note 2. ’ . ’
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

27 Employee benefits .continued

i Scheme liability assumptions

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2021 2020

- her ther

£ million APS NAPS schemes APS NAPS schames
Discount rate! 1.80 1.90 . 19-30 120 140 14-24
Rate of increase in pensionable pay? 3.55 N/A 2.50 295 N/A 250
Rate of increase of pensions in payment3 3.558 285 20-3.0 295 225 20-35
RP! rate inflation . 3.55 N/A 25-3.0 285 N/A 25-27
CPl rate of inflation N/A 2.85 25-30 MN/A 225 22-30

'The discount rate is determined by reference to the yield on high quality corporate bonds of currency and term consistent with the scheme habilities.

Rate of increase in pensionable pay is assumed 1o be in line with increases in RPL.

3t has been assumed that the rate of i increasa of pensions in payment wifl be in line with CP! for NAPS and RFPI for APS as at 31 December 0.

For US PRMB the rate of increase in healthcare costs is based on medical trend rates of 6.0 per cent grading dawn 1o 5.0 per cent over five years

(2020: 6.25 per cent to 5.0 per cent over five years).

In the UK, mortality ratas are calculated using the standard SAPS mortality tables produced by the CMI for APS and NAP3S. The standard mortality
tables were seiected based on the actual recent mortality experience of members and were adjusted to allow for future martality changes. Life
expectancy assumptions do not reflect any adjustments for the impact of COVID-19 due to the uncertainty of the long term effects. The curvent
weighted average longevities underlying the values of the scheme liabilities wera as follows; '

UK

Mortality Assumptions 2024 2020
Life expectancy at age 60 for g; -

- male currently aged 60 28.1 282

- male currently aged 40 299 299

- female currently aged 60 29.5 293

31.9 38

- female currently aged 40

For schemes in the United States, morntality rates were based on the MP-2021 mortality tables.

As at 31 December 2021, the waighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 12 years for APS (2020: 12 years) and 19 years for
NAPS (2020: 20 years). The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligations was 4 to 23 years for other schemes (2020: 6 to 24 years).
The weighted average duration represents a single figure for the average number of years over which the employee benefit liability discounted cash

flows is extinguished and is highly dependent to movements in the aforementioned discount rates.

i Sensitivity analysis

Reasonable possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuanial assumptions, holdmg other assumgptions constant, would have

affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown.

tncrease in present value of scheme liabilities

Other
£ million APS NAPS schemes
Discount rate (decrease of 10 basis points) 40 360 7
Future salary growth (increase of 10 basis points) N/A N/A 2
Future pension growth {increase of 10 basis points) 40 340 3
Future mortality rate (one year increase in life expectancy) 30 740 29

Although the analysis does not take into account the full distribution of cash flows expected under the pian, it does provide an approximation of

the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

28 Contingent liabilities and guarantees
a ‘Contingent fiabilities

Details of contingent fiabilities are set out below. The Group does not consider it probable that there will be an outflow of economic resources with
regard to these proceedings and accordingly no provision for these proceedings has been recognised.

Contingent liabilities associated with income and deferred taxes are presented note 8.

There are a number of other legal and regulatory proceedings against the Group in 2 number of jurisdictions which at 31 December 2021 amounted
to £19 million {2020: £15 million).

b Guarantees

The Group also has guarantees and indemnities entered into as part of the normal course of business, which at 31 December 2021 are not expected
to result in material losses for the Group.

Audit exemptions

The Company has issued guarantees in relation to statutery audit exemptions that certain subsidiary companies are taking. See note 32 in réspect
of audit exemptions.

29 Government grants and assistance
The Group has availed itself of government grants and assistance as follows:
a The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme {"CJRS") - recognised net within employee costs

The CJRS was implemented by the gavernment of the United Kingdom from 1 March 2020 to 31 August 2020, where those employees designated
as being ‘furloughed workers' were eligible ta have 80 per cent of their wage costs paid up to 2 maximum of £2,500 per month.

From 1 September 2020 to 30 September 2020, the level figibility reduced to 70 per cent of wage costs and up to a maximum of £2,197.50 per
month. From 1 Octaber 2020 to 31 Qctober 2020, the level of etigibility reduced to 60 per cent of wage costs and up to a maximum of £1,875 per
month. Failowing the intreduction of further lockdown restrictions in the United Kingdom in November 2020, the CJRS was extended from 1
November 2020 to 30 November 2020 and then further to 31 March 2021 and then further again to 3C September 2021 with the level of eligibility
increased to 80 per cent of wage costs and 2 maximum of £2,500 per month through to the end of june 2021, after which the eligibility decreased
down each month to 60 per cent of wage costs and a maximum of £1,875 per month by 30 September 2021, at which time the CJRS ended.

Such costs ara paid by the govemment to the Group in arrears. The Group is obliged to continue to pay the associated social security costs and
employer pension cantributions.

The total amount of the relieve receive& under the CJRS by the Group during 2021 amounted to £190 million {2020: £258 million).

b The UK Export Finance ('UKEF)

In February 2021, British Airways entered into a 5 year term loan Export Development Guarantee Facility of £2 billion underwritten by a syndicate
of banks, with 83 per cent of the principal guaranteed by UK Export Finance (UKEF). The facility is unsecured.

In November 2021, British Airways reached agreement with UKEF and a syndicate of banks for a 5-year Export Development Guarantee committed

Credit Facility {UKEF facility) of £1.0 billion. This is additional to a £2.0 billion UKEF guaranteed facility above. The facility is unsecured. At 31
Decembaer 2021 the facility remains undrawn.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (contmued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

30 Related party transactions

. The following transacticns took place with related parties for the financial year ended 31 December 2021

Group Company
£ miltion ‘ 201 2020 20 2020
Sales of goods and services: .
Sales to/purchases on behalf of 1AG "6 7 6 7
Sales to/purchases on behalf of subsidiary undertakings of the parent? 55 147 g5 147
Sales to/purchases on behaif of significant shareholders of tha parent? 13 10 13 10
Sales to associates4 143 138 143 138
Sales to subsidiaries® - - 128 108
Purchases of goods and services:
Purchases from IAG! 42 _ 27 42 27
Purchases from subsidiary undertakings of the parent? 197 233 . 197 233
Purchases from significant shareholders of the parent? 59 69 59 . .69
Purchases from associates? 114 80 13 79
Purchases from subsidiariess - - 78 ) 89
Periad end balances arising from sales and purchases of goods and services:

Group Company
£ million : 2021 2020 201 2020
Receivables from related parties: :
Arnounts owed by IAG! 101 108 101 108
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings of the parent? 47 &4 47 &4
Amounts owed by significant shareholders of the parent? 4 - 4 -
Amounts owed by associates* 60 12 60 19
Amounts owed by subsidiades® ’ - - 24 . 42
Payables to related parties:
Amounts owed to AG! 1,442 1483 1,442 1483
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings of the parent? 42 27 42 27
Amounts owed ta significant shareholders of the parant? 2 - 2 .-
Amounts owed to associates* 1,405 1082 1,404 1082
Amounts owed to subsidiariess - - 473 {30

The transactions betweer the Group and 1AG principally comprise mainly of a long-term loan, managemant fee in respect of services provided by IAG and recharges
between the entities in respect of invoices settled on behalf of the other party. Transactions with IAG are carried out on an arm’s length basis. The long-term loans owed
ta and from the Group bear market rates cf interest.

tAmounts owed by and to subsidiary undertakings of the parent related to other subsidiaries of the IAG Group.

*Amounts owed by and to significant shareholders of the parent related to Qatar Airways.

$Sates and purchases with associates are made at normal market prices and outstanding balances are unsecured and interest free. Cash setdement is expected WIlhIn

the standard settlement terms.
5Quistanding trading balances are placed on inter-company accounts with ne specified credit pericd. Long-term loans owed to and from the Company by subsidiary
undernakings bear marker rates of interest

In addition, payments made by the Company on behalf of the Group's retirement benefit plans amounted to £S5 million in refation to the Pensign
Protection Fund levy (2020; £6 million).

Neither the Group nor the Company have benefited from any guarantees for any related party receivables or payables. During the year ended 3i
December 2021 the Group has not made any allowance for expected credit losses relating to amounts owed by related parties (2020: £nil). The
Company has made an allowance for expacted c¢redit losses related 10 amounts owed by related parties of £44 million (2020: £44 million), . -

In November 2020, British Airways entered into a floating rate fixed term loan agreement with IAG, the ultimate parent undertaking, for £1,453
million (61,645 million), The loan is repayable in January 2024,

Directors' and Officers’ loans and transactions

There were no loans or credit transactions with Directors or Officers of the Company at 31 December 2021 or that arose during the year that need
to be disclosed in accordance with the requirements of sections 412 and 413 to the Companies Act 2006.
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Notes to the Financial Statements {(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

31 Post balance sheet events

No significant events have taken place post the balance sheet date.
32 Subsidiary audit exempticn

The foliowing companies are exempt from the requirements relating to the audit of individual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021 by
virtue of Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006;

BA and AA Haldings Limited (03840072}
BA Eurcpean Limited (06346489)
BA Excepted Group Life Scheme Limited {11283644)

‘BA Healthcare Trust Limited (09619950)

BA Holdco Limited {12278609)

BritAir Holdings Limited (03537574)

British Airways (BA) Limited (07990613)

British Airways 777 Leasing Limited {04954270)

British Airways Asscciated Companies Limited (00S90083)
British Airways Avionic Engineering Limited (02775232)
British Airways nterior Engineering Limited (03109109)
British Airways Leasing Limitad (04150220)

British Airways Maintenance Cardiff Limited (02204178)
8ritish Midland Airways Limited (00454648)

Gatwick Ground Services Limited (10390742)
Teleflight Limited (0331819Q)

33 LUitimate parent undertaking

The Company's immediate and ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party as at 31 December 2021 was Internaticnal Consolidated_ Airlines
Group SA (IAG), which is incorparated in Spain.

The Company is included within the consolidated financial stataments of IAG which are publicly available on the website wwwiiagshares.com.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2021

The holdings disclosed concern ordinary shares and are wholly owned unless ctherwise stated.

_ Country of
incorporation
and principal
Name of company operations Principal activities Repgistered address
BA and AA Hgldings Limited England Holding company  Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, LUB7 0GB
- BA Call Centre India Private Limited (CallBA")! India Call centre F-42, East of Kailash, New Delhi, 10065
BA CityFlyer Limited England Aidine Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
BA EuroFlyer Limited England Aidine Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 OGB
BA European Limited England _ Holding company ~ Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, U187 0GB
8A Excepted Group Life Scheme Limited England Life Insurance Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
BA Healthcare Trust Limited England Healthcare Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, LUB7 0GB
BA Holdco Limited England Hoiding Company  Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
BA Number One Limited England Holding company  Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB? 0GB
BA Number Two Limited' fersay Holding company  IFC 5, St Helier, Jersay, JET1ST .
Bealine pl¢ England Holding company *~ Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
BritAir Hoidings Limited England Holding company  Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways (BA) Limited! England Former aidine Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmendsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways 777 Leasing Limited England Aircraft Leasing Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways Associated Companies Limited England Holding company ~ Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 QGB
British Airways Avionic Engineering Limited England Engineering Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways Capital Limited Jersey Aircraft financing ~ Queensway House, Hiigrove Street, St Helier, JET 1ES
British Airways Holdings B\ Nethertands Holding company  Strawinskylaan 3105, Atrium 10772X Amsterdam
British Airways Holidays Limited England Tour cperator Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmoendsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways Interior Engineering Limited England Engineering Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways Leasing Limitéd England Aircraft Leasing Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 CGR
British Airways Maintenance Cardiff Limited England Engineering Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmendsworth, UB7 0GB
British Airways Pension Trustees (No 2) Limited England Trustee company  Waterside, FO Box 365, Harmondsworth, LIB7 0GB
British Airways Plc Employee Share Ownership Trust  Jersey Trust Qlueensway House, Hilgrove Street, St Helier, JE1 1ES
British Mediterranean Airways Lirmnited 2 ' England Former airline Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Midland Airways Limited! England Former airdine Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
British Midiand Limited England Holding company  Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
Flyline Tele Sales & Services GmbH Germany Call centre Hermann Koehl-Strasse 3, 28199 8remen
Gatwick Ground Services Limited England Ground Services Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
Overseas Air Travel Limited! England Transport Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmandsworth, LIB7 0G8
Speedbird Insurance Company Limited Berrmuda Insurance Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12
Teleflight Limited England Call centre Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB

'Not directly owned by British Airways Ple
299.0% holding
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Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

Far the year ended 31 December 2021

Associated undertakings at 31 December 2021

The holdings disciosed concern ordinary shares unless otherwise stated. .
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Country of
incorparation and
Percentage  principal
Name of company ownership operations Principal activities - Registered address
Avios Group (AGL) Limited 86.26 England Airling marketing Astral Towers, Betts Way, London
Road, Crawley, West Sussex, RH10
‘ SXY ’

Dunwoody Airline Services Limited 40.00 England Airine operations ag;‘:;?riis:; rzr;c::'e_lr:\i/rg F;Gf East,
18 Opeo Holding S.L 13.35 Spain Airline operations Calle Velazquez 130, 28006 Madrid
Lanzajet, inc. 16.70 LUSA Sustainable fuel 520 Lake Cock Road, Suite 630,

techneclogy

Deerfield, lliinois, 60015, USA

‘Not directly owned by British Airways Pic

Other equity investments at 31 December 2021

The holdings disclosed concemn ordinary shares uniess otherwise stated.

Country of
incorporation and
Percentage principal
Name of company ownership operations Principal activities  Repistered address :
Comair Limited' on South Africa Airline operations 1 Marignane Drive, Bonaaro Park, 1619
‘ . " . El Casero, Iberia Zona Industrial n* 2
;nﬁrnatsonal Consolidated Airlines Group 0.002 Spain Alrline sperations (La Mufigza), Camino de La Mufioza,
s/n, 28042 Madrid. :

The Airline Group Limited 16.68 England Adr traffic control Brettenham House South, Sth Floor,

Lancaster Place, London, WC2N 7EN

'Not directly awned by British Airways Plc
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Operating and financial statistics
Mot forming part of the audited financial statements .

Year ended 31 December

Total Group continuing operations 2021 2020 2015
Traffic and capacity
Revenue passenger kilometre {'km') {RPK) . m 30,700 3918 155,580
Available seat km ('ASK) m 52,635 63725 186,170
Passenger load factor % 58.3 6l4 836
Carge tonne km (CTK} m 2,981 2721 4.211
Passengers carriad ‘000 10,322 12282 47710
Tonnes of cargo carried ‘Q00 379 347 480
Operations
Average manpawer equivatent (MPE’) 26,890 23898 38230
ASKs per MPE 1,957 1880 4870
Aircraftin service at year end 76 277 305
Aircraft utilisation {average hours per aircraft per day) 5.90 437 losr
Punctuality — within 15 minutes % 77 85 76
Regularity % 92.0 820 984
Financial .
Passenger revenue par RPK p 7.54 740 755
Passenger revenue per ASK p 4.40 454 639
Cargo revenue per CTK P 36.80 3271 15.88
Average fuel price (US ¢ents/US gallon) 211.30 160,17 20765
Qperating margin % (47.9)% (97.6)% 898%
Operating margin before exceptional items % (51.4)% (38.7)% 14.2%
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) Em (916) {1274) 2998
Net debt/total capital ratio % 128.3 828 397
Total traffic revenue per ASK p 7.0 83 z1
Total expenditure before exceptional items cn operations per ASK p 10.63 897 6.12
Total expenditure before exceptional items on operations excluding fuel per ASK D B.84 815 438

ITre 2020 and 2019 results have baen restated for the treatment of administration costs associated with the Group's defined benefit pension schemes. Further

information is given in note 2.

m = millions
p = pence

QOperating statistics do not include those of asscciate undertakings and franchisees.

108

R



T F TR e GO I R st e e e Y B s SRR s e T it T

Fleet table . .

Number in service with Group companies at 31 December 2021

Changes
since
Tatal Total December
December  December 2020 (Note Future, -
: COwned  Right of use 202 c 2020 2)  deliveries Options
Airline Operations (Note 1)
Airbus A319 8 2 30 35 (5
Airbus A320 38 46 84 80 4 3 10
Airbus A32} 13 15 28 5 3
Airbus A350 ) 8 8 10 36
Airbus A380 2 10 12 2
Boeing 777-200 38 5 43 43
Boeing 777-300 4 12 16 16
Saeing 777-900 ) 18 24
Boeing 787-8 ) 12 12 12
Boging 787-9 1 7 18 18
Boeing 787-10 2 2 2 1C 6
Embraer E170 ' 7 0]
Embraer E190 9 14 23 22 1
Tatal Operations 123 153 276 277 {1 46 76

MNotes: .
1. Includes aircraft operated by British Airways Plc and BA CityFlyer Limited.
2 Four Airbus A320nea and two Embraer E190s entered service during the year, with one Ermbraer £190 permanently stood down.
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Glossary

Airline operations
Available seat kilometres ('ASK")
Awvailable tonne kilometres {{ATK}

Carpo revenue per CTK

Cargo tonne kilometres ('CTK’)

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations
EBITDA

l Exceptional items
Load factor
Manpower equivalent
Merger
Neé debt
Net debt/total capital ratio
nm
n/a
Cperating margin
Overall load factor
Passenger load factor
Passenger revenue per ASK
Passenger revenue per RPK

Punctuality

Ready-to-go

Regularity

Revenue passenger kilometres (‘RPK)

Revenue tanne kilometres ('RTK}
Total capital

Total group revenue per ASK

Total operating expenditure excluding fuel per ASK

Total gperating axpenditure per ASK

Total traffic revenue per ASK

This includes British Airways Pic and BA CityFiyer Limited.
The number of seats available for sale multipiied by the distance Acwn.

The number of tonnes of capécity available for the carriage of revenue load
(passenger and cargo) multiplied by the distance flown.

Cargo revenue divided by CTK

The number of revenue tonnes of cargo {freight and mail) carried multiplied by the
distance Rown.

The segments of the business that are considered to be normal, and expected 10
operate in the foreseeable future.

A discontinued operaticn is a component of the entity or Group that has been
disposed of or is classified as held for sale.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

Those items that in management's view need 1o be separately disclosed by virtue of’
their size or nature.

The percentage relationship of revenue load carried to capacity available.

Number of employees adjusted for part-time workers, overtime and contractors
The combining of two or more entities through a purchase acquisition.

Current and lgng-term interest bearing borrowings less other current interest-| bearrng.
deposits and cash and cash equivalents. -

Net debt as a ratic of total capital.

Not meaningful,

Not applicable.

Operating profit/{loss) as a percentage of tozal revenue.
RTK expressed as a percentage of ATK.

RPK expressed as a percentage of ASK

Passenger revenue divided by ASK

Passenger revenue divided by RPK

The industry's standard, measured as the percentage of flights departing within 15
minutes of schedule,

The percentage of flights that have the aircraft door being closed five minutes prior
to the advertised scheduled departure time. -

The percentage of flights completed to flights scheduled, excluding flights cancelled.
for commercial reasons. ’

The number of revenue passengers carried multiplied by the distance fown.
The revenue load in tonnes multiplied by the distance Alown.,

Tatal equity plus net debt. l

Total Group revenue divided by ASK

Total operating expenditure excluding fuel divided by ASK

Total operating expenditure divided by ASK.

Revenue from total traffic divided by ASK
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